
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
 

City of Port Orchard Council Meeting Agenda 
January 24, 2023 

 6:30 p.m. 
 

Pursuant to the Open Public Meetings Act, the City Council is conducting its public 
meeting in the Council Chambers at City Hall. Members of the public may view and 
provide public comment during the meeting in person at City Hall, via the online 
platform zoom (link below), or via telephone (number below). The public may also view 
the meeting live on the City’s YouTube channel. 
 

Remote access only 
Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/J/87086170361 

Zoom Webinar ID: 870 8617 0361 
Zoom Call-In: 1 253 215 8782 

 
Guiding Principles 

• Are we raising the bar? 
• Are we honoring the past, but not living in the past? 
• Are we building connections with outside partners? 
• Is the decision-making process positively impacting diversity, equity, and 

inclusion? 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

A. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
3. CITIZENS COMMENTS  
(Please limit your comments to 3 minutes for items listed on the Agenda and that are not for a 
Public Hearing. Please keep your comments respectful and no personal attacks. This is a 
comment period and not a question-and-answer session. When recognized by the Mayor, please 
state your name for the official record. If you are attending remotely via telephone, enter *9 
from your keypad to raise your hand.  
 
4. CONSENT AGENDA 
(Approval of Consent Agenda passes all routine items listed below, which have been distributed 
to each Councilmember for reading and study. Consent Agenda items are not considered 
separately unless a Councilmember so requests. In the event of such a request, the item is 
returned to Business Items.) 

A. Approval of Vouchers and Electronic Payments 
B. Approval of Payroll and Direct Deposits 
C. Adoption of a Resolution Approving the Purchase of Equipment for the 

Equipment Rental Revolving Fund 500 and City Street Fund (Lang) Page 4 
D. Adoption of a Resolution Accepting a Grant Agreement with the 

Washington State Transportation Improvement Board (TIB) for the 2022 
Overlay Award, Old Clifton Rd-SR16 to McCormick Woods Drive (Lang) 
Page 16 

E. Adoption of a Resolution Approving a Contract with Systems for Public 
Safety, Inc., for the Outfitting of Emergency Vehicles (M. Brown) Page 24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Mayor: 
Rob Putaansuu 
Administrative Official 
 

Councilmembers: 
Mark Trenary (Mayor Pro-Tempore) 
E/D & Tourism Committee, Chair   
Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee 
Transportation Committee 
KRCC-alt 

 
 

Shawn Cucciardi  
Finance Committee 
E/D & Tourism Committee 
Lodging Tax, Chair  

 

Fred Chang 
Economic Development & Tourism Committee 
Land Use Committee 
Transportation Committee 
 

Jay Rosapepe  
Finance Committee,  
Land Use Committee 
KRCC, PSRC-alt, PSRC Transpol-alt, KRCC Transpol-
alt, KRCC Planpol-alt,  
 

John Clauson 
Finance Committee, Chair 
Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee 
Kitsap Public Health District-alt 

 

Cindy Lucarelli  
Festival of Chimes & Lights Committee, Chair 
Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee, Chair 
Kitsap Economic Development Alliance 

 

Scott Diener 
Land Use Committee, Chair 
Transportation Committee 

 

Department Directors: 
Nicholas Bond, AICP  
Development Director 

 

Tony Lang 
Public Works Director 
 

Tim Drury 
Municipal Court Judge 
 

Noah Crocker, M.B.A.  
Finance Director 
 

Matt Brown 
Police Chief 

 

Brandy Wallace, MMC, CPRO  
City Clerk 

 
 

Meeting Location: 
Council Chambers, 3rd Floor 
216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA 98366 
 
 

Contact us: 
(360) 876-4407 
cityhall@portorchardwa.gov 
 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/J/87086170361


Please turn off cell phones during meeting and hold your questions for staff until the meeting has been adjourned. 
The Council may consider other ordinances and matters not listed on the Agenda, unless specific notification period is required. 

Meeting materials are available on the City’s website at: www.portorchardwa.gov or by contacting the City Clerk’s office at (360) 876-4407. 
January 24, 2023, Meeting Agenda    Page 2 of 3 

F. Approval of Amendments No. 2 to Contract Nos. 131-22 and 132-22 with Hillstrom Holdings for
Commercial Office Space of 600 Kitsap Street Units 101 and 201 (Archer) Page 42

G. Approval of the January 10, 2023, City Council Meeting Minutes Page 99

5. PRESENTATION
A. Low-income Utility Discount Program (Crocker)

6. PUBLIC HEARING

7. BUSINESS ITEMS
A. Adoption of a Resolution Approving a Contract with CONSOR North America, Inc. for Construction

Support and Management Services for the McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Project
(Lang) Page 104

B. Adoption of a Resolution Approving a Multifamily Property Tax Exemption Agreement for the
Blueberry Apartments (Bond) Page 130

C. Adoption of a Resolution Approving a Multifamily Property Tax Exemption Agreement for the
Salmonberry Apartments (Bond) Page 145

D. Adoption of a Resolution Approving a Multifamily Property Tax Exemption Agreement for the 2102
Sedgwick Apartments (Bond) Page 160

E. Adoption of a Resolution Authorizing the Payment of Additional Relocation Benefits to Ocean and
Arlene Williams (Prior Owners of Kitsap County Tax Parcel No. 4027-023-017-0004) for the Bay Street
Pedestrian Pathway Project (Lang) Page 190

8. DISCUSSION ITEMS (No Action to be Taken)
A. AWC Public Opinion Survey (Mayor) Page 199

9. REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES

10. REPORT OF MAYOR

11. REPORT OF DEPARTMENT HEADS

12. CITIZEN COMMENTS
(Please limit your comments to 3 minutes for any items not up for Public Hearing. When recognized by the Mayor, please state
your name for the official record. If you are attending remotely via telephone, enter *9 from your keypad to raise your hand.)

13. EXECUTIVE SESSION: Pursuant to RCW 42.30.110, the City Council may hold an executive session. The topic(s) and the
session duration will be announced prior to the executive session.

14. CITY COUNCIL GOOD OF THE ORDER

15. ADJOURNMENT

COMMITTEE MEETINGS Date & Time Location 

Economic Development and Tourism February 27, 2023: 9:30am Remote Access 

Utilities  February 14, 2023; 5:00pm Remote Access 

Finance TBD, 2023 Remote Access 

http://www.portorchardwa.gov/


     
Please turn off cell phones during meeting and hold your questions for staff until the meeting has been adjourned. 

The Council may consider other ordinances and matters not listed on the Agenda, unless specific notification period is required. 
Meeting materials are available on the City’s website at: www.portorchardwa.gov or by contacting the City Clerk’s office at (360) 876-4407. 

January 24, 2023, Meeting Agenda                                                                    Page 3 of 3 

Transportation January 24, 2023; 4:30pm Remote Access 

Festival of Chimes & Lights January 30, 2023; 3:30pm Remote Access 

Land Use  January 25, 2023; 4:30pm Remote Access 

Lodging Tax Advisory  February, 2023 Remote Access 

Sewer Advisory  March 22, 2023; 5:00pm Remote Access 

Council Retreat Friday, March 10, 2023; TBD 

Outside Agency Committees Varies Varies 

  

http://www.portorchardwa.gov/


City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4C Meeting Date: January 24, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Approving the  Prepared by: Tony Lang 

 Purchase of Equipment for the   Public Works Director 
 Equipment Rental Revolving Fund 500     Atty Routing No.: 366922-0009 – PW 
 and City Street Fund Atty Review Date: January 18, 2023 

 
Summary:  The Public Works Department has identified new equipment necessary for continued operations 
in 2023. In particular, staff identified the need to purchase: (1) a City dump truck (scheduled for replacement 
in 2023 from the Equipment Rental and Revolving Fund 500 (“ER&R”)); and (2) snow and ice 
equipment/attachments for the dump truck (budgeted from the City Street Fund 002). The 2023-2024 budget 
includes $112,000 for the purchase of the vehicle through the ER&R Fund, and $31,000 for snow/ice 
equipment from the City Street Fund 002.  
 
Consistent with the City’s Procurement Procedures Policies adopted by Resolution No. 036-22, as amended, 
staff determined that purchasing through a contract procured by the Washington State Department of 
Enterprise Services (“DES”) would provide the City with competitive pricing for these purchases. The City 
maintains an interlocal agreement with DES to permit the City to purchase goods that are procured by DES 
(“Contract No. C057-13”). For this purchase the City’s Public Works Department identified Bud Clary 
Ford/Hyundai as an approved vendor via DES Contract No. 05916 (“DES Contract”). Staff reviewed the 
procurement process utilized by DES for the DES Contract and confirmed the applicable procurement 
requirements were met and obtained all necessary documentation regarding procurement.  
 
On January 5, 2023, staff requested and received a quote of $132,912.49 (applicable tax included) from Bud 
Clary Ford/Hyundai, for (1) the 2023 Ford F550 Dump Truck and all operating add-ons that are not snow/ice 
related ($99,988.16); and (2) accessory snow and ice equipment ($32,924.33). Staff confirmed the quote was 
consistent with the DES Contract pricing. Staff also confirmed the dump truck and all operating add-ons 
meets the City’s fleet standardization policies, and at a cost of $99,988.16 is within the limits of the 2023-
2024 Biennial Budget. The snow/ice equipment package exceeds the $31,000 budgeted amount because the 
sander requires a stand for unloading and storage needs when the sander is not being utilized. The inclusion 
of this necessary component in the snow/ice equipment package bumps the total price to $32,924.33. Staff 
confirmed that all components of the snow/ice equipment package as quoted are consistent with the DES 
Contract pricing, but is $1,924.33 over the amount budgeted in the City Street Fund.   
 
Further, staff have identified additional expenses associated with the dump truck that are anticipated after 
delivery of the vehicle that are necessary to prepare the vehicle for service. These expenses include licensing, 
the purchase/installation of a CB radio, and City logo decals. These items are all  

Page 4 of 208



Consent Agenda 4C 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 

estimated to cost $2,186.00 (within the $112,000 ER&R budget authority for the dump truck 
purchase). However, these items are not included in the DES Contract and staff will follow the 
City’s Procurement Procedures Policies for these items. 
 
The City’s Procurement Policies require City Council authorization for purchasing budgeted items 
that cost $35,000 or more, and unbudgeted purchases are the purview of the Council. On January 
9, 2023, the City Public Works Department completed the Interlocal Agreement Purchase 
Checklist for Bud Clary Ford/Hyundai-DES and confirmed this purchase meets RCW 39.34.030 and 
the City’s Procurement Policies. 

 
 Recommendation:  Staff recommends approving Resolution No. 006-23, providing City Council 
 approval of the purchase of vehicles and equipment in accordance with the City’s procurement 
 policies, fleet standardization policies, and the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget. 
 
 Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  N/A 
 
 Motion for consideration: “I move to adopt Resolution No. 006-23, providing City Council 
 approval of the purchase of vehicles and equipment from Bud Clary Ford/Hyundai under DES 
 Contract No. 05916, and authorizing the Mayor to execute all necessary documents to 
 effectuate the purchase.” 
 
 Fiscal Impact:  Dump Truck (and non-ice/snow add-ons): $99,988.16, including sales tax and 
 miscellaneous expenses. Outfitting of the vehicle and miscellaneous expenses up to $112,000 
 are included in the 2023-2024 Budget (GL Code: 500.10.594.42.60).   
 
 Snow/Ice Equipment: $32,924.33 (GL Code: 002.05.594.42.60). $31,000 is included 

in the 2023-2024 Budget, a budget amendment may be required.   
 
Licensing/CB radio/logo and decals (not included in this approval but listed as a 
component cost of the dump truck for transparency): $2,186.00. Again, outfitting of 
the vehicle and miscellaneous expenses up to $112,000 are included in the 2023-
2024 Budget (GL Code: 500.10.594.42.60). 
 
Total Estimated Cost of dump truck and all related equipment/items: 
$135,098.49. 

 
Alternatives:      Do not approve and provide alternative guidance. 
 
Attachment:       Resolution No. 006-23 
      Exhibit A:  ER&R Purchase request including DES quote 
       ILA Checklist 

Page 5 of 208



Consent Agenda 4C 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 

estimated to cost $2,186.00 (within the $112,000 ER&R budget authority for the dump truck 
purchase). However, these items are not included in the DES Contract and staff will follow the 
City’s Procurement Procedures Policies for these items. 
 
The City’s Procurement Policies require City Council authorization for purchasing budgeted items 
that cost $35,000 or more, and unbudgeted purchases are the purview of the Council. On January 
9, 2023, the City Public Works Department completed the Interlocal Agreement Purchase 
Checklist for Bud Clary Ford/Hyundai-DES and confirmed this purchase meets RCW 39.34.030 and 
the City’s Procurement Policies. 

 
 Recommendation:  Staff recommends approving Resolution No. 006-23, providing City Council 
 approval of the purchase of vehicles and equipment in accordance with the City’s procurement 
 policies, fleet standardization policies, and the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget. 
 
 Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  N/A 
 
 Motion for consideration: “I move to adopt Resolution No. 006-23, providing City Council 
 approval of the purchase of vehicles and equipment from Bud Clary Ford/Hyundai under DES 
 Contract No. 05916, and authorizing the Mayor to execute all necessary documents to 
 effectuate the purchase.” 
 
 Fiscal Impact:  Dump Truck (and non-ice/snow add-ons): $99,988.16, including sales tax and 
 miscellaneous expenses. Outfitting of the vehicle and miscellaneous expenses up to $112,000 
 are included in the 2023-2024 Budget (GL Code: 500.10.594.42.60).   
 
 Snow/Ice Equipment: $32,924.33 (GL Code: 002.05.594.42.60). $31,000 is included 

in the 2023-2024 Budget, a budget amendment may be required.   
 
Licensing/CB radio/logo and decals (not included in this approval but listed as a 
component cost of the dump truck for transparency): $2,186.00. Again, outfitting of 
the vehicle and miscellaneous expenses up to $112,000 are included in the 2023-
2024 Budget (GL Code: 500.10.594.42.60). 
 
Total Estimated Cost of dump truck and all related equipment/items: 
$135,098.49. 

 
Alternatives:      Do not approve and provide alternative guidance. 
 
Attachment:       Resolution No. 006-23 
      Exhibit A:  ER&R Purchase request including DES quote 
       ILA Checklist 

Page 6 of 208



        
RESOLUTION NO. 006-23  

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, APPROVING 
THE PURCHASE OF A DUMP TRUCK AND ASSOCIATED EQUIPMENT FROM THE 
EQUIPMENT RENTAL REVOLVING FUND 500 AND SNOW AND ICE 
EQUIPMENT/ATTACHMENTS FROM THE CITY STREET FUND AND 
DOCUMENTING PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES.  
  
WHEREAS, a City Dump Truck is scheduled for replacement in 2023 as part of the 

Equipment Rental and Revolving Fund 500 (ER&R) replacement process; and     
 
WHEREAS, the City has an interlocal agreement with Washington State Department of 

Enterprise Services (DES) (City Contract No. C057-13) which allows the City to utilize the 
contracts procured by DES for services and purchases, so long as the City confirms the contract 
complies with all applicable statutory procurement requirements for the particular purchase or 
service, per RCW 39.34.030; and 

 
WHEREAS; consistent with City Contract No. C057-13 and the City’s Procurement 

Procedures Policies, adopted as Resolution No. 036-22, as amended, the City’s Public Works 
Department identified Bud Clary Ford/Hyundai as an approved vendor for the desired dump 
truck and associated equipment, awarded via Washington DES Contract No. 05916 (DES 
Contract); and 

 
WHEREAS, Staff reviewed the procurement process utilized by DES for the DES Contract, 

confirmed the procurement requirements were met, and obtained all necessary documentation 
from DES and the vendor regarding procurement; and  
 

WHEREAS, on January 5, 2023, Public Works staff requested and received a quote from 
Bud Clary Ford/Hyundai of $122,613.00 (plus applicable tax), for a total purchase price of 
$132,912.49; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on January 9, 2023, the City’s Public Works Department completed the 
Interlocal Agreement Purchase Checklist for the selected vendor and confirmed the quote was 
consistent with the DES Contract; and 

 
WHEREAS, the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget includes $112,00 in Equipment Rental and 

Revolving Fund 500 (ER&R) and $31,000 from the City Street Fund 002 for the purchases of the 
dump truck/associated equipment and snow/ice equipment, respectively; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City’s Procurement Policies require City Council authorization for 

purchasing budgeted items that cost $35,000 or more and for unbudgeted purchases; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Bud Clary Ford/Hyundai quote, attached as Exhibit A, is for the purchase 

of ER&R Equipment and Snow and Ice Equipment in an amount that exceeds the $35,000 
authorization limit; and 

 

Page 7 of 208



Resolution No. 006-23 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 

 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council, at the 2015 recommendation of the State 
Auditor's Office, wishes to document their selection/procurement process as described herein 
for this purchase by Resolution; now, therefore, 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS:   
 

THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth above 
 are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this Resolution. 
 
 THAT: The City Council approves the purchase from Bud Clary Ford/Hyundai of a Dump 
 Truck and associated equipment in the amount of $99,988.16 and snow and Ice 
 equipment in the amount of $32,924.33, in the total amount of $132,912.49 (applicable 
 tax included). The Mayor or his designee is authorized to take all actions necessary to 
 effectuate the purchase, consistent with this authorization. 
 

THAT:  The Resolution shall take full force and effect upon passage and signatures 
 hereon. 
 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and 
attested by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage on this 24th day of January 2023.   
 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Robert Putaansuu, Mayor  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________  
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
 

Page 8 of 208



B

ftftsrg ER&R

Replacement or Addition
Purchase Request

RCW 43.19.648 - Requires all local governments to convert their vehicle fleets to electricity or
biofuel. Local governments are required to transition all vehicles to elechicity or biofuels to the
extent practicable. WAC 194-29-030 provides further guidance regarding this issue. If it is not
practical for local governments to use electricity or biofuel for police, fire or emergency response
vehicles, including utility vehicles frequently used for emergency response, it is encouraged to
consider alternate fuels and vehicle technologies to displace gasoline and diesel fuel use.

Please attach the quote for vehicle / equipment.

Description of item:

F550XLT w/ 3yd dump body
Procurement method:

Department of Enterprise Systems (DES)
Department

Water Sewer Storm Street Public Works DCD police Admin
X

Addition or Replacement
Addition to Fleet - Please state business case for addition

Replacement Vehicle / Equipment being replacs6; 1031 - F551XL dump truckX

Fleet Standardization
Requested Vehicle / Equipment follows fleet standardization

X Requested Vehicle / Equipment DOES NOT follow Standardization. List items that are
not fleet standard and reason for addition.

This dump truck needs to be up-fitted for snow plow controls and wiring for
a sander for the dump bed.

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Page 9 of 208

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db
http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


Requested Vehicle / Equipment does not have a standard

Cost

$99,988.16 w/ tax Fleet standard cost
Additional cost for consideration and business case

CB Radio, licensing, city logo decals- $2,000.00

rorAl $102,174.16

S2,186

Model Chassis Drive Train Color Graphics Accessories

Ford Sedans Automatic Black City Decal Lights

SUV 2WD Vehicle Number Radios

4WD Antennas

AWD

STANDARDS FORVEHICLES

Police Standard Vehicle

Public Works and Standard Truck

Administration and Standard Vehicle

I have reviewed the vehicles / equipment listed above and request approval for purchase.

,& f z-"

AccessoriesDrive Train Color GraohicsModel Chassis Cab Size

LightsWhite City LogoFord 7/2Ton Regular Automatic

Truck Number Radios3l4fon Extended 2WD

AntennasCrew Cab 4WD1 Ton

Tool Boxes

AccessoriesColor GraphicsTvpe Chassis Drive Train

City Logo LightsSedans Automatic WhiteElectric

Radios2WD Vehicle NumberBiofuel SUV

Antennas4WD

AWD

Department Director Date

3

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Page 10 of 208

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db
http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


Approved for by:

aDa3
Date

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Page 11 of 208

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db
http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


Tony lang

From:
Sent:
lo:
Cc:

Subject:

NOREPLY@des.wa.gov

Thursday, January 5,2023 8:04 AM
Tony Lang

Gideon.Simu konda@des.wa.gov
Vehicle Quote - 2023-1-49 - PORT ORCHARD, CITY OF - 21802

Vehicle Quote Number: 2O23-l-49 Create Purchase Request View organization purchase requests

This is a quote only. You must create a purchase request to order this vehicle(s)

Gontract & Dealer Information

Organization Information

Organization: PORT ORCHARD, CITY OF - 21802

Email : tlang@portorchardwa.gov

Quote Notes:

Vehicle Location; PORT ORCHARD

Color Options & Qty

Oxford White (Zl) - I

Tax Exempt: N

Vehicle Options

Order Code Option Description
2023-0914-0001 2023 Ford F550 4WD Cab and Chassis

2023-09I4-00L1 Alternative Wheelbase, Regular Cab, 169W8, 84CA, 18,000# GVWR (F5H/169W8)

Qty Unit Price Ext. Price

1 $51,655.00$51,655.00

1 $166.00 $166.00

Contract #: 05916

Dealer: Bud Clary Ford/Hyundai (W403)

700 7th Avenue

PO Box 127

Longview WA 98632

Dealer Contact: Kathleen Brennan

Dealer Phone: (360) 423-432L Ext: 7183

Dealer Email: ford.orders@budclary.com

2023-09L4-0021 GVWR Maximum (19,500# GWR, 4.88 RAR with Limited Slip, High-Capacity Trailer Tow Package)
(Increases GCW from 31,000 Lbs to 40,000 Lbs) (Only available with Diesel EngineX6SM/X8V535)

1 $2,055.00 $2,055.00

2023-09L4-0022 Alternative Engine, 6.71 4-Valve OHV PowerStroke V8 Turbo Diesel 820 with manual push-button
Engine-Exhaust BrakingfforqShift 10-Speed automatic w/ Selectable Drive Modes and Transmission
Power Take-Off Provision (PTO) (Includes Operator Commanded Regeneration, 4.10 RA& Dual 750CCA
Batteries, 250-amp alternator, Intelligent Oil Life Monitor) (18,000# GWR) (99T/44c)

2023-0914-0024 360-Degree Dual Beacon LED Warning Strobes (Amber) (roof-mounted in front of the CHMSL)
(91S/seH)

1 $9,642.00 $9,642.00

1 $628.00 $628.00

2023-0914-0030 Tires: XVXLT (all cabs) 225l70Rx19.5G BSW Traction (aWD Only) (includes 4 traction tires on the rear 1

and 2 traction tires on the front) (Not recommended for over the road applications; could incur irregular
front tire wear and/or NVH) (If spare tire option is also ordered, spare tire will be matching traction
tire) CrGK)

$207.00 $207.00

I

2023-0914-0031 Spare tire with wheel (includes hydraulic jack) (512/61J) 1 $339.00 $339.00

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Page 12 of 208

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db
http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


2023-0914-0032 Front Wheel Well Liners (factory) (611) 1 $174.00 $174.00

2023-0914-0038 Snow Plow Prep Package (to be ordered wl 6.7L Diesel Engine) (Must also order either 332-Amp
Alternator #67A or 410-Amp Dual Alterantors #678) (Not compatible w/ other front suspension
packages #67H, 67X or 67P) (473)

1 $242.00 $242.00

2023-OgL4-0041 Cab Steps, Regular Cab (6in Angular Black Running BoardsXlSB) 1 $3o9.oo $309.00

2023-0914-0043 Engine Block Heater (41H) 1 $97.00 $97.00

2023-09t4-0044 Backup Alarm (76C) 1 $146.00 $146.00

2023-09t4-0046 NEW: XL Chrome Package (Includes chrome front bumper, bright grille, power sliding rear glass wl rear 1

window defrost on exVcrew cab, remote start, halogen fog lamps) (96V)
$218.00 $218.00

2023-09L4-0047 Rearview Camera and Prep Kit (includes loose camera and wiring bundle) (872) (Info: Upfitters offer
rearview camera installation option with body orders)

1 $400.00 $400.00

2023-0914-0048 Center High-Mounted Stop Lamp (CHMSLX59H)(No-charge) 1 $0,00 $0.00

2023-0914-0060 120V/400W Outlet (1) (includes one in-dash mounted outlet) (to be ordered wl aV2Val seating) (If
ordering V6.71 Diesel Engine, MUST also order either 332-Amp Dual Alternators #67 A or 410-Amp
Dual Alternators #678) (43C167A)

1 $170.00 $170.00

2023-0914-0066 NEW: 410-Amp Dual Alternator (250 amp plus 160 Amp) (diesel engines) (678) 1 $110.00 $110.00

2023-0914-0218 Floor Mab, HD Rubber Molded, Front (WeatherTech) (DLR) 1 $132.00 $132.00

2023-09L4-02L9 Floor Mats, HD Rubber Molded, Rear (WeatherTech) (DLR) 1 $111.00 $111.00

2023-09L4-0223 Service Manual, CD (DLR) 1 $221.00 $221.00

2023-09L4-0224 Service Wiring Diagram, Paper (DLR) 1 $10s.00 $10s.00

2023-0914-0333 Spotlight, LED 6 inch, Clear Lens, Pillar Mounted, Driver Side (Unity) 1 $721.00 $721.00

2023-0914-1053 Dump Body -llft with Folding Sidet quick drop tailgate, tapered 1/4 cabshield, double acting
electric/hydraulic hoist, and sin track on dash with universal phone holder, body is painted black (84C.A,

DRW) (ALL DB-11BFS) (ABW1053)

1 $19,212.00$19,212.00

2023-0914-1533 48in x 18in x 18in Aluminum Underbody Toolbox installed forward of the rear axle, PASSENGER side
(84C,A or longer) (requires platform, stakeside, or dump body) (ALL ATB-48) (A8W1533)

1 $1,169.00 $1,169.00

2023-0914-1561 Heavy Duty 2in Receiver Hitch with equal or greater than 20,000 GTWR includes/ 7-Way Flat RV Plug, I $1,122.00 $1,122.00
Class V (7-Way or 6-Way Round plug available in lieu of 7-Way Flat for no additional cost must speciff
at time of order) (Requires Body Order) (ALL-HDHITCH) (ABW1561)

2023-09L4-L577 Semi-automatic, spring-rewind tarp system with aluminum housing and premium mesh tarp (requires
platform, landscape, or dump body upfit (BUY 554275150) (A8W1577)

1 $1,140.00 $1,140.00

2023-0914-1580 Installation of factory provided rearview camera (Must order Ford's Rearview Camera and Prep Kit,
which is shipped loose from factory) (A8W1580)

1 $127.00 $127.00

2023-09L4-L624 Snow Plow Package, V Plow Package, with corrosion resistant dual 304 stainless steel moldboards with
1/2in cutting edges, tubular steel floating A-frame, dual-action angle sylinders, fully enclosed 2 HP
power/hydraulic unit and regenerative hydraulics with full size SAE standard cartridge valves and
oversize 3/8in rubber hoses, 70 degree attack angle and snow throwing flared wings, dual-beam
halogen plow lighb with secure double post mounts, 2 independent 6in trip edges, laser cut steel ribs,
a full length 2in cross tube, oversized hinge pin, ergonomic in-cab controller with single button control

1 $11,135.00$11,135.00

2

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Page 13 of 208

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db
http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


for all plow functions including v-scoop and angle. (8-1/2 Foot) (BI,JY VXF85) (Must also order Ford
Factory Snow Plow Prep Package #473) (ABWL624)

2023-09L4-I673 Buyers Saltdogg (10ft) 4.5 Cubic Yard Electric Stainless Hopper Spreader. Conveyor and spinner
powered by indpendent electric motors. Capable of spreading bulk salt or a 50/50 salt/sand mix. In cab
controls with independent variable speeds for conveyor and spinner. 14in poly spinner broadcasts up to
30ft. 12in chain conveyor drive. Chute is adjustable up to 11-1/2in. HIgh quality 304 stainless steel
construction. Stainless steel inverted V improves flow and reduces stress on the drive line. Top screen
and tie downs included. Made in the USA. (Requires service body, dump body or flatbed upfitXBUY
1400ss0ssE) (A8W1673)

1 $15,482.00$15,482.00

2023-0914-1683 Buyers Saltdogg mid-size spreader stand. Simplifies unloading and storage of your mid-size spreader
Adjustable legs to accommodate your bed height. Built in rollers make loading and unloading your
spreader simple and smooth. Built with sturdy 1/4in structural steel tubing for durability. (Requires
Buyers Saltdogg 9ft or 10ft Spreader) (BUY 3037294) (A8W1683)

1 $3,756.00 $3,756.00

2023-09t4-L771 Federal Signal surface mounted Micropulse Ultra amber LED warning lights installed 2 in the front and 1 91,622.00 $t,622.00
two in the rear (total of 4) (ALL IPX300PKG) (A8W1771)

Quote Totals

Total Vehicles: 1

Sub Total: $122,613.00

8.4 o/o Sales Tarc $10,299.49

Quote Total: $L32,912.49

t

3

Remove Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

Page 14 of 208

http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db
http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5239&m=db


CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
PURCHASES THROUGH INTERLOCAL AGREEMENTS 

 

City Contract No.: 057-13     
Interlocal Agreement with the Host Agency (government agency or Purchasing Co-Op name):  DES  
 

Item Description: _____Dump Truck and snow and ice equipment/attachments__    
               
               
 

Do you have an Interlocal agreement signed with the Contract (host) Agency? 
☒  If yes, where is it filed:  _City Clerk_______  
  If no, get a mutually signed Agreement in place before you continue. 

 

State OSP Contract No.#: 05916      
If you have an Office of State Procurement (OSP) contract number you may skip the remainder of this test 
because the OSP contracts comply with remaining requirements and retain the documentation on hand for 
SAO to review in the OSP offices. 
 

Is this a technology contract?     
  If yes, do your own rules allow for technology contracts to be negotiated? 
  If your own rules allow for negotiated IT contracts, you can skip this test. 

 

Is this a services contract?     
  If yes, do your own rules allow services to be negotiated? 
  If your own rules allow for negotiated services, you can skip the remainder of the test. 
 

Are you using this as only one of multiple quotes, for a small purchase?     
  If yes, you can skip the remainder of the test.  Your purchase will not mandate the sealed bid rules. 
 
 

Checklist for Required Compliance 
Is the Host agency a public agency1?  ☐  Yes ☐ No If Yes, what state laws apply to Host Agency:  

Does the host agency have a requirement 
to run a newspaper ad in their local paper 
and did they comply 

☐  Yes ☐ No Federal and State contract rules usually don’t 
require a newspaper ad.  For others, attach the 
ad or place into the file 

Did they list on the public agency’s 
website?  

☐  Yes ☐ No If Yes, state when and the address, and proof 
of date, address shall be attached or placed into 
the file. If No, you cannot use the bid. 

Did the bid & award comply with the 
Host agency’s state procurement laws? 

☐  Yes ☐ No If Yes, obtain documentation to support answer 
from Host Agency.  If No, you cannot use the 
bid. 

 

 
1 RCW 39.34.020 (1), “public agency” means any agency, political subdivision, or unit of local government of this state including, but 
not limited to, municipal corporations, quasi municipal corporations, special purpose districts, and local service districts; any agency 
of the state government; any agency of the United States; any Indian tribe recognized as such by the federal government; and any 
political subdivision of another state 

Page 15 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 

 
Agenda Staff Report 

 
   Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4D Meeting Date: January 24, 2023 

Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Accepting a Prepared by: Tony Lang 
 Grant Agreement with the Washington  Public Works Director 
 State Transportation Improvement Board    Atty Routing No: 366922-0009 – PW 
 (TIB) for the 2022 Overlay Award, Old Atty Review Date: January 18, 2023 
 Clifton Rd-SR16 to McCormick Woods   
 Drive   

Summary:  The City of Port Orchard’s Public Works Department applied for 2022 Overlay Program 
funding through the Washington State Transportation Improvement Board (TIB) Arterial Preservation 
Program.  On December 2, 2022, the City’s Public Works Department was notified by the TIB that the 
City’s Old Clifton Rd - SR 16 to McCormick Woods Drive Project (the “Project”) was selected to receive up 
to $367,624 in State funding (75% of approved eligible project costs), with a local match of $122,541. By 
this action, the Council would authorize the acceptance of the grant funding and approve an agreement 
with TIB for 2022 Overlay Program funding for the Project. 

Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  Chapter 8 – Transportation 

Recommendation: Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 005-23 accepting the 
2022 Overlay Program Funding and authorizing the Mayor to execute Contract No. 014-23 (TIB 
Agreement 3-W-153(001)-1) with the Washington State Transportation Improvement Board and any 
other associated documentation necessary to effectuate the award for the Old Clifton Rd - SR 16 to 
McCormick Woods Drive Project. 

Motion for Consideration: I move that the City Council adopt Resolution 005-23, accepting the 2022 
Overlay Program Funding and authorizing the Mayor to execute a contract with the Washington State 
Transportation Improvement Board for the Old Clifton Rd - SR 16 to McCormick Woods Drive Project. 

Fiscal Impact:   Local match will come from the City Street Fund 002. 

Alternative: Do not accept Grant and provide alternative direction. 

Attachment: Resolution No. 005-23, Exhibit A – Agreement No. 3-W-153(001)-1/ (C014-23), TIB 
Award Letter. 

 

Page 16 of 208



 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 005-23 
           

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, ACCEPTING 
THE WASHINGTON STATE TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT BOARD FUEL TAX 
GRANT AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE CONTRACT C014-23 FOR 
THE 2022 OVERLAY OF OLD CLIFTON ROAD - SR16 TO MCCORMICK WOODS 
DRIVE PROJECT.  

WHEREAS, on December 2, 2022, City of Port Orchard’s Overlay Project was awarded a 
grant from Washington State Transportation Improvement Board (TIB) for the 2022 Overlay of 
Old Clifton Road - SR16 to McCormick Woods Drive Project; and     

WHEREAS, TIB provided the City with a grant agreement for the award; and 

WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council has determined it to be in the best interest of 
the City to accept the grant award and enter into the agreement with the TIB; now, therefore,  

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS: 

THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth above 
 are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this Resolution. 

THAT:  The City Council accepts the TIB 2022 Overlay Program Grant Funding, and 
 approves and authorizes the Mayor to execute Contract No. 014-23 (TIB Agreement 3-
 W-153(001)-1) with the State of Washington Transportation Improvement Board and 
 any other associated documentation necessary to effectuate the award for the Overlay 
 of Old Clifton Rd - SR 16 to McCormick Woods Drive Project. 

THAT:  The Resolution shall take full force and effect upon passage and signatures 
 hereon. 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and 
attested by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage this 24th day of January 2023. 

 
              

Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 

ATTEST:       
 
        
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk                             
 
 

Page 17 of 208



 
 
 

 

Washington State 
Transportation Improvement Board 

TIB Members 
 

Chair 
Mayor Glenn Johnson 

City of Pullman 
 

Vice Chair 
Councilmember Sam Low 

Snohomish County 
 

Amy Asher 
Mason Transit Authority 

 
Aaron Butters, PE 

HW Lochner Inc. 
 

Susan Carter 
Hopelink 

 
Kent Cash, PE 

Port of Vancouver  
 

Barbara Chamberlain 
WSDOT 

 
Elizabeth Chamberlain 

City of Walla Walla 
 

Dongho Chang, PE 
WSDOT 

 
Scott Chesney 

Spokane County 
 

Vicky Clarke 
Cascade Bicycle Club/Washington Bikes 

 
Mike Dahlem, PE 

City of Sumner 
 

Commissioner Al French 
Spokane County 

 
Councilmember Hilda Guzmán 

City of Granger 
 

Commissioner Scott Hutsell 
Lincoln County 

 
Les Reardanz 

Whatcom Transportation Authority 
 

Peter Rogalsky, PE 
City of Richland 

 
Mayor Kim Roscoe 

City of Fife 
 

Maria Thomas 
Office of Financial Management 

 
Jennifer Walker 

Thurston County 
 

Jane Wall 
County Road Administration Board 

 
 
 

Ashley Probart 
Executive Director 

 
P.O. Box 40901 

Olympia, WA  98504-0901 
Phone: 360-586-1140 

Fax: 360-586-1165 
www.tib.wa.gov 

 
 

 
 
 

Investing in your local community 

December 02, 2022 

Mr. Chris Hammer, P.E. 
City Engineer 
City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA  98366-5304 

Dear Mr. Hammer: 

Congratulations!  We are pleased to announce the selection of your project, 2022 
Overlay Award, SR 16 to McCormick Woods Dr, TIB project number 3-W-153(001)-1.  
TIB is awarding 75.0001% of approved eligible project costs with a maximum grant of 
$367,624.  
Before any work is permitted on this project, you must complete the following:  

• Verify the information on the attached Project Funding Status Form and, revise 
if necessary.  Print, sign and email a scanned copy;   

• Sign, scan and email one copy of the Fuel Tax Grant Distribution Agreement; 
and 

• Return the above items to TIB; 
 

You may only incur reimbursable expenses after you receive approval from TIB. 
In accordance with RCW 47.26.084, you must certify full funding by December 2, 2023 
or the grant may be terminated.  Grants may also be rescinded due to unreasonable 
project delay as described in WAC 479-05-211. 
If you have questions, please contact Chris Langhoff, TIB Project Engineer, at 
ChrisL@TIB.wa.gov. 
Sincerely,  

Ashley Probart 
Executive Director 

Enclosures 

Page 18 of 208



Washington State Transportation Improvement Board 3-W-153(001)-1
Fuel Tax Grant Agreement 

Fuel Tax Agreement Page 1 of 5 November 2012 

City of Port Orchard 
3-W-153(001)-1
2022 Overlay Award 
SR 16 to McCormick Woods Dr 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT BOARD 

AND 
City of Port Orchard 

AGREEMENT 

THIS GRANT AGREEMENT (hereinafter “Agreement”) for the 2022 Overlay Award, SR 16 to 
McCormick Woods Dr (hereinafter “Project”) is entered into by the WASHINGTON STATE 
TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT BOARD (hereinafter “TIB”) and City of Port Orchard, a 
political subdivision of the State of Washington (hereinafter “RECIPIENT”). 

1.0 PURPOSE 

For the project specified above, TIB shall pay 75.0001 percent of approved eligible project costs 
up to the amount of $367,624, pursuant to terms contained in the RECIPIENT’S Grant 
Application, supporting documentation, chapter 47.26 RCW, title 479 WAC, and the terms and 
conditions listed below.   

2.0  SCOPE AND BUDGET 

The Project Scope and Budget are initially described in RECIPIENT’s Grant Application and 
incorporated by reference into this Agreement. Scope and Budget will be further developed and 
refined, but not substantially altered during the Design, Bid Authorization and Construction 
Phases.  Any material alterations to the original Project Scope or Budget as initially described in 
the Grant Application must be authorized by TIB in advance by written amendment. 

3.0  PROJECT DOCUMENTATION 

TIB requires RECIPIENT to make reasonable progress and submit timely Project 
documentation as applicable throughout the Project.  Upon RECIPIENT’s submission of each 
Project document to TIB, the terms contained in the document will be incorporated by reference 
into the Agreement.  Required documents include, but are not limited to the following:   

a) Project Funding Status Form
b) Bid Authorization Form with plans and engineers estimate
c) Award Updated Cost Estimate
d) Bid Tabulations
e) Contract Completion Updated Cost Estimate with final summary of quantities
f) Project Accounting History

4.0 BILLING AND PAYMENT 

The local agency shall submit progress billings as project costs are incurred to enable TIB to 
maintain accurate budgeting and fund management.  Payment requests may be submitted as 

C014-23

Page 19 of 208



Washington State Transportation Improvement Board  3-W-153(001)-1 
Fuel Tax Grant Agreement  

Fuel Tax Agreement  Page 2 of 5 November 2012 
  

often as the RECIPIENT deems necessary, but shall be submitted at least quarterly if billable 
amounts are greater than $50,000.  If progress billings are not submitted, large payments may 
be delayed or scheduled in a payment plan. 
 
5.0  TERM OF AGREEMENT 
 
This Agreement shall be effective upon execution by TIB and shall continue through closeout of 
the grant or until terminated as provided herein, but shall not exceed 10 years unless amended 
by the Parties. 
 
6.0  AMENDMENTS 
 
This Agreement may be amended by mutual agreement of the Parties.  Such amendments shall 
not be binding unless they are in writing and signed by persons authorized to bind each of the 
Parties. 
 
7.0  ASSIGNMENT 
 
The RECIPIENT shall not assign or transfer its rights, benefits, or obligations under this 
Agreement without the prior written consent of TIB.  The RECIPIENT is deemed to consent to 
assignment of this Agreement by TIB to a successor entity.  Such consent shall not constitute a 
waiver of the RECIPIENT’s other rights under this Agreement. 
 
8.0  GOVERNANCE & VENUE 
 
This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the state of 
Washington and venue of any action brought hereunder shall be in the Superior Court for 
Thurston County. 
 
9.0 DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 
 

9.1 NON-COMPLIANCE 
a) In the event TIB determines, in its sole discretion, the RECIPIENT has failed to 
comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, TIB shall notify the RECIPIENT, 
in writing, of the non-compliance. 
   
b) In response to the notice, RECIPIENT shall provide a written response within 10 
business days of receipt of TIB’s notice of non-compliance, which should include either a 
detailed plan to correct the non-compliance, a request to amend the Project, or a denial 
accompanied by supporting details.   
 
c) TIB will provide 30 days for RECIPIENT to make reasonable progress toward 
compliance pursuant to its plan to correct or implement its amendment to the Project.   
 
d) Should RECIPIENT dispute non-compliance, TIB will  investigate the dispute and 
may withhold further payments or prohibit the RECIPIENT from incurring additional 
reimbursable costs during the investigation.  
 
9.2  DEFAULT 

 
RECIPIENT may be considered in default if TIB determines, in its sole discretion, that: 
 

Page 20 of 208



Washington State Transportation Improvement Board  3-W-153(001)-1 
Fuel Tax Grant Agreement  

Fuel Tax Agreement  Page 3 of 5 November 2012 
  

a) RECIPIENT is not making reasonable progress toward correction and 
 compliance.  
b) TIB denies the RECIPIENT’s request to amend the Project.  
c) After investigation TIB confirms RECIPIENT’S non-compliance. 
 
TIB reserves the right to order RECIPIENT to immediately stop work on the Project and 
TIB may stop Project payments until the requested corrections have been made or the 
Agreement has been terminated.   

 
9.3 TERMINATION  

 
a) In the event of default by the RECIPIENT as determined pursuant to Section 9.2, 
TIB shall serve RECIPIENT with a written notice of termination of this Agreement, which 
shall be served in person, by email or by certified letter.  Upon service of notice of 
termination, the RECIPIENT shall immediately stop work and/or take such action as may 
be directed by TIB. 
 
b) In the event of default and/or termination by either PARTY, the RECIPIENT may 
be liable for damages as authorized by law including, but not limited to, repayment of 
grant funds. 
 
c) The rights and remedies of TIB provided in the AGREEMENT are not exclusive 
and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law. 
 
9.4 TERMINATION FOR NECESSITY  
 
TIB may, with ten (10) days written notice, terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part, 
because funds are no longer available for the purpose of meeting TIB’s obligations.  If 
this Agreement is so terminated, TIB shall be liable only for payment required under this 
Agreement for performance rendered or costs incurred prior to the effective date of 
termination. 

 
10.0  USE OF TIB GRANT FUNDS 
 
TIB grant funds come from Motor Vehicle Fuel Tax revenue.  Any use of these funds for 
anything other than highway or roadway system improvements is prohibited and shall subject 
the RECIPIENT to the terms, conditions and remedies set forth in Section 9.  If Right of Way is 
purchased using TIB funds, and some or all of the Right of Way is subsequently sold, proceeds 
from the sale must be deposited into the RECIPIENT’s motor vehicle fund and used for a motor 
vehicle purpose. 
 
11.0  INCREASE OR DECREASE IN TIB GRANT FUNDS 
 
At Bid Award and Contract Completion, RECIPIENT may request an increase in the maximum 
payable TIB funds for the specific project.  Requests must be made in writing and will be 
considered by TIB and awarded at the sole discretion of TIB.  All increase requests must be 
made pursuant to WAC 479-05-202 and/or WAC 479-01-060. If an increase is denied, the 
recipient shall be liable for all costs incurred in excess of the maximum amount payable by TIB. 
In the event that final costs related to the specific project are less than the initial grant award, 
TIB funds will be decreased and/or refunded to TIB in a manner that maintains the intended 
ratio between TIB funds and total project costs, as described in Section 1.0 of this Agreement.  
 

Page 21 of 208



Washington State Transportation Improvement Board  3-W-153(001)-1 
Fuel Tax Grant Agreement  

Fuel Tax Agreement  Page 4 of 5 November 2012 
  

 
12.0  INDEPENDENT CAPACITY    
 
The RECIPIENT shall be deemed an independent contractor for all purposes and the 
employees of the RECIPIENT or any of its contractors, subcontractors, and employees thereof 
shall not in any manner be deemed employees of TIB. 
 
13.0  INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS 
 
The PARTIES agree to the following: 
 
Each of the PARTIES, shall protect, defend, indemnify, and save harmless the other PARTY, its 
officers, officials, employees, and agents, while acting within the scope of their employment as 
such, from any and all costs, claims, judgment, and/or awards of damages, arising out of, or in 
any way resulting from, that PARTY’s own negligent acts or omissions which may arise in 
connection with its performance under this Agreement.  No PARTY will be required to 
indemnify, defend, or save harmless the other PARTY if the claim, suit, or action for injuries, 
death, or damages is caused by the sole negligence of the other PARTY.  Where such claims, 
suits, or actions result from the concurrent negligence of the PARTIES, the indemnity provisions 
provided herein shall be valid and enforceable only to the extent of a PARTY’s own negligence.  
Each of the PARTIES agrees that its obligations under this subparagraph extend to any claim, 
demand and/or cause of action brought by, or on behalf of, any of its employees or agents.  For 
this purpose, each of the PARTIES, by mutual negotiation, hereby waives, with respect to the 
other PARTY only, any immunity that would otherwise be available to it against such claims 
under the Industrial Insurance provision of Title 51 RCW.  In any action to enforce the provisions 
of the Section, the prevailing PARTY shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorney’s fees 
and costs incurred from the other PARTY. The obligations of this Section shall survive 
termination of this Agreement. 
 
14.0  DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 

a)  The PARTIES shall make good faith efforts to quickly and collaboratively resolve any 
dispute arising under or in connection with this AGREEMENT. The dispute resolution 
process outlined in this Section applies to disputes arising under or in connection with 
the terms of this AGREEMENT. 
   

b)  Informal Resolution.  The PARTIES shall use their best efforts to resolve disputes 
promptly and at the lowest organizational level. 
 

c)  In the event that the PARTIES are unable to resolve the dispute, the PARTIES shall 
submit the matter to non-binding mediation facilitated by a mutually agreed upon 
mediator. The PARTIES shall share equally in the cost of the mediator. 
 

d)  Each PARTY agrees to compromise to the fullest extent possible in resolving the dispute 
in order to avoid delays or additional incurred cost to the Project. 
 

e)  The PARTIES agree that they shall have no right to seek relief in a court of law until and 
unless the Dispute Resolution process has been exhausted. 

 
 
 
 

Page 22 of 208



Washington State Transportation Improvement Board  3-W-153(001)-1 
Fuel Tax Grant Agreement  

Fuel Tax Agreement  Page 5 of 5 November 2012 
  

 
15.0  ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
 
This Agreement, together with the RECIPIENT’S Grant Application, the provisions of chapter 
47.26 Revised Code of Washington, the provisions of title 479 Washington Administrative Code, 
and TIB Policies, constitutes the entire agreement between the PARTIES and supersedes all 
previous written or oral agreements between the PARTIES. 
 
16.0  RECORDS MAINTENANCE 
 
The RECIPIENT shall maintain books, records, documents, data and other evidence relating to 
this Agreement and performance of the services described herein, including but not limited to 
accounting procedures and practices which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect 
costs of any nature expended in the performance of this Agreement.  RECIPIENT shall retain 
such records for a period of six years following the date of final payment.  At no additional cost, 
these records, including materials generated under the Agreement shall be subject at all 
reasonable times to inspection, review or audit by TIB personnel duly authorized by TIB, the 
Office of the State Auditor, and federal and state officials so authorized by law, regulation or 
agreement. 
 
If any litigation, claim or audit is started before the expiration of the six (6) year period, the 
records shall be retained until all litigation, claims, or audit findings involving the records have 
been resolved. 
 
 
Approved as to Form 
Attorney General 
 
By:   
 

Signature on file 

Guy Bowman 
Assistant Attorney General 
 
 
 
Lead Agency  Transportation Improvement Board  
   

Chief Executive Officer Date  Executive Director Date 
  

 
Print Name  Print Name 

Page 23 of 208



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4E Meeting Date: January 24, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Approving a  Prepared by: Matt Brown 

 Contract with Systems for Public Safety,  Chief of Police 
 Inc., for the Outfitting of Emergency     Atty Routing No.: 366922-0012 – PD 
 Vehicles Atty Review Date: January 19, 2023 

 
Summary:  In 2022, the Police Department recognized the need to update and modernize the City’s fleet of emergency 
response vehicles. This modernization would include the outfitting of police vehicles with all necessary emergency 
equipment and lighting. 
 
Pursuant to the City’s Procurement policies, adopted by Resolution No. 036-22, the City’s Police Department prepared 
an Invitation to Bid (ITB) and solicited bids in the Kitsap Sun. On December 13, 2022, staff uploaded the bid documents 
to the City’s website. 
 
On December 30, 2022, by the 4:30pm bid deadline, the City Clerk received one (1) bid. After confirming there were no 
objections made and that there were no challenges to the Public Opening process, the bid was reviewed. The bid 
received prior to the December 30, 2022, 4:30pm deadline, was as follows: 
 

Name of Contractor Bid Total 
Systems for Public Safety, Inc. $169,972.65 

 
On January 3, 2023, staff reviewed the bid and confirmed the bidder and bid were compliant with the ITB and all 
applicable requirements including but not limited to all licensing and state L&I requirements. 

 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends that the City Council adopt a Resolution approving Contract No. 017-23 for the 
upfitting of police vehicles with all necessary emergency equipment and lighting in the amount of $169,972.65 
(applicable taxes included). 
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  N/A. 
 
Motion for consideration:  I move to adopt a Resolution authorizing the Mayor to execute Contract No. 017-23 with 
Systems for Public Safety, Inc., for the upfitting of police vehicles with all necessary emergency equipment and 
lighting in the amount of $169,972.65. 
 
Fiscal Impact:   Vehicle outfitting costs are budgeted in the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget. 
 
Alternatives:   Do not approve and offer additional guidance. 
 
Attachments:  Resolution 
   Contract No. 017-23 

Page 24 of 208



RESOLUTION NO. ___ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, APPROVING 
CONTRACT NO. 017-23 FOR THE OUTFITTING OF POLICE VEHICLES WITH ALL 
NECESSARY EMERGENCY EQUIPMENT AND LIGHTING. 
  
WHEREAS, the City identified the need to update and modernize the City’s fleet of 

emergency response vehicles (“Project”); and  
 
WHEREAS, in early December 2022, pursuant to the City’s Procurement Policies, 

adopted by Resolution No. 036-22, the City’s Police Department prepared an Invitation to Bid 
(“ITB”) for the Project; and  

 
WHEREAS, on December 13, 2022, staff solicited bids in the Kitsap Sun, and uploaded 

the bid documents to the City’s website; and 
 
WHEREAS, on December 30, 2022, by the 4:00pm bid deadline, the City Clerk received 

one (1) bid; and  
 
WHEREAS, after staff confirmed that there were no objections made and that there 

were no challenges to the public opening process, the one (1) bid from Systems for Public 
Safety, Inc. was reviewed; and 

 
WHEREAS, staff reviewed the bid in conjunction with all the ITB requirements as well as 

licensing and state L&I requirements and determined the bidder was responsible and 
responsive; and; 

 
WHEREAS, the Police Department reviewed all materials and confirmed that the bidding 

requirements for this Project have been followed; and 
 

 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council, at the 2015 recommendation of the State 
Auditor’s Office, wishes to document their selection/procurement process as described above 
for this particular contract by Resolution; Now, Therefore,  
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS:   
 

THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth above 
are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this Resolution. 

 
THAT:  The City Council authorizes the Mayor to execute Contract No. 017-23 with 
Systems for Public Safety, Inc., for the outfitting of police vehicles with all necessary 
emergency equipment and lighting.  
 

Page 25 of 208



Resolution No. ___ 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 

THAT:  The Resolution shall take full force and effect upon passage and signatures 
hereon. 

 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 

by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage this 24th day of January 2023. 
 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Robert Putaansuu, Mayor  
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________  
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
   

Page 26 of 208



Page 27 of 208



Page 28 of 208



Page 29 of 208



Page 30 of 208



Page 31 of 208



Page 32 of 208



Page 33 of 208



Page 34 of 208



Page 35 of 208



Page 36 of 208



Page 37 of 208



Page 38 of 208



Page 39 of 208



Page 40 of 208



Page 41 of 208



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 

 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Consent Agenda 4F Meeting Date: January 24, 2023 
Subject: Approval of Amendments No. 2 to Contract Prepared by: Charlotte Archer 

 Nos. 131-22 and 132-22 with Hillstrom  City Attorney 
 Holdings for Commercial Office Space of     Atty Routing No.: 366922-0004 – Exec 
 600 Kitsap Street Units 101 and 201 Atty Review Date: January 5, 2023 

 
Summary: The City of Port Orchard staff require additional office space and to accommodate that need, on 
December 20, 2022, the City Council authorized the Mayor to lease space in the Greenwood Building located 
on 600 Kitsap Street Port Orchard. The leases are for the 1st and 2nd floor office space and include some four 
off street parking spaces for each floor leased. The leases are structured to be for 36 months (with two, three-
year optional renewals) beginning January 1, 2023 at a monthly rate of $1,700 for Unit 201 and $1,900 for 
Unit 101 ($3,600 for the two spaces combined).  Due to a drafting error, the lease agreements do not reflect 
the negotiated 2% annual rent increase for the initial term (rather, the agreements call for a 2% annual rent 
increase for the renewal periods, if any are triggered by the City). These Amendments would add a 2% annual 
rent increase, beginning January 1, 2024, for the duration of the lease and any renewal periods. The 
estimated lease costs are included in the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget and expected to cost approximately 
$94,540 over the two years.  
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends approving the Mayor to sign the attached lease amendments.  
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: N/A 
 
Motion for consideration: “I move to authorize the Mayor to execute an amendment to the agreements with 
Hillstrom Holdings to lease commercial office space, as presented.” 
 
Fiscal Impact:  $94,540 included in the 2023-2024 Biennial Budget 
 
Alternatives: Do not approve and provide alternative guidance. 
 
Attachment: Amendments (Unit 101 and Unit 201) 

    Copies of Lease Agreements (Unit 101 and Unit 201) 

Page 42 of 208



Page 43 of 208



Page 44 of 208



Page 45 of 208



Page 46 of 208



Page 47 of 208



Page 48 of 208



Contract No. 131-22

FIRST AMENDMENT TO
COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST A]\{ENDMENT TO COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT ('Agreemenf) is
entered into and effective as of *L 2022 ('Etrective Date') by and between Hillsftorn
Holdings, LLC, a Washington limited liability company ("Landlord'), and the City of Port Orchard, a
Washington municipal cotporation ("Tenanf). Landlord and Tenant may be referred to herein
individually as a "&g['and collectively as the "E@".

RECITALS

A. Landlord and Tenant entered into the certain Commercial Lease Agreement, dated
12- 29'z ?- .2422 C'LglSg') for lease the Premises commonly known as Suite l[tl

("Premises') located at the property commonly known as the Greenwood Building, 600 Kitsap St. Pcrt
Orchard, WA 98366 and legally described in Exhibit A ('Prooef[).

B. The Lease, for a 36-month tenn to begin on January I,2023, contains boilerplate language
that does not match the intention of Landlord and Tenant with respect to tle terms and oonditions the Partics
desire to enter into with respect to the Lease, and is missing a legal description and acknowledgments.

C. Landlord and Tenant desire to ratiff and amend the Lease upon tle terms and conditions
set fortb herein.

AGRENMENT

NOW, TIDREFORE, incorporating the foregoing Recitals herein, and for good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Base Rent and Onerating Costs. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary ir
the Lease, Landlord and Tenant agree that Tenant shall not be responsible for any Operating Costa,
including, without limitation, real property tax assessments, Landlord's property insurance, storm watei
water, sanitary sewer, garbage disposal, janitorial services, restroom supplies, or maintenance, repairs c,r
replacements of all or any portion of the Property or the Common Areas; provided, Tenant shall pay for its
electricity costs for the Premises, which electricity costs are metered. Tenant shall pay for such electricity
costs

2. Landlord Entry. Landlord acknowledges that Tenant
purposes that may involve confidential information, including criminal investigations and confidential
information ofthe City of Port Orchard. Landlord agrees to exercise its rights to enter the Premises subject
to the right of Tenant to maintain security and confidentiality of infonnation and records contained in th.a

Premises, including the right to restrict access during sensitive meetings and the right to restrict access to
portions of the Premises containing confidential or sensitive information or records.

3. Revision to Section )ililV. The Parties agree to delete the following portion of Section
XXry of the Lease: "The Tenant also hereby covenants and agrees to indemnifr and hold harmless the
Landlord from any and all claims or liabilities which may arise from any latent defects in the subjec*
Premises that the Landlord is not aware of at the signing of the lease or at any time during the lease term.'

4. Parking. Landlord agrees to provide four (4) off-street parking spaces to Tenant on an
exclusive basis at no additional cost.

First Arnendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St Lease Page I ofl

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 49 of 208



5. Maintenance and Repairs. Landlord shall maintain at its sole cost in good repair and

replace, as needed, the Property, including, without limitation, the IIVAC systems (including regular filter
replacements and regular maintenance of thermostats, ductwork, and diffusers), mechanical systemr,
electrical systems, interior and exterior lighting systems, plumbing, flooring, windows, signs, elevators Qf
applicable), interior and exterior walls, all structural components of the building (including the roof,
foundation, and siding), restrooms, lobbies, stairways, sidewalks, parking lot (including snow removd,
cleaning, and restriping as required), wheel stops, storm water drainage, exterior paint, interior paint in the
Common Areas, landscaping and other components of the Property. Landlord shall further continuously
satisfr all governmental requirements generally applicable to similar ofEce buildings, including, without
limitation, compliance with fre codes, building codes, energy codes, indoor air quality, and Americals
with Disabilities Aot barrier-free restrooms and access.

6. WithhoJdins Rent Pavments. In the event Landlord fails to prompfly maintain, repair, or
improve the Premises or the Property as set forth herein, Tenant shall have the right to withhold 50% of the
Base Rent palments without late fees or default interest until such time as Landlord satisfies suctr

maintenance, repair, or improvement obligations.

7. Compliance with Law. Landlord shall be responsible for complying with the Americam
With Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 12101-12213) and the Washington State Law Againd
Discrimination, Chapter 49.60 RCW, as well as regulations adopted thereunder, with respect to the Property
and the Premises.

8. Prevailins Wase. Landlord agrees to pay the prevailing rate of wage to all workers,

laborers, or mechanics employed in the performance of any part of this Lease when required by state law,
and to comply with the provisions of Chapter 39.12 RCW, as amended, and the rules and regulations of tb
Department of Labor and Industries. The rules and regulations of the Department of Labor and Indushies
and the schedule of prevailing wage rates for the locality or localities where this Lease will be performeJ

as determined by the Industrial Statistician of the Department of Labor and Industries, are by reference

made a part of this Lease as though fully set forth herein.

9. Hazardous Substances. The term "@' as used in this Agreemert
shall mean pollutantsn contaminantsn toxic wastes, or any other substances, the removal of which is requirel
or the use of whioh is restricted, regulated, prohibited or penalized by any "E!$IgUgg1s!-@." Th-
term "Environmental Law" or "Environmental Laws" shall mean any federal, state or local law or ordinance

relating to pollution or protection of the environrnent or public health. Landlord represents and warrants to

Tenant that the Property does not contain asbestos or other Hazardous Substances ofany kind, except, ir
tfte case of Hazardous Substances only and not asbestos, commercially reasonable quantities fc
construction purposes and cleaning agents and other substances notmallyused inthe construction, operatiol
and maintenance of office buildings and not prohibited by applicable law, all of which shall be stored, used

and disposed of at Landlord's cost and without reimbursement from Tenant in accordance with all
applicable local; state and federal laws. Landlord agrees not to use, dispose, store or generate any asbestoe

or Hazardous Substances in violation of any applicable law, rule or regulation in the Property. In the evert
such laws, rules or regulations require Landlord to remove or otherwise remedy the existence of an7

asbestos or Hazardous Substances discovered on the Property, Landlord agr€es to promptly remove cr
remedy the violation. Landlord agrees to indemniff and hold Tenant harmless against any losses, damages,

costs, liabilities and claims suffered by Tenant in connection with a breach by Laudlord of its obligations
set forth in this Section 9, except for such losses, damages, costs, liabilities and claims caused by Tenant's
negligence or intentional misconduct.

10. ANTI-TERRORISM Ah[D MONEY LAT]NDERING REPRESENTATION AIID
INDEMNIFICATION. Iandlord certifies that: (i) neither it nor its managers, members or controlling

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St L,ease Page? of 1

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 50 of 208



owners are acting, directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of any person, group, entity, or nation named by
any Executive Order, the United States Department of Justice, or the United States Treasury Department as

a terrorist, "Specially Designated National or Blocked Person," or other banned or blocked person, entity,
nation, or transaction pursuant to any law, order, rule or regulation that is enforced or administered by the

Office of Foreign Assets Control ('SDNP'); (ii) neither it nor its managers, riembers, or controlling owners
are engaged in this transaction, directly or indirectly on behalf of or instigating or facilitating this
transaction, directly or indirectly on behalf of, any such person, Broup, entity or nation; and (iii) neither:t
nor its managers, members, or controlling own€rs are in violation of Presidential Executive Arder 1322a,
the USA Patriot Act, the Bank Secrecy Act, the Money Laundering Control Act or any regulatiom
promulgated pursuant thereto. Landlord hereby agrees to defend, indemnifu and hold harmless Tenant
from and against any and all claims, damages, losses, risks, liabilities and expenses (including reasonable
attomeys' fees and costs) arising from or related to any breach of the foregoing certification. Should
Landlord, during the term of this Leasen be designated an SDN, Tenant may, at its sole option, terminate
this Lease.

11. General Provisions.

11.1 Binding E:ffeat. This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit ot,
and be enforceable by each of the Parties and theirpermitted successors and assigns, and shall inure to th;
frrther benefit of, and be enforceable by, any Tenant or transferee permitted by the Lease.

ll.2 Governine Law, This Agreement shall be interpreted, governed, and construed

under the laws of the State of Washington.

11.3 Amendment. Any amendments or waivers to this Agreement must be in writing
and signed by each ofthe Parties.

ll.4 Disoute Costs. kr the event of any conflict, claim or dispute between the Parties

hereto and arising out of or relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, whether or not such conflict,
claim or dispute has its basis in law or in equtty, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to receive from the

non-prevailing Party(ies) all reasonable costs and expenses ofevery sort whatsoever including, but nct
limited to, arbitrators fees, mediation fees, deposition costs, expert witness fees, accounting expenses

relating thereto, and actual attorneys fees incurred or expended whether or not arbitration or court
proceedings are initiated, and including all such costs or expenses incurred or expended in arbitration, in
trial, on appeal or in any bankruptcy or receivership proceeding.

11.5 Broker. Each Party represents that it has worked with no broker with respect to
the Lease or this Agreement. Tenant and Landlord (each an "indemnitor") agree to indemnifr and hold
harmless the other Parties hereto, and their respective affiliates, successors and assigns, from and again*
claims, actions, judgments, liabilities, payments, losses, damages and expenses, including reasonable

aftomey's fees and court costs, suffered or incurred by reason of the irdemnitor's breach of its respective

representation in this Section.

11.6 Legal Representation. Each Party acknowledges that it has been represented, or
has had an opportunity to obtain the representation of counsel with respect to this Agreement. Each Party
represents to the others that it has read and understood the terms hereofand the consequences ofexecuting
the Lease and this Agreement. The Parties agree that the provisions of this Agreement shall not be

construed against the Party who drafted the same.

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St Lease Page 3 of?

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 51 of 208



ll,7 Authoritr'. Each person signing this Agreement on behalf of a Party repre$ents
and warrants that he or she is authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of such Party, and
that upon such person's execution hereof this Agreement shall become binding upon such Party.

11.8 Defined Terms. Terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set

forth in the Lease.

lf .9 Severabilitv. If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to arry
person or circumstances shall, for any reason and to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder
of this Agreement and the application of that provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be
affected but rather shall be enforced to the extent permitted by law.

11.10 Fuil Force and Effect. Except as specifically amended herein, all of the terms,
provisions, covenants and conditions of the Lease shall remain unmodified and in full force and effect. This
Agreement shall supersede all prior agreements and understanding of the Parties hereto with respect to the
subject matter hereof, In the event of any inconsistencies between any part of this Agreement and the
Lease, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail. This Agreement may not be amended or modified in
any manner other than in a writing signed by the Parties hereto, or their respective successors or assigns.

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank)

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St Lease Page 4 of7

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 52 of 208



By:

IN WITNESS WIIEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the Effectile
Date.

(Landlord)
Hillstrom Holdlngs, LLC,
A Washington limited liability

Keith
Its Manager

LANDLORD ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STA]E OF WASHINGTON

COUNTY OF V,faart

This record was acknowledged before me on 12, *1, .tsZZ ,2022 (date), by Keith Hillstron
as Manager of Hillstrom Holdings, LLC.

1.i.ar
Name: trttL
Notary Public in and fortle State of Washington
Residing at Vir.oo'P Crun'tY
My appointment expires:t. t- Lozk

)
)
)

ss.

p{Notary.Public
Stste of Wsshington

KIM E LUNDQUIST
License Number 117481

MY COMMISSION EXFIFES
Jutvt.2O26

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St l.ease Page 5 of?

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 53 of 208



(Tenant)
City of Port Orchard,
A Washington municipal corporation

By:
Rob Putaansuu,
Its trt{efe*. [6\grz

Reviewed and approved:

Charlotte Archer
City Attorney

TENANT ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF WASHINGTON

CO{.INTY OFKITSAP

This record was acknowledged before me on
as Mayor of the City of Port Orchard.

Dpo e> 2022 (date), by Rob Putaansuu

ss.

\tllll,,,,
DYR I

a , /-zaa-r
NO oz

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St Lease Page 6 ofi

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 54 of 208



Exhibit A
Legal Description

LOTS l, 4, A]ilD 5, BLOCK 7, S.M. STEVENS' TOWN PLAT OF SIDNEY; ACCORDING TO THE
PLAT TIfiREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 OF PLATS AT PAGE I, RECORDS OF KITSAP
COUNTY, WASHINGTON;

TOGETHER WITH THAT PORTION OF I.INNAMED ALLEY AS COhI\IEYED BY TTIE CITY OF
PORT ORCHARD TINDERKITSAP COIINTY RECORDING NO, 3221209;

TOGETHER WITII TTIAT PORTION OF UNNAMED ALLEY AS CONVEYED BY I]AZELLE M.
SIMMONS I.INDER KITSAP COUNY RECORDING NO. 3221211.

7First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St Lease Page of

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 55 of 208



elt)
HILLSTROM HOLDINGS LLC

NO21 CRAMER RD. NW
crc HAr?BoR, wA 98329

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT
Contract No. 131-22

I. The Parties. This Commercial Lease Agreement ("Agreement') made this 28_day of
December . 20J2_by and between:

Landlord. $i tl+raopr- l]uuxf sr s g [Landlord's Name], of
l\o:at Craaarelr f|,rr FrtN . d(.( Lle*leoru pandlord's Street Address], State of
l,loAi<r+n rr.ro.l ..("Landlord")

AND

Tenant. C OF [Tenant's Name], of
2- [Tenant's Street Address], State of

and Tenant shall be referred to herein("Tenant"). Collectively, the Landlord
as the'oPartieso'.

The Parties agree as follows:

II. DESCRIPTION OF LEASED PREMISES. The l"andlord agrees to lease to the Tenant the
following described square feet (SF) of commercial office space located at Loo
. grl>a? *+, P"sr-A.lraEb . (rJA 

r

Additional Description: Unit Number 9urirr'tF to(

Hereinafter known as the'?remises".

In. USE OF LEASED PREMISES. The Landlord is leasing the Premises to the Tenant and the
Tenant is hereby agreeing to lease the Premises for the following use and purpose: General office
and administrative use.

Any change in use or purpose the Premises other than as described above shall be upon prior written
consent of Landlord only.

fV.TERMOFLEASE.ThetermofthisLeaseshallbeforaperiodof3year(s)/month($
commencing on the I day of Srrn*rry _. 20L1and expiring at Mfdnight on the

?l day of Oez:err-qrrz , 202!. ("Initial Term')

V. BASE RENT. The net monthly paym€nt shall be dollars
($ t. 4 o o.- ), payable monthly with the first payme,nt due upon the commencernent of the
Lease and each monthly installment payable thereafter on the ttr- day of each month ('Base
Rent"). Rent payment for any period during the tenn hereon, which is for less than I month shall
be a pro-rata portion of the monttrly rent.

Page 56 of 208



a. Payment of Rent. Tenant shall pay Landlord without notice, demand, deduction or offset,

in lawful money of the United States, the monthly Base Rent stated in this section in
advance on or before the first day of each month during the Terrn beginning on the

Commencement Date, and shall also pay any other additional payments, including
Operating Costs, due to Landlord ("Additional Rent and together with Base Rent, "Rent")
when required under this Lease. All payments duc to Landlord under this Lease, including
late fees and interest, shall also constifute Additional Rent, and upon Tenant's failure to

pay any such costs, charges or expenses, Landlord shall have the same rights and remedies

as otherwise provided in this Lease for the failure of Tenant to pay Rent'

b. Late Chnrges; Default fnterest. If any sums payable by Tenant to Landlord under this
Lease are not received within five (5) business days after thsir due date, Tenant shall pay

Landlord an amount equal to the greater of $100 or 5% of the delinquent amount for the

cost of collecting and handling such late payment in addition to the amount due and as

Additional Rent. All delinquent sums payable by Tenant to landlord and not paid within
five (5) business days after their due date shall, at Landlord's option, bear interest at the

rate of 15o/oper anfl.tm, or the highest rate of interest allowable by law, whichever is less

(the "Default Rate"). Interest on all delinquent amounts shall be calculated from the original
due date to the date of payment.

c. Less Than FuIt Payment Landlord's acceptance of less than the full amount of any

payment due from Tenant shall not be deemed an accord and satisfaction or compromise

of such payment unless Landlord specifically consents in writing to payment of such lesser

sum as an accord and satisfaction or compromise of the amount which Landlord claims.

Any portion that remains to be paid by Tenant shall be subject to the late charges and

default interest provisions ofthis Section,

VI. PREPAID RENT. Upon execution of this leaseo Tenant shall deliver to Landlord the sum of
g -€n as prepaid Rent, to be applied to Base Rent due for the first month of the lease.

VIL SECIIRITY DEPOSIT. Upon execution of this lease, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a sum

of $ l.too ,- to be held as a security deposit pursuant to Section [] below. The secr.rity deposit

shall be in the form of cash, check, or wire transfer.

Vm. OPTION TO RENEW. Te,nant may have the right to renew the Lease with a total of ?-
renewal period(s) with each term being 3 year(s) { month(s) which may be exercised by
giving written notice to Landlord no less than 60 days pri6r to the expiration of the Lease or renewal

period.

Rent for each option period shall: (check one)

E - Increase as calculated by multiplying the Base Rent by thc annual change in the

Consumer Price Index (CPI) published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics by the most recent

publication to the option period start date.

-/
Clo.r""r"by/-.o/o 4*-u*ll7 dat l-l- oF #tf /e42-

E -Increaseby dollars ($

Page 2 of 18

Page 57 of 208



DL OPERATING COSTS

a, Definition. As used herein, "Operating Costs" shall mean all costs of operating,

maintaining and repairing the Premises, the Building, and the Property, determined in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and including without limitation
the following: all taxes and assessments (lncluding, but not limited to, real and personal

property taxes and assessments, local improvement district assessments and other special

purpose assessments, and taxes on rent or gross receipts); insuranoe premiums paid by
Laldlord and (to the extent used) deductibles for insurance applicable to the Property;

water, sewer and all other utility charges (other than utilities separately metered and paid

directly by Tenant or other tenants);janitorial and all other cleaning services; refuse and

trash removal; supplies, materials, tools, and equipment used in the operation, repair, and

maintenance of the Property; refurbishing and repainting; carpet replacement; to the extont

serving areas other than just the Premises, heating, ventilation and air conditioning
("FIVAC') service, repair and replacement when necessary; elevator service and repair and

replacement of elevators when necessary; pest control; lighting systems, fire detection and

security services; landscape maintEnance; management (fees and/or personnel costs);

parking lot, road, sidewalk and driveway patching, resurfacing and maintenance; snow and

ice removal; repair, maintenanse, and, where reasonably required, replacement of signage;

amortization of capital improvements as Landlord may in the future install to comply with
governmental regulations and rules or undertaken in good faith with a reasonable

ixpectation of reducing Operating Costs (the useful life of which shall be a reasonable

period of time as determined by Landlord); costs of legal services (except those incurred

directly relating to a particular occupant of the Building); and accounting services, labor,

supplies, materials and tools. Landlord and Tenant agree that if the Building is not 90%

occupied during any calendar year (including the Base Year, if applicable), on a monthly

average, then those portions ofthe Operating Costs that are driven by occupancy ratesn as

reasonably determined by Landlord, shall be increased to reflect the Operating Costs of the

Building as though it were 90% occupied and Tenant's Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs

shall be based upon Operating Costs as so adjusted. Operating Costs shall not include:

Landlord's income tax or general corporate overhead; depreciation or amortization on the

Building or equipment therein; loan or ground lease payments; real estate broker's

commissions; capital improvements to or major repairs of the Building shell (i.e., the

Building struatuxe, exterior walls, roof, and structural floors and foundations), except to

the extent expressly perrnitted above; any costs regarding the operation, maintenance and

repair of the Premises, the Building, or the Property paid directly by Tenant or other tenants

irthe Building or otherwise reimbursed to landlord, or other cost for which another party

is required to pay Landlord (except as part ofoperating cost recoveries under other tenant

teases) so thai I-andlord shall not recover any itern of cost more than once. If Tenant is

renting a pad separate from any other structures on the Property for which Landlord

separately furnishes the services described in this paragraph, then the term "Operating
Costs" shall not include those costs of operating, repairing, and maintaining the enclosed

mall which can be separately allocated to the tenants of the other structures. Operating

Costs which cannot be separately allocated to the tenants of other struch.lres may include

but are not limited to: insurance premiums; taxes and assessments; management (fees

and/or personuel costs); exterior lighting; parking lot, road, sidewalk and driveway
patching, resurfacing and maintenanc€; snow and ice removal; and costs of legal services

and accounting services.

Page 3 of 18

Page 58 of 208



b. Type of Payment. As Additional Rent, Tenant shall pay to Landlord on the first day of
each month with payment of Base Rent one-twelfth of Tenant's Pro Rata Share of
Operating Costs, which amount is detennined in the manner set forth in Section X'(c)
below.

c. Method of Payment. Tenant shall pay to Landlord Operating Costs pursuant to the

following procedure:

i. Landlord shall provide to Tenant, on or before the Commencement Date, a good faith
estimate of annual Operating Costs for the calendar year in which the Commenceme'lrt

Date occurs. Landlord shall also provide to T'enant, as soon as possible following the

first day of,each zucceeding calendar year, a good faith estimate of Tenant's annual Pro

Rata Share of Operating Costs for the then-curre':f year,

ii. Each estimate of Tenant's annual Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs determined by
Landlord, as described above, shall be divided into 12 equal monthly installments.

Tenant shall pay to Landlord such monthly installmenl of Operating Costs with each

monthly payment of Base Rent. In the event the estimated arnount of Tenant's Pro Rata

Share of Operating Costs has not yet been determined for any calendat year, Tenant

shall pay the monthly installment in the estimated amount determined for the preceding

calendar year until the estirnate for the current calendar year has been provided to
Tenant. When the estimate for the current calendar year is received, Tenant shall then

pay any shortfall or receive a credit for any surplus for the preceding months of the

current calendar year and shall, thereafter, make the monttrly installment payments in
accordance with the current estimate.

111.

IV

As soon as reasonably possible following the end of each calendar year during the

Term, Landlord shall provide to Tenant a statement (the "Operating Costs Statement')

setting forth the amount of Operating Costs actually incurred and the amount of
Tenant's Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs actually payable by Tenant withrespect to
such calendar year. In the event the amount of Tenant's Pro Rata Share of Operating

Costs exceeds the sum of the monthly installments actually paid by Tenant for such

calendar year, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the difference within 30 days following
receipt of the Operating Costs Statcment. In the event the sum of the monthly

installments actually paid by Tenant for such calendar year exceeds the amount of
Tenant's Pro Rata Share ofOperating Costs actually due and owing, the difference shall

be applied as a credit to Tenant's future Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs payable by

Tenant pursuant to this Section, or if the Term has expired, the excess shall be refunded

to Tenant within 30 days after delivery of such Operating Costs Statement.

Should Tenant dispute any amount shown on the Operating Costs Statement, Tenant

may audit Landlord's books and records for the calendar year covered by such

Operating Costs Statemant upon written notice to Landlord given within 90 days after

Tenant's receipt of such Operating Costs Statement, If Tenant fails to provide notice of
dispute within such 90- day period, the Operating Costs Statement shall be frnal and

conclusive. Any audit conducted by Tenant shall be completed within 60 days after

Tenant's request therefor. If Landlord concurs with the audit results, and (x) if the audit

reveals that Tenant's Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs exceeds the sum of the monthly

installments actually paid by Tenant for such calendar year, Tenant shall pay to
Landlord the difference within 30 days following completion of the audit; or (y) If the

audit reveals that the sum of the monthly installments actually paid by Tenant for such

calendar year exceeds the amount of Tenant's Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs

Page 4 of 18

Page 59 of 208



actually due and owing, the difference shall be applied as a credit to Tenant's future
Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs payable by Tenant pursuant to this Section, or if the

term has expired, the excess shall be refunded to Tenant within 30 days after
completion of the audit. If Landlord does not concur with the results of Tenant's audit,

the parties shall within twenty (20) days thereafter agree on a neutral auditor who shall

complete an audit within thirty (30) days after selection, and the decision of the neutral
auditor shall be binding on the parties. The parties shall share evenly in the costs of
any such neutral auditor. Landlord and Tenant shall cooperate as may be reasonably
necessary in order to facilitate the timely completion of any audit. Nothing in this
Section shall in any manner modifu Tenant's obligations to make payments as and

when provided under this Lease.

X. EXPENSES.

TRIPLE NET OINN), Tenant's hritials Landlord's Lritials. R + bor- xror--Aqptf Q
It is the intention of the Parties that this Lease shall be considered a "Triple Net Lease".

a.Operatine Expenses. The Landlord shall have no obligation to provide any services,

perform any acts, or pay expenses, charges, obligations or costs ofjny kind whatsoever

with respect to the Premises, The Tenant hereby agrees lo payfPercent L-%)
of any and all Operating Expenses as hereafter defined for the entire term of the Lease

and any extensions thereof in accordance with specific provisions hereinafter set forth
(Tenant's Pro Rata Share). The Pro Rata Share is based on the ratio of the rentable area

of the Premises states in Section II. Tenant's Base Rent and Pro Rata Share shall be

proportionally adjusted in the event of any adjustment to the Premises, Building's, or
Property's rentable floor area. The terrn "Operating Expenses" shall include all costs to
the Landlord of operating and maintaining the Premises as noted in Section IX.

b.Taxes. Tenant shall pay all taxes, assessments, liens and license fees ("Taxes') levied,

assessed or imposed by any authority having the direct or indirect power to tax or assess

any such liens, related to or required by Tenant's use of the Premises as well as all Taxes

on Tenant's personal property located on the Premises. Landlord shall pay all taxes and

ass€ssment s with respect to the Properfy, all of which shall be included in Operating

Costs and subject to partial reimbursement by tenant as set tbrth in Section IX'

c. Insurance.
a.Tenant's Liability fnsurance, During the Term, Tenant shall pay for and

maintain commercial general liability insurance with broad form property

damage and contractual liability endorsements. This policy shall (i) contain an

endorsement identiffing Landlord, its property manager (if any), and other
parties designated by Landlord, as additional insureds using an endorsement

form acceptable to Landlord, (ii) insure Tenant's activities and those of Tenant's

employees, offtcers, agents, servants, conffactors, custom€rs, clients, visitors,
guests, or other licensees or invitees with respect to the Premises against loss,

damage or liability for personal injury or bodiiy injury (including death) or loss

or damage to property rvith a combined single limit of not less than $2,000,000
per occurrence, and a deductible of not more than $10,000, and (iii) contain a
provision requiring the insurer to deliver or mail written notice of cancellation

to the named insureds at least (45) days before the effective date of the

cancellation. Tenant's insurance will be primary and noncontributory with any

Page 5 of 18

Page 60 of 208



liability insurance carried by Landlord. Landlord may also require Tenant to
obtain and maintain at Tenantts sole cost business income coverage for at least

six (6) months, business auto liability coverage, and, if applicable to Tenant's
Permitted Use, liquor liability insurance and/or warehouseman's coverage

b.Tenant's Property fnsurance. During the Term, Tenant shall pay for and

maintain special form clauses of loss coverage property insurance (with
coverage for earthquake if required by Landlord's lender and, if the Premises are

situated in a flood plain, flood damage) for all of Tenant's personal property,

fixtures and equipment, Tenant's Worlq and Alterations, in the amount of their
full replacement value, with a deductible of not more than $10,000.

c.Miscellaneous. Tenant's insurance required under this Section shall be with
companies rated A-/V[ or better in Best's Insurance Guide, and which are

admitted in the State of Washington. No insurance policy shall be cancelled or
reduced in coverage and each such policy shall provide that it is not subject to
cancellation or a reduction in coverage except after 30 days prior written notice
to Landlord. Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, prior to Tenant's first taking
possession of or occupying the Premises, and from time to time thereafter, copies

of the insurance policies or evidence of insurance and copies of endorsements

required by this Section. In no event shall the limits of such policies be

considered as limiting the liability of Tenant underthis Lease.If Tenant fails to
acquire or maintain any insurance or provide any policy or evidence of insurance
required by this Section, and such failure continues for three (3) days after notice

from Landlord, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, obtain such insurance
for Landlord's benefit and Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the costs of such

insurance upon demand. Such amounts shall be Additional Rent payable by
Tenant hereunder and in the event of non-payment thereof, Landlord shall have

the same rights and remedies with respect to such non-payrnent as it has with
respect to any other non-payment ofRent hereunder.

d.Landlord's fnsurance. Landlord shall carry special form clauses of loss

coverageproperty insurance of the Building shell and core inthe amount of their
fulI replacement value, liability insurance with respect to the Conrmon Areas,

and such other insurance of such types and amounts as Landlord, in its discretion,
shall deem reasonably appropriate. The cost of any such insurance shall be

included in Operating Costs, and if such insurance is provided by a "blanket
policy" insuring other parties or locations in addition to the Building, then only
thc portion of the premiums allocable to the Building and Property shall be

included in Operating Costs.

e.Waiver of Subrogntion. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Lease to
the contrary, Landlord and Tenant hereby release each other and any other
tenant, their agents or employees, from responsibility for, and waive their entire

claim of recovery for any loss or damage arising from any cause covered by
insurance required to be carried or otherwise carried by each of them. Eachparty
shall provide notice to the insurance carrier or carriers of this mutual waiver of
subrogation, and shall cause its respective insurance carriers to waive all rights

of subrogation against the other. This waiver shall not apply to the extent of the

deductible amounts to any such policies or to the extsnt of liabilities exceeding

the limits of such policies.

Page 6 of 18

Page 61 of 208



XI. UTILITIES AND SERVICES. Landlord shall provide the following services for the Premises
(7) days per week, (24) hours per day, the cost of which shall be included in the Operating Costs

to the extent not separately metered to and exclusively serving the Premises (with the costs of such

separately metered services to be directly billed to and paid by Tenant): water; electricity; sewer;

trash andlor recycling removal; and [WAC. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if 'fenant's use of the

Premises incurs utility service charges which are above those usual and customary for the Permitted
Use, Landlord reserves the right to require Tenant to pay a reasonable additional charge for such

usage.

Tenant shall furnish all other utilities (including, but not limited to, telephone, intemet, and cable
service if available) and other services which Tenant requires with respect to the Premises, and

shall pay, at Tenant's sole expense, the cost of all utilities separately metered to the Premises, and

of all other utilities and other services which Tenant requires with respect to the Premises, except

those to be provided by Landlord and included in Operating Expenses as described above. Landlord
shall not be liable for any loss, injury or damage to person or property caused by or resulting from
any variation, intemrption, or failure of utilities due to any sause whatsoever, and Rent shall not

abate as a result thereof.

XII. LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS, The Tenant agrees that no leasehold improvements,

alterations or changes ofany nature, (except for those listed on any attached addenda) shall be made

to the leasehold premises or the exterior of the building without first obtaining the consent of the

Landlord in writing, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, and thereafter, any and all
leasehold improvements made to the Premises which become aflixed or attached to the leasehold

Premises shall remain the property of the Landlord at the expiration or termination of this Lease

Agreement. Furthermore, any leasehold improvements shall be made only in accordance with
applicable federal, state or local codes, ordinances or regulations, having due regard for the type of
construction of the building housing the subject leasehold Premises. If the Tenant makes any

improvements to the Premises the Tenant shall be responsible for payment, except the following

Nothing in the Lease shall be construed to authorize the Tenant or any other person acting for the

Tenant to encumber the rents of the Premises or the interest of the Tenant in the Premises or any

person under and through whom the Tenant has acquired its interest in the Premises with a

mechanic's lien or any other type of encrunbrance. Under no circumstance shall the Tenant be

construed to be the agent, employee or representative of Landlord. In the event a lien is placed

against the Premises, through actions of the Tenant, Tenant will promptly pay the same or bond

against the same and take steps immedialely to have such iien removed. lf the Tenant fails to have

the Lien removed, the Landlord shall take steps to remove the lien and the Tenant shall pay

Landlord for all expenses related to the Lien and removal thereof and shall be in defauit of this

Lease.

Leasehold improvements shall include (i) any of Tenant's Work approved by Landlord; (ii) Tenant's

Signage (as further provided in Section []), or (iii) the installation of shelves, movable partitions,

Tenant's equipment and trade fixtures that may be installed and removed without damaging existing

improvements orthe structwal integnty of the Premises, the Building, orthe Property. Tenant shall

perform all work at Tonant's expense and in compliance with all applicable laws and shall complcte

all Alterations in accordance with plans and specifications approved by Landlord, using contractors

approved by Landlord, and in a manner so as not to unreasonably interfere with other tenants.

Tenant shall pay when due, or fumish a bond for payment of (as set forth in Section 20), all claims

for labor or materials funrished to or for Tenant at, or for use in, the Premises, which claims are or

Page 7 of 18

Page 62 of 208



may be secured by any mechanics' or materialmens' liens against the Premises or the Property or
any interest therein.

XIII. Common Areas.

a. Definition. The term "Common Areas" means all areas, facilities and building systems that are

provided and desiguated from time to time by Landlord for the general non-exclusive use and
convenience ofTenant and other tenants ofthe Property and which are not leased or held for
the exclusive use of a particular tenant. To the extent that such areas and thcilities exist within
the Property, Common Areas include hallways, entryways, stairs, elevators, driveways,
walkways, terraces, docks, loading areas, restrooms, trash facilities, parking areas and garages,

roadways, pedestrian sidewalks, landscaped areas, security areas, lobby or mall areas, common
HVAC systems, cornmon electrical service, equipment and facilities, and common mechanical

systems, equipment and facilities. Tenant shall comply with, and shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause its employees, officers, agents, servants, contractors, customers,

clients, visitors, guests, or other licensees or invitees to comply witl, reasonable rules and
regulations concerning t}te use of the Common Areas adopted by Landlord from time to time,
and shall not interfere with the use of Common Areas by others. Without advance notice to
Tenant and without any liability to Tenant, Landlord may change the size, use, or nature of any

Cornmon Areas, erect improvements on the Common Areas or convert any portion of the

Common Areas to the exclusive use of Landlord or selected tenants, so long as Tenant is not
thereby deprived of the substantial benefit of the Premises. L,andlord reserves the use of exterior
walls and the roof of the Building and other improvements at the Property, and the right to
install, maintain, use, repair and replace pipes, ducts, conduits, and wires leading through the

Premises in areas which will not materially interfere with Tenantrs use thereof.

b. Use of the Common Areas. "fenant shall have the non-exclusive right, in common with such

other tenants of the Property to whom Landlord has granted or may grant such rights, to use
the Common Areas.

c. Maintenance of the Common Areas. Landlord shall maintain the Common Areas in good

order, condition and repair. This maintenance cost shall be includable in Operating Costs

pursuant to Section IX. In performing such maintenance, Landlord shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to minimize interference with Tenant's use and enjoyment of the Premises.

XIV. LICENSES ANID PERMITS, A copy of any and all local, state or federal permits acquired

by the Tenant which are required for the use of the Premises shall be kept on site at all times and

shall be readily accessible and produced to the Landlord and/or their agents or any local, state, or
federal officials upon demand.

XV. RJPAIRS AND MAJNTENAITICE; SURR-ENDER. Tenant shall, at its sole cost and

expense, maintain the entire Premises in good condition and promptly make all non-structural
repairs and replacements necessary to keep the Premises safe and in good condition, including all
HVAC components and other utilities and systems to the extent exclusively serving the Premises.

Landlord shall maintain and repair the Building structure, foundation, subfloor, exterior walls, roof
structure and surface, and IIVAC components and other utilities and systems to the extent serving

more than just the Premises, and the Common Areas. the costs of which shall be included as

Operating Costs unless otherwise expressly excluded pursuant to Section 8(a). Tenant shall not
damage any demising wall or disturb the structural integrity of the Presrises, the Building, or the

Property and shall promptly repair any damage or injury done to any such demising walls or
structural elernents caused by Tenant or its employees, officers, agents, servants, contractors,

Page 8 of 18

Page 63 of 208



customers, clients, visitors, guests, or other licensees or invitees. Notwithstanding anything in this
Section to the contrary, Tenant shall not be responsible for any repairs to the Premises made
necessary by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or its employees, officers, agents,

seryants, contractors, customers, clients, visitors, guests, or other licensees or invitees therein. If
Tenant fails to perform Tenant's obligations under this Section, Landlord may at Landlord's option
enter upon the Premises after l0 days' prior notice to Tenant and put the same in good order,
condition and repair and the cost thereof, together with interest thereon at the Default Rate set forth
in Section 4, shall be due and payable as Additional Rent to Landlord together with Tenant's next
installment of Base Rent. Upon expiration or earlier termination ofthe Term, Tenant shall promptly
and peacefully surrender the Premises to Landlord, together with all keys, in materially as good

condition as when received by Tenant from Landlord or as thereafter improved (but subject to any
obligations to remove any Tenant's Work and Alterations and/or restore the same as further
provided in this Lease), reasonable wear and tear and i:rsured casualty excepted.

XVI. ACCESS AND RIGHT OF ENTRY. After 24 hours'notice from Landlord (except in cases

of emergency, when no notice shall be required), Tenant shall permit Landlord and its agents,

employees and contractors to enter the Premises at all reasonable times to make repairs, inspections,

alterations or improvements, provided that Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to minimize
interference with Tenant's use and eqjoyment of the Premises. This Section shall not impose any
repair or other obligation upon Landlord not expressly stated elsewhere in this Lease. After
reasonable notice to Tenant, Landlord shall have the right to snter the Premises for the purpose of
(a) showing the Premises to prospective purchasers or lenders at any time, and to prospective

tenants within 180 days prior to the expiration or sooner termination of the Term; and (b) posting

"for lease" signs within 180 days prior to the expiration or sooner termination of the Term.

XV[. SIGNAGE. Tenant shall obtain Landlord's written consent as to size, location, materials,

method of attachment, and appearance, before installing any sigrs upon the Premises. Tenant shall

instail and maintain any approved signage ("Signage") at Tenant's sole expense and in compliance

with all applicable laws. Any Siggrage installed by Tenant shall be rEmoved from the Premises,

Building and Property at Tenant's expense upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Term.

Tenant shall not damage or deface the Premises in installing or removing Signage and shall repair
any iqjury or damage to the Premises caused by such installation or removal.

XVIII. INSURANCE. In the event the Tenant shall fail to obtain insurance requiled hereunder

and fails to maintain the same in force continuously during the term, Landlord may, but shall not
be required to, obtain the same and charge the Tenant for same as additional rent. Furthermore,
Tenant agrees not to keep upon the Premises any articles or goods which rnay be prohibited by the

standard form offire insurance policy, and in the event the insurance rates applicable to fire and

extended coverage covering the Premises shall be increased by reason of any use of the Premises

made by Tenant, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, upon demand, such increase in insurance
premium as shall be caused by said use or Tenant's proportionate share ofany such increase.

XfX. SUBLET/ASSIGNMENT. Tenant shall not assign, sublet, mortgage, encumber or otherwise

transfer any interest in this Lease (collectively referred to as a "Transfer") or any part of the

Premises, without first obtaining Landlord's written consent, which shall not be unreasonably

withheld, conditioned, or delayed, No Transfer shall relieve Tenant of any liability under this Lease

notwithstanding Landlord's consent to such Transfer. Consent to any Transfer shall not operate as

a waiver of the necessity for Landlord's consent to any subsequent Transfer. In connecfion with
each request for consent to a Transfer, Tenant shall pay the reasonable cost ofprocessing the same,

including attorneys' fees, upon demand of Landlord, up to a maximum of $1,250'

Page I of 18

Page 64 of 208



Any transfer of this Lease by lnerger, consolidation, redemption or liquidation of Tenant, or any
change in the ownership of, or power to vote, which singularly or collectively represents a majority
of the beneficial interest in Tenant, shall constitute a Transfer under this Section.

As a condition to Landlond's approval, if given, any potential assignee or sublessee otherwise
approved by Landlord shall assume all obligations of Tenant under this Lease and shall be jointly
and severally liable with Tenant and any guarantor for the payment of Rent and performance of all
obligations of Tenant under this Lease, In corurection with any Transfer, Tenant shall provide
Landlord with copies of all assignments, subleases and assumption agreements and related
documents.

XX. LIENS. Tenant is not authorized to subject the Landlord's assets to any liens or claims of lien.

Tenant shall keep the Property and Premises free from any liens created by or through Tenant.
Tenant shall indemnify, defend, and hold Landlord and thc Property and Premises hannless from
liability for any such liens including, without limitation, liens arising from any of Tenant's Work
or Alterations. If a lien is filed against the Premises by any person claiming by, through or under
Tenant, Tenant shall have the right to contest the correctness or validity ofthe lien, provided,

however, within 10 days after Landlord's demand, at Tenant's expense, Tenant shall either remove

the lien, or shall procure and record a lien release bond issued by a surety satisfactory to Landlord
in form and amount sufficient to satisff statutory requirements for satisfaction and release of the

subject li""(s) from the Premises and Property. Tenant shall indemnifu landlord, the Premises, and

the Property from and against all liabilities, costs and expenses, including attomcysr fees, which
Landlord could reasonably incur as a result ofsuch lien.

XXI. DAMAGE OR CONDEMNATION

a. Damrge and Repair. If the Prernises or the portion of the Building or the Property

rlecsssary for Tenant's occupancy are partially damaged by fire or other insured casualty

but not rendered untenantable, then Landlord shall diligently restore the Premises and the
portion ofthe Property necessary for Tenant's occupancy to the extent required below and

this lease shall not terminate. Tenant may, however, terminate the Lease if Landlord is

unable to restore the Premises within six (6) months of the casualty event by giving 20

days' written notice of termination,

The Premises or the portion of the Building or the Property necessary for Tenant's

occupancy shall not be deemed untenantable If 25% or less of each of those areas are

damaged, If insurance proceeds are not available or are not sufficient to pay the elrtire cost

of restoring the Premises, or if Landlord's lender does not permit all or any part of the

insurance proceeds to be applied toward restoration, then Landlord may elect to terminate

this Lease and keep the insurance proceeds, by notiffing Tenant within 60 days of the date

of such casualty,

If the Premises, the portion of the Building or the Property necessary for Tenant's

occupancy, or 50o% or more of the rentable area of the Property are entirely destroyed, or
partially damaged and rendered untenantable, by fue or other casualty, Landlord may, at

its option: (a) terminate this Lease as provided herein, or (b) restore the Premises and the
portion ofthe Property necessary for Tenant's occupancy to their previous condition to the

extent required below; provided, howevero if such casualty event occurs duringthe last six
(6) months of the Term (after considering any option to extend the term timely exercised

by Tenant) then either Tenant or Landlord may elect to terminate the Lease. If, within 60

days after receipt by Landlord from Tenant of written notice that Tenant deems the

Page 10of18

Page 65 of 208



Premises or the portion of the Property necessary for Tenant's occupancy untenantable,
Landlord fails to notifu Tenant of its election to restore those areas, or if Landlord is unable
to restore those areas within six (6 )months of the date of the casualty event, then Tenant
may elect to terminate the Lease upon 20 days'notice to Landlord unless Landlord, within
such 20 day period notifies Tenant that it will in fact restore the Premises or actually

completes such restoration work to the extent required below, as applicable.

If Landlord restores the Premises or the Property under this Section, Landlord shall proceed

with reasonable diligence to complete the work, and Base Rent shall be abated in the sams
proportion as the untenantable portion of the Premises bears to the whole Premises,
provided that there shall be a Base Rent abatement only if the damage or destruction of the
Premises or the Property did not result from, or was not contributed to directly or indirectly
by the act, fault or neglect of Tenant, or Tenant's employees, officers, agents, servants,

contractors, customers, clients, visitors, guests, or other licensees or invitees. No damages,

compensation or claim shall be payable by Landlord for inconvenience, loss of business or
annoyance directly, incidentally or consequentially arising from any repair or restoration

of any portion of the Premises or the Property. Landlord shall have no obligation to carry
insurance of any kind for the protection of Tenant; any Alterations or improvernents paid
for by Tenant; Signage; Tenant's furniture; or on any fixtures, equipment, improvements

or appurtenances of Tenant under this Lease, and Landlord's restoration obligations
hereunder shall not include any obligation to repair any damage thereto or replacethe same.

b. Condemnation. If the Premises, the portion of the Building or the Property necessary for
Tenant's occupancy, or 50o1o or more of the rentable area of the Property are made

untenantable by eminent domain, or conveyed under a threat of condemnation, this Lease

shall terminate at the option of either Landlord or Tenant as of the earlier of the date title
vests in the condenrning authority or the condemning authority fust has possession of the

Premises or the portion of the Property taken by the condemning authority. All Rents and

other payments shall be paid to that date.

If the condemning authority takes a portion of the Premises or of the Building or the
Property necessary for Tenant's occupancy that does not render them untenantable, then

this Lease shall continue in full force and effect and Rent shall be equitably reduced based

on the proportion by which the floor area of any structures is reduced. The reduction in
Rent shall be effective on the earlier of the date the condemning authority fust has

possession of such portion or title vests in the condemning authority. The Premises or the

portion of the Building or the Property necessary for Tenant's occupancy shall not be

deemed untenantable if 25% or less of each of those areas are condemned. Landlord shall

be entitled to the entire award from the condemning authority attributable to the value of
the Premises or the Building or the Property and Tenant shall make no claim for the value

of its leaschold. Tenant shall be perrnitted to make a separate claim against the condemning
authority for moving expenses, provided that in no event shall Tenant's claim reduce

Landlord's award.

)flilI. DEFAULT AND POSSESSION. Each of the following events shall be an "Event of
Default" by Tenant under this Lease:

a. Failure To Pay. Failure by Tenant to pay any sum, including Rent, due under this Lease

following five (5) days'notice from Landlord of the failure to pay.

Page 11 of18

Page 66 of 208



b. Vacation/Abandonment. Vacation by Tenant of the Premises (defined as an absence for
at least 15 consecutive days without prior notice to Landlord), or abandonrnent by Tenant
of the Premises (defined as an absence of five (5) days or morc while Tenant is in breach
of some other term of this Lease). Tenant's vacation or abandonment of the Premises shall

not be subject to any notice or right to cure.

c. Insolvency. Tenant's insolvency or bankruptcy (whether voluntary or involuntary); or
appointment of a receiver, assignee or other liquidating officer for Tenant's business;
provided, however, that in the event of any involwrtary bankruptcy or other insolvency
proceeding, the existence ofsuch proceeding shall constitute an Event ofDefault only if
such proceeding is not dismissed or vacated within 60 days after its institution or
commencement.

d. Levy or Execution. The taking of Tenant's interest in this lease or the Premises, or any
part thereof, by execution or other process of law directed against Tenant, or attachment of
Tenant's interest in this Lease by any creditor of Tenant, if such attachment is not
discharged within 15 days after being levied.

e. Other Non-Monetary Defaults. The breach by Tenant of any agleement, term or covenant

of this Lease other than one requiring the payment of money and not otherwise enumerated

in this Sestion or elsewhere in this Lease, which breach continues for a period of 30 days

after notice by Landlord to Tenant ofthe breach, provided that, ifthe nature ofsuch default
is such that it cannot be cured within such 30 day period, no Event of Default shall occur
so long as Tenant commences such cure within 30 days of notice by Landlord and diligently
pursues such cure to completion, but in no event longer than 60 days from the date of
Landlord's notice,

f. Failure to Take Possession. Failure by Tenant to take possession of the Premises on the
Commencement Date following five (5) days notice from the Landlord of Tenant's failure
to take possession.

Landlord shall not be in default unless Landlord fails to perform obligations required of Landlord

within 30 days notice to Landlord by Tenant provided that, if the nature of such default is such that

it cannot be cured within such 30 day period, Landlord shall not be in defa-ult if Landlord
commences such cure within 30 days of notice by Tenant and diligently pursues such eure to
completion. If Landlord fails to cure any such default within the allotted time, Tenant's sole remedy

shall be to seek actual money damages (but not consequential or punitive damages) for loss arising
from Landlord's failurc to discharge its obligations under this Lease. Nothing herein contained shall

relieve Landlord from its duty to perfomr any of its obligations to the standard prescribed in this
Lease.

Any notice periods granted herein shall be deemed to run concurrently with and not in addition to

any default notice periods required by law.

XX[I. REMEDIES. Landlord shall have the following remedies upon an Event of Default.
Landlord's rights and remedies under this lease shall be cumulative and not exclusive.

a. Termination of Lease. Landlord may terminate Tenant's interest rurd the Lease, but no act

by Landlord other than notice of termination from Landlord to Tenant shall terminate this
Lease. The Lease shall terminate on the date specifred in the notice of termination. Upon
terrrination of this Lease, Tenant will remain liable to Landlord for damages in an amount

Page 12 of 18

Page 67 of 208



equal to t and other sums that would have been owing by Tenant under this Lease for the

balance of the Term, less the net proceeds, if any, of any reletting of the Premises by
Landlord subsequent to the termination, after deducting all of Landlord's Reletting
Expenses (as defined below). Landlord shall be entitled to either collect damages from
Tenant monthly on the days on which rent or othcr amounts would have been payable under

the Leaseo or altematively, Landlord may accelerate Tenantrs obligations under the Lease

and recover from Tenant: (i) unpaid rent which had been eamed at the time of termination;
(ii) the amount by which the unpaid rent which would have been eamed after termination
until the time of award exceeds the amount of rent loss that Tenant proves could reasonably

have been avoided; (iii) the amount by which the unpaid rent for the balance of the term of
the Lease after the time of award exceeds the amount of rent loss that Tenant proves could
reasonably be avoided (discounting such amount by the discount rate of the Federal

Reserve Bank of San Francisco at the time of the award, plus 1 7o); and (iv) any other

amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all the detriment proximately caused by
Tenant's failure to perform its obligations under the Lease, or which In the ordinary course

would be likely to result from the Event of Default, including without limitation Reletting
Expenses described below.

b. Rc-Entry and Reletting. Landlord may continue this Lease in fulI force and effect, and

without demand or notice, re-enter and take possession of the Premises or any part thereof,

expel the Tenant from the Premises and anyone claiming through or under the Tenant, and

remove the personal property of either. Landlord may relet the Premises, or any part of
them, in Landlord's or Tenantrs name for the account of Tenant, for such period of time and

at such other terms and conditions as Landlord, in its discretion, may dctermine. Landlord

may collect and receive the rents for the Premises, To the fullest extent permitted by law,
the proceeds of any reletting shall be applied: first, to pay Landlord all Reletting Expenses

(defined below); second, to pay any indebtedness ofTenant to landlord othet than rent;

third, to the rent due and unpaid hereunder; and fourth, the residue, ifany, shall be held by
Landlord and applied in payment of other or future obligations of Tenant to Landlord as

the same may become due and payable, and Tenant shall not be entitled to receive any

portion of such revenue. Re-entry or taking possession of the Premises by Landlord under

this Section shall not be construed as an election on Landlord's part to terminate this Lease,

unless a notice of termination is given to Tenant Landlord reserves the right following any

re-entry or reletting, or both, under this Section to exercise its right to terminate the Lease.

Tenant will pay Landlord Rent and other sums which would be payable under this Lease if
repossession had not occurred, less the net proceeds, ifany, after reletting the Premises and

after deducting Landlord's Reletting Expenses. 'rReletting Expenses" is defined to include

all expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with reletting the Prernises, including
without limitation, all repossession costs, brokerage commissions and costs for securing

new tenants, attorneys' fees, remodeling and repair costs, costs for removing persons or
property, costs for storing Tenant's property and equipment, and costs of tenant

improvements and rent concessions granted by Landlord to any new Tenant, prorated over

the life ofthe new lease.

c, Waiver of Redemption Rights. Tenant, for itseif, and on behalf of any and all persons

claiming through or under Tenant, including creditors of all kinds, hereby waives and

surrenders all rights and privileges which they may have under any prosent or future law,

to redeem the Premises or to have a continuance of this Lease for the Tenn, or any
extension thereof.

Page13of18

Page 68 of 208



d. Nonpayment of Additional Rent. All costs which Tenant is obligated to pay to landlord
pursuant to this Lease shall in the event of nonpayment be treated as if they were payments

of Rent, and Landlord shall have the same rights it has with respect to nonpayment of Rent.

e. Failure to Remove Property. If Tenant fails to remove any of its property from the

Premises at Landlord's request following an uncured Event of Default, Landlord may, at

its option, r€move and store the property at Tenant's expense and risk. If Tenant does not
pay the storage cost within five (5) days of Landlord's request, Landlord may, at its option,
have any or all of such property sold at pubiic or private sale (and Landlord may become a
purchaser at such sale), in such manner as Landlord deems ploper, without notice to
Tenant. Landlord shall apply the proceeds of such sale: (i) to the expense of such sale,

including reasonable attorneys' fees actually incurred; (ii) to the payment of the costs or
charges for storing such property; (iii) to the payment of any other sums of money which
may then be or thereafter become due Landlord from Tenant under any of the terms hereof;
and (iv) the balance, if any, io Tenant. Nothing in this Section shall limii Landlord's right
to sell 'l enant's personal property as permitted by law or to foreclose Landlord's lien for
unpaidrent, if any.

XXIV. INDEMMFICATION. The Tenant hereby covenants and agtees to indemnify, defend and

hold the Landlord harmless from any and all claims or liabilities which may arise from any cause

whatsoever as a result of Tenant's use and occupancy of the Premises, and further shall indemni&
the Landlord for any losses which the Landlord may suffer in connection with the Tenant's use and

occupancy or care, custody and control of the Premises. The Tenant also hereby covenants and

agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Landlord from any and all claims or liabilities which
may arise from any latent defects in the subject Premises that the Landlord is not aware of at the

signing of the lease or at any time during the lease term. Except to the extent of claims arising out

of Landlord's gross negligence or intentional acts of misconduct, Landlord shall not be liable for
injury to Tenant's business or assets, or any loss of income therefrom or for damage to any property

of Tenant or of its employees, officers, agents, servants, contractors, customers, clients, visitors,

quests, or other licensees or invitees, or any other person in or about the Premises or the Property.

This provision shall survive expiration or termination of this lease.

XXV. BANKRUPTCY - INSOLVENCY. The Tenant agrees that in the event all or a substantial
portion of the Tenant 's assets are placed in the hands of a receiver or a Trustee, and such status

continues for a period of 30 days, or should the Tenant make an assignment for the benefit of
creditors or be adjudicated bankrupt; or should the Tenant institute any proceedings under the

bankruptcy act or any amendment thereto, then such Lease or interest in and to the leased Premises

shall not become an asset in any such proceedings and, in such event, and in addition to any and all
other remedies of the Landlord hereunder or by law provided, it shall be lawful for the Landlord to

declare the term hereof ended and to re-enter the leased land and take possession thereof and all
improvements thereon and to remove all persons therefrom and the Tenant shall have no further
claim thereon.

XXVI. SUBORDINATION AND ATTORNMENT. This Lease shall automatically be

subordinate to any mortgage or deed of tnrst created by Landlord which is now existing or hereaftsr
placed upon the Premises including any advances, interest, modifications, renewals, replacements

or extensions {"Landlord's Mortgage"). Tenant shall attorn to the holder of any Landlord's

Mortgage or any party acquiring the Premises at any sale or other proceeding under any Landlord's

Mortgage provided the acquiring party assumes the obligations of Landlord under this Lease.

Tenant shall promptly and in no event later than 15 days after request execute, acknowledge and

deliver documents which the holder of any Landlord's Mortgage may reasonably require as fuither

Page 14 of 18

Page 69 of 208



evidence of this subordination and attomment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant's obligations
under this Section to subordinate in the future are conditioned on the holder of each Landlord's
Mortgage and each party acquiring the Premises at any sale or other proceeding under any such

Landlord's Mortgage not disturbing Tenant's occupancy and other rights under this Lease, so long
as no uncured Event ofDefault by Tenant exists.

XXV[. MISCELLATIEOUS TERMS.

L Usage by Tenant Tenant shall comply with all rules, regulations and laws of any
govemmental authority with respect to use and occupancy. Tenant shall not conduct or permit
to be conducted upon the Prenrises any business or permit any act which is contrary to or in
violation of any law, rules or regulations and requirements that may be imposed by any

authority or any insurance company with which the Premises is insured, nor will the Tenant

allow the Premises to be used in any way which will invalidate or be in conflict with any
insurance policies applicable to the building. In no event shall explosives or extra hazardous

materials be taken onto or retained on the Premises. Furthermore, Tenant shall not install or
use any equipment that will cause undue interference with the peaceable and quiet enjoyment

of the Premises by other tenants of the building.

I[, Condition of Premises/Inspection by Tenant: The Tenant has had the opportunity to inspect

the Premises and acknowledges with its signature on this lease that the Premises are in good

condition and comply in all respects with the requiranents of this Lease. Furthermore, the

Landlord makes no representation or warranty with respect to the condition of the Premises

or its fitness or availability for any particular use, and the Landlord shall not be liable for any

latent or patent defect therein. Furtherrnore, the Tenant represents that Tenant has inspected

the Premises and is leasing and will take possession of the Premises with all curr€nt fixtures
present in their "as is" condition as ofthe date hereof

III. Right of Entry: It is agreed and understood that the Landlord and its agents shall have the

complete and unencumbered right of entry to the Premise$ at any time or times forpurposes
of inspecting or showing the Premises.

XXVUL ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE. Tenant shall, from time to tirne, upon writtenrequest of
landlord, execute, acknowledge and deliver to Landlord or its designee a written statement

speciffing the following, subject to any modifications necessary to make such statements true and

complete: (i) the total rentable square footage of the Premises; (ii) the date the Term commenced

and the date it expires; (iii) the amount of minimum monthly Rent and the date to which such Rent

has been paid; (iv) that this Lease is in fult force and effect and has not been assigned, modified,
supplemented or amended in any way; (v) that this Lease represents the entire agreement between

the parties; (vi) that all obligations under this Lease to be performed by either party have been

satisfied; (vii) that there are no existing claims, defenses or offsets which the Tenant has against

the enforcement of this Lease by Landlord; (viii) the amount of Rent, If any, that Tenant paid in
advance; (ix) the amount of security that Tenant deposited with Landlord; (x) if Tenant has sublet

all or a portion of the Premises or assignecl its interest in the Lease and to whom; (xi) if Tenant has

any option to extend the Term of the Lease or option to purchase the Premises; and (xii) such other

factual matters conceming the Lease or the Premises as Landlord may reasonably request, Tenant

acknowledges and agrees thal any statement delivered pursuant to this Section may be relied upon

by a prospective purchaser of Landlord's interest or assignee of any mortgage or new mortgagee of
Landlord's interest in the Premises. If Tenant shall fail to respond within 10 days to Landlord's

request for the statemcnt required by this Section, Landlord may provide the statement and Tenant

shall be deemed to have admitted the accuracy of the information provided by Landlord.

Page 15 of 18

Page 70 of 208



XXD(. HOLDOVER. If Tenant shall, without the written consent of landlord, remain in
possession of the Premises and fail to return them to Landlord after the expiration or termination
of this Lease, the tenancy shall be a holdover tenancy at sufferance, which may be terminated
accordirg to Washington law. During such tenancy, Tenant agrees to pay to Landlord 150% of the
rate ofrental last payable under this Lease, unless a different rate is agreed upon by Landlord. All
other terms of the Lease shall remain in effect other than any options to extend the Term. Tenant
acknowledges and agrees that this Section does not grant any right to l'enant to holdover, and that
Tenant may also be liable to Landlord for any and all damages or sxpenses which Landlord may
have to incur as a result of Tenant's holdover.

XXX. NON-WAI\rER. Landlord's waiver of any breach of any provision contained in this Lease

shall not be deemed to be a waiver of the same provision for subsequent acts of Tenant. The
acceptance by Landlord ofRent or other amounts due by Tenant hereunder shall not be deerned to
be a waiver ofany previous breach by Tenant.

XXXI. NOTICES. All notices under this Lease shall be in writing and effective (i) when delivered
in person or via overnight courier to the other party, or (ii) three (3) days after being sent by
registered or certified mail to the other party at the address set forth in Section L The addresses for
notices and payment of rent set forth in Section 1 may be modified by either party only by written
notice delivered in conformance with this Section.

XXXil. GOVERNING LAW. This Lease shall be governed by the laws of the State of
Washington,

XXV. COSTS AND ATTORNEYS' FEES. If Tenant or Landlord engage the services of an

attomey to collect monies due or to bring any action for any relief against the other, declaratory or
otherwise, arising out of this Lease, including any suit by Landlord for the recovery of Rent or other
payments, or possession ofthe Premises, the losing parly shall pay the prevailing party a reasonable

sum for attorneys' fees in such action, whether in mediation or arbitration, at trial, on appeal, or in
any bankruptcy proceeding.

XXVI. TRAI\SFER OF LANDLORD'S INTEREST. This Lease shall be assignable by
Landlord without the consent of Tenant. In the event of any transfer or transfers of Landlord's
interest in the Premises, other than a transfer for collateral purposes only, upon the assumption of
this Lease by the transferee, Landlord shall be automatically relieved of obligations and liabilities
accruing from ancl after the date of such transfer, including any liability for any retained security

deposit or prepaid rent, for which the transferee shall be liable, and Tenant shall attorn to the
transferee.

35. GENERAL.

a. fleirs and Assigns. This Lease shall apply to and be binding upon Landlord and Tenant
and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns,

b. Entire Agreement. This Lease contains all of the covenants and agteements between
Landlord and Tenant relating to the Premises. No prior or contemporaneous agreements or
understandings pertaining to the Lease shall be valid or of any force or effect and the

covenants and agreements of this Lease shall not be altered, modified or amended except
in writing, signed by landlord and Tenant.

Page 16of18

Page 71 of 208



c. Severability. Any provision of this Lease which shall provb to be invalid, void or illegal
shall in no way 4ffect, impair or invalidate any other provision of this Lease.

d, Force Majeure. Time periods for either party's performance under any provisions of this
Lease (excluding payment of Rent) shall be extended for periods of time during which the
partyrs performance is prevented due to circumstances beyond such parly's control,
including without limitation, fires, floods, earthquakes, lockouts, strikes, embargoes,
governmental regulations, acts of God, public enemy, war or other strife; provided in no
event shall any ofthe foregoing events operate to extend the Terrn ofthis Lease.

e. No Light, Air or View Easement. Tenant has not been granted an easement or other right
for light, air or view to or from the Premises. Any diminution or shutting offof light, air or
view by any structure which may be erected on or adjacent to the Building shall in no way
affect this Lease or the obligations of Tenant hereunder or impose any liability on Landlord.

f. Authority of Parties. Each party to this Lease represents and warrants to the other that the
person executing this Lease on behalf of such party has the authority to eirter into this Lease

on behalf of such party, that the execution and delivery of this lease has been duly
authorized, and that upon such execution and delivery, this Lease shall be bincling upon
and enforceable against such party.

g. Time. "Day" as used herein means a calendar day and "business day" means any day on
which commercial banks are generally open for business in the state where the Premises

are situated, Any period of time which would otherwise end on a non-business day shall

be extended to the next following business day. Time is of the essence of this Lease,

h, Quiet Enjoyment. Provided Tenant pays Rent and performs all ofits obligations in this
Lease, Tenant's possession of the Premises will not be disturbed by Landlord or anyone
claiming by, through or under Landlord.

Merger. The voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Tenant, or a mutual cancellation
thereof, shall not work a merger and shall, at the option of Landlord terminate all or any

existing subteirancies or may, at the option of Landlord, operate as an assignment to
Landlord ofany or all ofsuch subtenancies.

j. Counterparts. This contract may be signed by and returned by one or more counterparts
All signatures are binding on Tenant and Landlord.

XXVII. AMENDMENT. No amendment of this Lease shall be effectiveunless reduced to writing
and subscribed by the parties with all the fonnality of the original.

XXVru. BNDING EFFECT. This Lease and any amendments thereto shall be binding upon the
Landlord and the Tenants and/or their respective successors, hefus, assigns, executors and

administrators.

Signature page to follow

].

Page 17 of 18

Page 72 of 208



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto set their hands and seal this day of
20_.

Printed Name Title

%* /oooro-. e€a // //o*. /,**
Landlord's Signature Printed Name Title

Tenant's Signature

Tenant's Signature

Printed Name

Printed Name

Title

Title

ACKNOWLI]DGMENT Otr' NOTARY PUBLIC

STATE OIJ W
COUNTY OF

me through government issued photo identification to be the above-named person, in my presence

executed foregoing instrument and acknowledged that they executed the same as their free act and

deed.

rEl'
NotaryPublio

My Commission Expires : a!-ZoZta

ACIil\OWLEDGMENT OF NOTARY PUBLIC

STATEOF
COUNTY OF

On this day of 20* before me appeared

as TENANT(S) of this Commercial Lease Agreement who proved to me

through govemment issued photo identification to be the above-named person, in my presence

On this !!g day
Y.lKvr Hi\ltrrran ,,

executed
deed.

of (Jr.csntt<r
as LAIIDLORD of this Commercial

20j$: before me appeared
Lease Agreement who proved to

foregoing instrument and acknowledged that they executed the as their free act and

lilrt,

Notary Public

My Commission Expires ' Jt | -YtS>f

Notary Publlc
State of Wsshlngton

KIM E LUNDOUIST
Llcense Numbor l174gt

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES

Page 18 of 18

Page 73 of 208



,pr

Contract No.132-22

F'IRST AMEIIDMENT TO
COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO ('Agreement') i
entered into and effective as of l- t-23 between Hillstrm
Holdings, LLC, a Washington limited liability company ('Landlord'), and the City of Port Orchard, a

Washington municipal corporation ('Tenant'). Landlord and Tenant may be referred to herei:
individually as a "@[" and collectively as the "Bgrties".

RECITALS

A. Landlord and Tenant entered into the certain Commercial Lease Agreement, dated _
rz"z1i.- zz- . 2022 ("@g') for lease the Premises commonly known as Suite 201

("Premiscs') located at the property commonly known as the Greenwood Building, 600 Kitsap St. Pcd
Orchard, WA 98366 and legally described in ExhibitA ("@gtft).

B. The Lease, for a 36-month term to begin on January 1,2023, contains boilerplate languap
that does not match the intention of Landlord and Tenant with respect to the terms and conditions the Partie
desire to enter into with respect to the Lease, and is missing a legal description and acknowledgments.

C. Landlord and Tenant desire to ratify and amend the Lease upon the terms and condition
set forth herein.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, incorporating the foregoing Recitals herein, and for good and valuab-e
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

l. Base Rent and Oneratins Costs. Notwithstanding any otherprovision to the contrary ir.
the Lease, Landlord and Tenant agree tliat Tenant shall not be responsible for any Operating Cosb.
including, without limitation, real property tax assessments, Landlord's property insurance, storm water-
water, sanitary sewer, garbage disposal, janitorial seryices, resfoom supplies, or maintenance, repairs oe

replacements of all or any portion of the Property or the Common Areas; provided, Tenant shall pay for its
electricity costs for the Premises, which electricity costs af,e metered. Tenant

Eg fi."tt-
2. Landlord Entrv. Landlord acknowledges that Tenant intends to use the Premises fc

purposes that may involve confidential information, including criminal investigations and confidential
information of the City ofPort Orchard. Landlord agrees to exercise its rights to enterthe Premises subjecl
to the right of Tenant to maintain security and confidentiality of infonnation and records contained in tbe
Premises, including the right to restrict access during sensitive meetings and the right to restrict access tf,
portions of the Premises containing confidential or sensitive infonnation or records.

3. Revision to Section XXfV. The Parties agree to delete the following portion of Sectio:r
XXry of the Lease: "The Tenant also hereby covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold hannless th:
Landlord from any and all claims or liabilities which may arise from any latent defects in the subjecr
Premises that the Landlord is not aware of at the signing of the leasegi-qt any time during the lease term."

+1""e e\ &94. Parkins. t andlord agrees to provide feu*(4) off-Ctreet parking spaces to Tenant on ar
exclusive basis at no additional cost.

(il

@

e

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St Lease Page I of?

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 74 of 208



@
5. Maintenance and Renairs. Landlord shall maintain at its sole cost in good repair a:d

replace, as needed, the Property, including, without limitation, the IIVAC systems (including regular fil-:r
replacements and regular maintenance of thermostats, ductwork, and diffusers), mechanical systenr,
electrical systems, interior and exterior lighting systems, plumbing, flooring, windows, signs, elevators lif
applicable), interior and exterior walls, all structural oomponents of the building (including the roc{,
foundation, and siding), restrooms, lobbies, stairways, sidewalks, parking lot (including snow remov-J.,

cleaning, and restriping as required), wheel stops, storm water drainage, exterior paint, interior paint in tbe
Common Areas, landscaping and other components of the Property. Landlord shall further continuousry
satisff all governmental requirements generally applicable to similar office buildings, including withcrt
limitation, compliance with fire codes, building codes, energy codes, indoor air quality, and Americars
with DisabilitiEs Act barrier-free restrooms and access.

6. Withholdine Rent-Bflvments. In the event Landlord fails to promptly maintain, repair, tr
improve the Premises or the Property as set forth herein, Tenant shall have the right to witbhold 50% of tr
Base Rent payments without late fees or default interest until such time as Landlord satisfies su':*r

maintenance, repair, or improvement obligations.

@

c*

@

7. Comnliance with Law. Landlord shall be responsible for complying with the Americam
ith Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 12101,-12213) and the Washington State Law Agairct

Discrimination, Chapter 49.60 RCW, as well as regulations adopted thereunder, with respect to the Propefi
and the Premises.

8. Prevailing Wage. Landlord agrces to pay the prevailing rate of wage to all workem,
laborers, or mechanics employed in the performance of any part of this Lease when required by state la'r.-,

and to comply with the provisions of Chapter 39.12 RCW, as amended, and the rules and regulations of tt:
Department of Labor and Industries. The rules and regulations of the Department of Labor and Industri=
and the schedule of prevailing wage rates for the locality or localities where this Lease will be performel
as determined by the Industrial Statistician of the Department of Labor and Industries, are by referenc:
made a part of this L,ease as though fully set forth herein.

9, Hazardous Substances. The term "@'as used in this Agreemert
shall mean pollutants, contaminants, toxic wastesn or any other substances, the rernoval of which is requiral
ortheuseofwlrichisrestricted,regulated,prohibitedorpenalizedbyany..@Lg!g''Tha
term "Environmental Law" or "Environmental Laws" shall mean any federal, state or local law or ordinanca
relating to pollution or protection of the environment or public health. Landlord represents and warrants I
Tenant that the Property does not contain asbestos or other Hazardous Substances of any kind, except, in
the case of Hazardous Substances only and not asbestos, commercially reasonable quantities fi-t
construction purposes and cleaning agents aud other substances normally used in the constructior5 operatioo
and maintenance of office buildings and not prohibited by applicable law, all of which shall be stored, used

and disposed of at Landlord's cost and without reimbursement from Tenant in accordance with all
applicable local, state and federal laws. Landlord agrees not to use, dispose, store or generate any asbestct
or Hazardous Substances in violation of any applicable law, rule or regulation in the Property. In the eveS
such laws, rules or regulations require Landlord to remove or otherwise remedy the existence of any
asbestos or Hazardous Substances discovered on the Property, Landlord agrees to promptly remove cI
remedy the violation. Landlord agrees to indemnifu and hold Tenant hannless against any losses, damages,

costs, liabilities and claims suffered by Tenant in connection with a breach by Landlord of its obligation
set forth in this Section 9, except for such losses, damages, costs, liabilities and claims caused by Tenant's
neglige,nce or intentional misconduct.

IO. A}ITI-TERRORISM A}ID MONEY LAUNDERING REPRESENTATION ANF
INDEMMFICATION. Landlord certifies that: (i) neither it nor its managers, members or controllir-g

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St kase Page2 of 7

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 75 of 208



owners are acting, directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of any person, group, entity, or nation named ky
any Executive Order, the United States Departrnent of Justice, or the United States Treasury Department as
a terrorist, "Specially Designated National or Blocked Person," or other banned or blocked person, enti:y,
nation, or transaction p$suant to any law, ordero rule or regulation that is enforced or administered by tte
Office of Foreign Assets Control ("SDIV); (ii) neither it nor its managers, members, or controlling own6s
are engaged in this transaction, directly or indirectly on behalf of or instigating or facilitating this
transaction, directly or indirectly on behalf of, any such person, group, entity or nation; and (iii) neither it
nor its managers, members, or controlling oryners are in violation of Presidential Executive Arder 13221,
the USA Patriot Act, the Bank Secrecy Act, the Money Laundering Control Act or any regulatias
promulgated pursuant thereto, Landlord hereby agrees to defend, indemniff, and hold harmless Te,naat

from and against any and all claims, damages, losses, risks, liabilities and expenses (including reasonat'le
attorneys' fees and costs) arising from or related to any breach of the foregoing certification. Should
Landlord, during the tenn of this Lease, be designated an SDN, Tenant may, at its sole option, teirtina-
this Lease.

11, GeneralProvisions.

11.1 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit c',
and be enforceable by each ofthe Parties and their permitted successors and assigns, and shall inure to ti.:
further benefit of, and be enforceable by, any Tenant or transferee permitted by the Lease.

ll.2 Governinq Law. This Agreement shall be interpreted, governed, and consffueJ
under the laws of the State of Washington.

11.3 Amendment. Any amendments or waivers to this Agreement must be in writiag
and signed by each ofthe Parties.

ll.4 Disnute Costs. tn the event of any conflict, claim or dispute between the Parti=
hereto and arising out of or relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, whether or not such conflia,
claim or dispute has its basis in law or in equity, the prevailingParty shall be entitled to receive from tha
non-prevailing Party(ies) all reasonable costs and expenses of every sort whatsoever including, but n:t
limited to, arbitrators fees, mediation fees, deposition costs, expert witness fees, accounting expens;s
relating thereto, and actual attorneys fees incurred or expended whether or not arbitration or couJ
proceedings are initiated, and including all such costs or expenses incurred or expended in arbitration, in

trialn on appeal or in any bankruptcy or receivership proceeding.

11.5 Broker. Each Party represents that it has worked with no broker with respect :o
the Lease or this Agreement. Tenant and Landlord (each an'tndemnitor") agree to indemnify and ho-il
harmless the other Parties hereto, and their respective affiliates, successors and assigns, from and agairs
claims, actions, judgments, liabilities, payments, losses, damages and expenses, including reasonab&

attorney's fees and court costs, suffered or incu:red by reason ofthe indemnitor's breach ofits respective

representation in this Section.

11.6 Lesal Renresentation. Each Party acknowledges that it has been represented, c
has had an opportunity to obtain the representation of counsel with respect to this Agreement. Each Par:-1

represents to the others that it has read and understood the terms hereof and the consequences of executir-g
the Lease and this Agreement. The Parties agrce that the provisions of this Agreement shall not bc

construed against the Party who drafted the same.

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease * 600 Kitsap St Lease Page 3 of ?

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 76 of 208



11.7 Authoritv. Each person signing this Agreement on behalf of a Party represers
and warrants that he or she is authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of such Party, ard
that upon such person's execution hereof, this Agreement shall become binding upon such Party.

11.8 l)efined Terms. Terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings s=t
forth in the Lease.

11.9 Severabilitv. If any provision of this Agreemont or the application thereof to ar-y
person or circumstances slull, for any reason and to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the remainda
of this Agreement and the application of that provision to other persons or circumstances shall not I:e
affected but rather shall be enforced to the extent permitted by law,

11.10 Full Force and Effect. Except as specifically amended herein, all of the terrr-i,
provisions, covenants and conditions of the Lease shall remain unmodified and in fuIl force and effect. TL:s
Agreement shall supersede all prior agreements and understanding of the Parties hereto with respect to thr
subject matter hereof. In the event of any inconsistencies between any part of this Agreement and th:
Lease, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail. This Agreement may not be amended or modified irn

any manner other than in a writing signed by the Parties hereto, or their respective successors or assigns.

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank)

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St Lease Page 4 ofl

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 77 of 208



IN WTINESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the Effectir,.e
Date.

(Landlord)
Hillstrom Holdings, LLC,
A Washington limited liability

By:
Hillstrom

Its Manager

LANIDLORD ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF WASHINGTON

COI.INTY OF Ytlaap

This record was acknowledged before me on lL.lL^ . Zo ?i2022 (date),by Keith Hillstron
as Manager of Hillstrom Holdings, LLC.

Kiq e fuir*;trsr
Name: Ll rre, €. U-r-rndqr+(5 r-
Notary Public in and forthe State of Washington
Residing at Ut64? Cournt'1
My appointment expires: 7,5 -llJLb

)
)
)

ss.

Notary Publh
Statc of kshington

KIM E LUNDOUIST
License Numbcr [tt4{,,'

MYCOMMISSION EXPIREg
Julr 1. 2O26

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St Lease Page 5 of ir

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 78 of 208



(Tenant)
City of Port Orchrrd,
A Washington municipal corporation

\^OBy:
Rob Putaansuu,
Its l\[rje* \|4Wfo,_

Reviewed and approved:

Charlotte Archer
City Attorney

STATE OF WASHINGTON

COI.]NTY OF KITSAP

N D Y

02-0 ,.

TENANT ACKNOWLEDGMENT

N

)
)
)

ss.

This record was acknowledged before me on fV.C >A- ,2022(date), by Rob Putaansur
as Mayor of the City of Port Orchard.

Notary Public in and for the $tate of Washington

il'?ffiffiL?,k,W- /'>o>y

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St Lease Page 6 of ?

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 79 of 208



ExhibitA
Legal Description

LOTS 1, 4, AND 5, BLOCK 7, S.M. STEVENS' TOWN PLAT OF SIDNEY; ACCORDING TO TI{E
PLAT THEREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME I OF PLATS AT PAGB 1, RECORDS OF KITSAP
COUNTY, WASHINGTON;

TOGETIIER WITH THAT PORTION OF IINNAMED ALLEY AS CONi\MYED BY THE CTTY OF
PORT ORCHARD UNDER KITSAP COTINTY RECORDING NO. 3221209;

TOGETHER WTTH TIIAT PORTION OF UNNAMED AI,LEY AS CONVEYED BY fIAZELLE M.
SIMMONS UNDER KITSAP COTJNY RECORDING NO. 322121T.

First Amendment to City of Port Orchard Lease - 600 Kitsap St [rase Page 7 of?

DocuSign Envelope ID: 2672850D-60F5-4DD9-AD6C-19AB25565928

Page 80 of 208



flp
HIIISTROM HOTDINGS LLC

1lo2l CRAMEI? RD. NW
otc HARBOR, WA 98329

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT
Contract No.132-22

I. The Partles. This Commercial Lease Agreement ('Agreement') made this
December .20]2_by andberween:

Landlord. [Ii ttrra^sr.\ t|ulbf $ e g pandlord's Name], of
ttozr 4raa,*sn flrl N t^l . d<,< lJ*FoorL [Landlord's Street Address], State of
lfuA*,*n rr"rn.s,'("Landlord')

AND

Tenant. Ota [Tenant's Name], of
[Tenant's Street Address], State of

("Te,nanf). Collectively, the Landlord and Tenant shall be referred to herein
as the'?arties".

The Parties agree as follows:

II. DESCRIPTION OF LEASED PREMISES. The Landlord agrees to lease to the Tenant the

following described square fe* (SF) of commercial offipe space located at 6oa
. y't:rpa? -rr, P"oren r+AE)r.- UoA I

Additional Description: Unit Number g,urir{ts- zot

Hereinafter known as the'?remises".

m. USE OF LEASED PREMISES. The Landlord is leasing the Premises to the Tenant and the

Te,nant is hereby agreeing to lease the Premises for the following use and purpose: General ofiice
and administrative use.

Any change in use or purpose the Premises other than as described above shall be upon prior written
consent of Landlord only.

28 of

a_

IV. TERM OF LEASE. The tenn
commencing on the I day of
Bl daY of Ogz.errAr;a

V. BASE RENT. The net monthly payment shall be dollars
($_l , ? o o . - ), payable monthly with the first payrnent due upon the commencement of the
Lease and each monthly installment payable ttrereafter on the lr..r day of each month ('Base

Rent'). Rent payment for any period during the t€rm hereon, which is for less than I uionth shall

be a pro-rata portiou of the monthly rent.

ofthisleaseshallbeforaperiodof 3 year(s) / month(s)
rrrrrl^r _,2023-and expiring at Mfdnight on the

20et ("Irulid Term')

Page 81 of 208



a, payment of Rent. Tenant shall pay Landlord without notice, demandn deduction or offset,

in iawful money of the United States, the monthly Base Rent stated in this section in

advance on or 
-before 

the frst day of each month dwing the Term beginning on the

Commenceme,lrt Date, and shall also pay any other additional payments, including

Operating Costs, due to Landlord ('Addiiional Rent and together with Base Rent, uRent")

*il"o r.{uit"d under this Lease. All palments due to Landlord under this Lease, including

late fees and interest, shall also constitute Additional Rent, and upon Tenant's failure to

pay any such costs, charges or expenses? Landlord shall have the same rights and remedies

asbttrerwi*e provided in this Lease for the failure of Tenant to pay Rent'

b. Late Charges; Default fnterest If any strns payable by Tenant to Landlord under this

Lease are not received within five (5) business days after their due date, Tenant shall pay

Landlord an amount equal to the greater of $100 or SVo of the delinquent amount for the

cost of collecting and irandling such late payment in addition to the amount due and as

Additional Rent.-All delinquent sums payibl" by Tenant to Landlord and not paid within

five (5) business days after their due daie shall, at Landlord's option, bear. inlerest.at the

rate o1-l5% p", uooo*, or the highest rate of interest allowable by law, wiicheler is less

(the "Defauf Rate"). Inierest on uil delinquent amounts shall be calculated from the original

due date to the date of PaYment'

c. Less Than Full Payment. Landlord's acceptance of less than the firll arnount of any

payment due from Tlnant shall not be deemed an accord and satisfaction or compromise

of su"n paymeart unless Landlord specifically consents in writing to payment oJsuch.lesser

sum as an accord and satisfaction or compromise of the amount which Iandlord claims.

Any portion that rernains to be paid by ienant shall be subject to the late charges and

default interest provisions ofthis Section.

VI. pREpAID nnNf. Upon execution of this lease, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord the sum of

s js_ us prepaid Rent, to be applied to Base Rent due for the first month of the lease.

VII. SECURITY DEPOSIT. Upon execution of this lease, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a sum

"f 
$ i;..; to be held u. u r."*ity deposit pursuant to Section [] below. The security deposit

shall be in the form of cash, check, or wire transfer'

VlI. OPTION TO RENEW. Tenant may have the right to renew the Lease with a total of Z
renewal period(s) with each term being -g'y.*ttj'V^;;rh(s) which may be exercisfr-bl

giving written noiioe to Landlord oo tesJ man OO days pri6r to the expiration of the Lease or re'newal

period.

Rent for each option period shall: (check one)

E - Increase as calculated by multiplying the Base Rent by the annual change in the

Consumer price Index (CPI) published by the Bweau of Labor Statistics by the most recent

pirblication to the optionperiod start date'

{^"r"ur"by {o/o t4x^,u*/17 6n l-l- oP' 1ry* Yeac'

E - Increase by dollars

Page 2 of 18

Page 82 of 208



D(. OPERATING COSTS

a. Definition. As used herein, "Ope,lating Costs" shall mean all costs of operating'

maintaining and repairing the Premises,lhe Boilding, and the Properfy, detennined in

accordance with generalliaccepted accounting principles, and including without timitation
the following: all taxes and assessments (fnciuding, but not limited to, real and personal

property taxes and assessments, local improvement dislrict assessments and other special

purpose assessments, and taxes on rent br gross receipts); insurance premiums paid by

Landlord and (to the extent used) deductibles for insurance applicable to the,Property;

water, ,.*", *d all other utility charges (other than utilities separately metered 9d paid

direcry by Tenant or other t€nants);janitorial and all other cleaning services; refuse and

trash removal; supplies, materials, iools, and equipment used in the operation, repair, and

maintenance of the Property; refurbishing and repainting; carpet replacement; to the extent

serving areas other than just the Premises, heating, ventilation and air conditioning

(*HVIC") service, repair and replacement when necessary; elevator service and repair and

replacement of elevators when necessary; pest confrol; ttghl9g systems, fire detection and

security services; landsoape maintenance; manageme,tf (fees and/or personnel costs);

parkid lot, road, sidewalk'and driveway patching, resurfacing and maintenrmce; 1n3w 
and

ice rerioval; repair, mainte,nance, and, wliere reasonably required, replacemont of signage;

amortization oicapital improvements as Landlord may in the future install to comply with

governmental r"gdatio"s and rules or undertaken in good faith with a reasonable

Ixpectation of ie?ucing Operating Costs (the useful life of which shall be a reasonable

period of time as deteririnid by iandlord) costs 
9_f l.g?t services (except those incurred

'rlirectly 
relating to a particular occupant of the Building); and accounting services, labor,

suppliis, mateials and tools. Landlord and Tenant agree that if the Building is not 90%

o".upi"O during any calendar year (including the Base Year, if applicable), on a monthly

uo"rig", then tiose portions ofthe Operating Costs that are driven by occupancy rates, as

reasoiably det.*i*a fy Landlord" shall be increased to reflect the Operating Costs of the

Building as though it were 90% occupied and Tenant's Pro Rata Sbare of Operating Costs

shall be based uion Operating Costs as so adjusted. Operating Costs shall not include:

Landlord's income tax or general corporate overhead; depreciation or amortization on the

Building or equipment frerein; loaln or ground lease payments; rgal estate broker's

comrrissionr; 
"upitut 

improvements to or major repairs of the Building shell (i.e., the

Building structure, exterior walls, roo! and structural.floors and foundations), exc€pt to

the exte,lrt 
"*pr"r*iy 

permitted above; any costs regarding the operation, maintenance and

repair of the premises, the Building, or the Property paid directly by Tenant or othet tenants

inine Adtaing or otherwise reimbgrsed to Landlord, or other cost for which another party

is required to iuy Landlord (except as part of operating cost recoveries under other tenant

leases) ,o thut iandlord shall noi r""ou"r anylt"m ofcost-rnore than once. IfTenant is

rentin! a paa separate from any other structures on the Property for which Landlord

separaiely'furnisies the services described in this paragraph, then the term "Operating

Costs,, shall not include those costs of operating, t"pairing, and maintaining the enclosed

mall which can be separatd allocated to the tenants of the other structures. Oper*ing

Costs which cannot U" separatety allocated to the tenants of other structures may include

but are not limited to: insuranse premiums; taxes and assessments; management (fees

and/or personnel costs); exterior lighting; parking lot, road, sidewalk and driveway

patching, resurfacing ani maintenanci; rttow and ice removal; and costs of legal services

and accounting services.

Page 3 of 18

Page 83 of 208



b. Type of payment. As Additional Rent, Tenant shall pay to Landlord on the first day of
each month with payrnent of Base Rent one-twelfth of Tenant's Pro Rata Share of
Operating Costs, *fritU amount is determined in the manner set forth in Section D((c)

below,

c. Method of PaymenL Tenant shall pay to Landlord Operating Costs pursuant to the

following procedure:

i. Landlord shalt provide to Tenant, on or before the Commencement Date, a good faith

estimate of annual Operating Costs for the calendar year in which the Commence,ment

Date occgrs. Landloid shall also provide to Tenant, as soon as possible following the

first day of each succeeding calendar year, a good faith estimate of Tenant's annual Pro

Rata Share of Operating Costs for the then-current year'

ii. Each estimate of Tenant's annual Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs detemrined by

Landlord, as described above, shall be divided :nrta L2 equal monthly installments.

Tenant shall pay to Landlord iuch monthly instalbnent of Operating Costs.with eaoh

monthly payment of Base Rent. In the event the estimated amount of Tenant's Pro Rata

Share of Operating Costs has not yet been determined for any calendar year, Tenant

shall pay the montily installment in the estimated amount determined forthe preceding

calendar year until 
-the 

estimate for the current calendar year has been provided to

Tenant. When the estimate for the current calendar year is received, Tenant shall then

pay any shortfall or receive a credit for any surplus fot 49 preceding months of the

current calendar year and shall, thereafter, make the monthly installment payments in

accordance with the cu:rent estimate.

iii. As soon as reasonably possible following the end of each calendar year dr:ring the

Term, Landlord shall provide to Tenant a itatement (the I'Operating Costs Statementr)

setting forth the amount of Operating Costs actually incuned and the amount of
Tenant's pro Rata Share of Operating Costs actually payable by Tenant with respect to

such calendar year. In the event thJamount of Tenant's Pro Rata Share of Operating

Costs exceedr'th" r* of the monthly installments actually paid by Tenant for such

calendar year, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the difference within 30 days following

receipt oi ttri Operating iosis Staternent. In the event the sum of the monthly

installments actualty puia ry Tenant for such calendar year exceeds the amount of
Tenant,s pro Rata Share ofOperating Costs actually due and owing, the differencglhgtt

be applied as a credit to Tenant's future Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs payablety

Tenant pursuant to this Section, or if the Term has expired, the excess shall be refunded

to Tenant within 30 days after delivery of such Operating Costs Staternent'

iv. Should Tenant disputaany amount shown on the operating costs statement, Tenant

may audit l-andl&d's books and records for the calendar year covered by such

Oplrating Costs State,ment upon written notice to Landlord given within 90 days after

Tinant's ieceipt of such Operating Costs Statement. If Tenant fails to provide notice of

dispute within such 90- day period, the Operating Costs Statement shall be final and

conclusive. Any aqdit coniucted by Tenant shall be completed within 60 days after

Tenant,s requesi therefor. If Landloid concurs with the audit results, and (x) if the audit

reveals that Tenant's Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs exceeds the sum ofthe monthly

installments actually paid by Tenant for such calendar year, Tenant shall pay 1o

Landlord the difference within 30 days following completion of the audit; or (y) If the

audit reveals that the sum of the monthly installments actually paid !f Tenant for such

calendar year exceeds the amount of Tenant's Pro Rata Share of operating costs

Page 4 of 18

Page 84 of 208



actualty due and owing, the difference shall be applied as a credit.to Tenant's future

pro Rajta Share of Operating Costs payable by Tenant pursuant to this Section, or if the

term has expired, th" "*""tt 
shall be refirnded to Tenant within 30 days after

completion oithe audit. If Landlord does not concur with the results of Tenant's audit,

the parties shall within twenty (20) days thereafter agree on a neutral auditor who shall

complete an audit within thirty (30) days after selection, and the decision of the neutral

audiior shall be binding on the partiei. fne parties shall share evenly in the costs of
any zuch neutral auditJr. Landlord and Tenant shall cooperate as may be reasonably

,r.l"rrury in order to facilitate the timely completion of any audit. Nothing in this

Section tnun itt any manner modiff Tenant's obligations to make payments as and

whenprovided under this Lease.

X. DGENSES.

TRIpLE NET NNI$. Tenant's Initials Landlord's Initials - K* bOe-g rsorAqatf Q

It is the intention of the Parties that this Lease shall be considered a "Triple Net Lease"'

a.Operatins Expenses. The Landlord shall have no obligation to provide arry_services,

perform any actso or pay expenses, charges, obligations or costs olany kind whatsoever
-",i 

rt t"rp"j to the piemi."*. th" renant hereby agrees to payf-Percent (-%)
of any and all Operating Expeirses as hereafter defined for the entire term of the Lease

and any extensions th..*f in accordance with specific provisions hereinafter set forth

(Tenant's pro Rata Share). The Pro Rata Share is based on the ratio of the rentabie area

of the premises states in Section IL Tenant?s Base Rent and Pro Rata Share shall be

proportionally adjusted in the event of any adjustrnent to the Premises, Building's, or

broperty's r"otuOir floor area. The term "Operating Expenses" shall include all costs to

the Landlord of operating and maintaining the Prernises as noted in Section D(.

b.Taxes. Tenant shall pay all taxes, assessmentso liens and license fees ("Taxes") levied,

assessed or imposedby any authority having the direct or indirect power to tax or assess

any such liens, relatedio or requiredby Tenant's use of the Premises as well as all Taxes

onTenant's personal propertyiocatedon the Premises. Landlord shall pay all taxes and

assessm€,ot s wlth ru.pr"t to the Property, all of which shall be included in Operating

Costs and subject to pirtiat reimbursement by tenant as set forth in Section D(.

c.Insurance.
a.Tenant's Liabitity fnsurance. During the Term, Tenant shall pay for and

maintain commercial general liability insurance with broad form property

damage and contractual liability endorsernents. This policy shall (i) contain an

endoriement identifuing Landiord, its property manager (if any), 1nd 
other

parties designated by L-andlorA, as additional insureds u5ing an endorsement

for- u...pt".ble to Landlord, (ii) insure Tenant's activities and those of Tenantrs

employees, officers, agents, Selvants, conhactors, customers, clients, visitors,

guests, or other licensJes or invitees with respect to the Premises against loss,

a"*ug" or liability for personal injury or bodily injury (including death) or loss

o, dufrug. to property *lttt u combined single limit of not less than $2,000,000

p", o""rit*"i, anO a dedustible of not more than $10,000, and (iii) contain a

provision requiring the insurer to deliver or mail written notice of cancellation

to the ,ru*"b inslureds at least (45) days before the effective date of the

canoellation. Tenant's insgrance will be primary and noncontributory with any

Page 5 of 18

Page 85 of 208



liability inswance carried by Landlord. Landlord may also require Tenant to

obtain and maintain at Tenant's sole cost business income coverage for at least

six (6) months, business auto liability coverage, and, if applicable to Tenantrs

Permitted Use, liquor liability insqrance and/or warehouseman's coverage

b.Tenantts Property Insurance. During the Term, Tenant shall pay for and

rnaintain special form clauses of lois coverage property insurance (with

coverage for earthquake if required by Landlord's lender and, if the Premises are

situatea in a flood plain, flood damage) for all of Tenant's personal pfoperty,

fixtures and equipment, Tenant's Work, and Alterations, in the amount of theil

full replacement value, with a deductible of not more than $10'000'

c.Miscellnneous. Tenant's insurance required under this Section shall be with

companies rated A-NfI or better in Best's Insurance Guide, and which are

admltted in the State of Washington. No insurance policy shall be cancelled or

reduced in coverage and each such policy shall provide that it is not subject to

cancellation or a reduction in coverage except after 30 days prior written notice

to Landlord. Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, prior to Tenant's first taking

pgssession of or occupying the Prernises, and from time to time thereafter, copies

of th" i***.e policies or evidence of insurance and copies of endorsemeirts

required by this Section. In no event shall the limits of such policies be

considered-as limiting the liability of Tenant under this Lease. If Tenant fails to

acquire or maintain any insurance or provide any policy or widence of insurance

required by this Section, and such failure oontinues for three (3) days afternotice

from Landlord, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, obtain such insuance

for Landlord's benefit and Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the costs of suoh

insurance upon demand. Such amounts shall be Additional Rent payable by

Tenant here-under and in the event of non-payment thereof, Landlord shall have

the same rights and remedies with respect to such non-payment as it has with

r€spect to any other non-payment of Rent herermder'

d.Landlord's Insurance. Iandlord shall carry special form clauses of loss

coverageproperty insurance ofthe Building shell and core inthe amount of th€it

full replacement value, liability insurance with reqpect to the Common Areas,

and such other insurance of such types and amounts as Landlord, in its discretion,

shall deem reasonably appropriate. The cost of any such insurance shall be

included in Operating Coits,-and if such insurance is provided by a "blanket

policy" insuring othei parties or locations in addition to the Building, then only

ine p'ortion of ihe premiums allocable to the Building and Property shall be

included in Operating Costs.

e. Waiver of Subrogation. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Lease to

the contrary, Landlord and Tenant hereby release each other and any other

tenant, theii agents or employees, from responsibility for, and waive their entire

claim ofr""oi"ry for any loss ot damage arising from any cause covered by

insurance required to be carried or otherwise carried by each of them' Each party

shall providinodce to the insurance carrier or carriers of this milual waiver of
subrogation, and shall cause its respective insurance carriers to waive all rights

of subiogation against the other. This waiver sball not apply to thtr extent of the

deductible amounts to any zuoh policies or to the extent of liabilities exceeding

the limits of zuch policies.

Page 6 of 18

Page 86 of 208



XI. UTILITIES AI\D SERVICES. Landlord shall provide the following services for the Premises

(7) days per week, (24) hours per day, the cost of which shall be included in the Operating Costs

to tneLxient not separately metered to and exclusively serving the Premises (with the costs of such

separately metered-servic-es to be directly billed to and paid by Tenant): water; electricity; sewer;

trash and/or recycling removal; and HVAC. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Tenant's use of the

premises incurs utitity service charges which are above those usual and customary for the Petmitted

Use, Landlord reserves the right to require Tenant to pay a reasonable additional charge for such

usage.

Tenant shall fumish all other utilities (including, but not limited to, telephone, internet, and cable

service if available) and other services which Tenant requires with respect to the Premises, and

shali pay, at Tenant's sole expense, the cost of all utilities separately metered to the Prernises, and

of all,-otter utilities and othei services which Tenant requires with respect to the Premises, except

those to be provided by Landlord and included in Operating Expenses as described above. Landlord

shall not te liaule for any loss, injury or damage to p€rson or property caused by or resulting from

any variation, intemrptior\ or failurl of utilities dui to any cause whatsoever, and Rent shall not

abate as a result thereof.

'ilI. 
LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS. The Tenant agrees that no leasehold improve'meots,

alterations or changes ofany natuf,e, (except for those listed on any attached addenda) shall be made

to the leasehold prirnises or the exterior of th" building without frst obtaining the consent of the

Landlord in writing, which consent shalt not be unreasonably wittrheld, and thereafter, any and all

leasehold improvements made to the Premises which become affixed or attached to the leasehold

premises shatl remain the property of the Landlord at the expiration or termination of this Lease

Agfeement. Furthermore, any leasehold improvements shall be made only in acsordance with

ap-plicable federal, state oi local codes, ordinances or regulations, having due regard for the type of
construction of the building housing the subject leasehold Premises. If the Tenant makes any

improvements to the PremiJes the Tenant shall be responsible for payme,lrt, except the following

Nothing in the Lease shall be construed to authorize the Tenant or any other person acling for the

Tenantlo encurnber the rents of the Premises or the interest of the Tenant in the Premises or any

p;;r;; gnder and through whom the Tenant has acquired its interest in the Premises with a

mecbanic,s lien or urry 6th.r type of encumbrance. Under no circumstance shall the Tenant be

construed to be the agent, employee or representative of Landlord. tr the event a lien is placed

against the Premises,ibrough actions of the Tenant, Tenant will promptly pay the same or bond

"E"i*t 
the same and take s6ps immediately to have such lien removed. If the Tenant fails to have

ih"" fi"o removed, the Landlord shall take steps to r€move the liEn and the Tenant shall pay

Landlord for all expenses related to the Lien and re,nroval thereof and shall be in default of this

Lease.

Leasehold improvements shall include (i) any ofTenant's work approved by Landlord; (ii) Tenanfs

Signug" (as nrrttrer provided in Section.[]), or (iii) the installation of shelves, movable partitions,

T'iant's iquipment andtrade fixtures thaimay be installedandremovedvrithout damaging existing

iorpto""*""tr or the structural iniegrity of the Premises, the Building, or the Property. Tenant shall

p"tfo* all work at Tenant's 
"*p"t 

r=" and in compliance with all applicable laws and shall complete

all Alterations in accordanc" tith plans and specifications approved by Landlord, using-contractors

upp*u.a by Landlord, and in a manner so as not to unreasonably interfere with other tenants.

i**t shali pay when due, or furnish a bond for payment of (as set Pfih in Section 20), all claims

for labor o. *uir"iul, furnished to or for Tenant at, or for use in, the Premises, which claims are or

Page 7 of 18

Page 87 of 208



may be secured by any mechanics' or materialmens' liens against the Premises or the Property or

any interest therein.

)ilII. Common Areas.

a. Definition. The term "Common Areas" means all areas, facilities and building systems that are

provided and designated from time to time by Landlord for the general non-exclusive use and

con renience ofTJnant and other tenants ofthe Property and which are not leased or held for

the exclusive use of a particular tenant. To the extent that such areas and facilities exist within

the Property, Common Areas include hallways, entryways, stairs, elevators, drivewayso

walkways, terraces, docls, loading areas, restrooms, trash facilities, parking areas and garages,

roadways,-pedestrian sidewalks, landscaped areas, security areas, lobby or mall areas, common

ffVAC iystems, common electrical reruice, equipment and facilities, and cotnmon mechanical

systems, equipment and facilities. Tenant shall comply with, and shall use commercially

reasonable efforts to cause its employees, officers, agents, servants, contf,actors, customers,

clients, visitors, guests, or other licensees or invitees to comply with, reasonable rules and

regulations conceming the use of the Common Areas adopted by landlord from time to time,

anl shall not interferJ with the use of Common Areas by others. Without advance notice to

Tenant and without any liability to Tenant, Landlord may change the size, uso, or nature of any

Common Areas, ,r.ri i-pron.*ents on the Common Areas or convert any portion of the

Common Areas to the exclusive use of Landlord or selected tonants, so long as Tenant is not

thereby deprived ofthe substantial benefit ofthe Pretnises. landlord reserves the use ofexterior

walls and the roof of the Building and other irnprovements at the Property, and the right to

install, maintain, uSe, repair and replace pipes, ducts, conduits, and wires lg6ding through the

premises in areas which will not materially interfere with Tenant's use thereof'

b. Use of the Common Areas. Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right, in common with such

other tenants of the Property to whom Landlord has granted or may gant zuch rights, to use

the Common Areas.

c. Maintenance of the Common Areas. Landlord shall maintain the Common Areas in good

order, condition and repair. This maintenance cost shall be includable in Operating Costs

pursuant to Section X. fn performing such maintenance, Landlord shall use commercially

ieasonable efforts to minimile interference with Tenant's use and eqioyurent of the Premises'

)ilV. LICENSES AI\D PERMITS. A copy of any and all local, state or federal pemrits acquired

by the Tenant which are required for the use of ttre Premises shall be kept on site at all times and

shall be readily accessible and produced to the Landlord and/or their agents or any local, state, or

federal officials upon demand'

xv. REPAIRS AND MAINTENAIIGE; sIIRRENDER. Tenant shall, at its sole cost and

.*pror., maintain the entire Premises in good condition and promptly make all n9n1t11ctural

r.puitr and replacements necessary to keeplhe Premises safe and in good condition, including aU

HVAC components and other utilities and systems to the extent exclusively serving the Premises.

landlord shall maintain and repair the Building structure, foundation, zubfloor, exterior walls, roof

structure and surface, and HVAC components and other utilities and systems to the exlen! selrring

m*" trr* just the premises, and the common Areas. ttre costs of which shall be included as

ilpo"tirg Costs unless otherwise expressly excluded pursuant to Section 8(a). Tenant shall not

Ju*ug. iny demising wall or disturbthe structural integrity of the Prelnisesn the Building, or the

P.p.iy uod *hull piomptly re,pair any damage or rng'ury done to any such demising walls or

stnrctural elements causid by Tenant or its employees, officers, agents, s€wants, contractors,

Page 8 of 18

Page 88 of 208



customers, clients, visitors, guests, or other licensees or invitees. Notwithstanding anything in this

Section to the contrary, Tenant shall not be responsible for any repairs to the Pr_emises made

necessary by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or its employees, officers, agents,

servants, contractors, Customers, clients, visitors, guests, or other liconsees or invitees therein. If
Tenant fuih to perform Tenant's obligations under this Section, Landlord may at Landlord's option

enter upon the Premises after 10 days'prior notice to Telrant and put the sa:ne-in good order,

condition and repair and the cost thereof, together with interest thereon at the Default Rate set forth

in Section +, shall be due and payable as Additional Rent to Landlord together with Tenant's next

installment of Base Rent. Upon expiration or earlier tennination of the Term, Tenant shall promptly

and peacefully surrender the Premises to Landlord, together with all keys, in materially as good

condition as when received by Tenant from Landlord or as thereafter improved (but subject-to any

obligations to remove any ienant's Work and Alterations and/or restore the same as further

proid.d in this Lease), reasonable wear and tear and insured casualty excepted'

XVI. ACCESS AND RIGHT OF ENTRY. After 24 hours'notice from Landlord (except in cases

of emergency, when no notice shall be required), Tenant shall pemrit Landlord and its agents,

employis ani contractors to enter the Prernises at all reasonable times to make repairs, inspections,

alterations or improvements, provided that Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to minimize

interference with Tenant's use and enjoynent of the Premises. This Section shall not impose any

repair or other obligation upon Landlbrd not expressly stated elsewhere in this Lease' After

reasonable notice to Tenant, Landlord shall have the right to enter the Premises for the purpose of

ia) showing the premises io prospective purchasers or lenders at any time, and to_pmspective

ienants *itiin 180 days prior io the expiration or sooner termination of the Term; and O) posting

"for lease,' sigrrs within f8O duy, prior to the expiration or soonertermination of the Term'

XV[. SIGNAGE. Tenant shall obtain Landlord's written consent as to size, location, materials,

method of attachment, and appearance, before installing any signs upon the Premises. Tenant shall

install and maintain any approved signage ("Sigpage") at Tenant's sole expenset"d T compliance

*itft uff applicable tu*r. e"V Signage irstalled by Tenant shall be removed from the Premises,

Building and nroperty at Tenant'J expense upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Terrn.

Te,nant lhail not au*ugr or deface the Premises in installing or removing Signage and shall repair

any injury or damage to the Premises caused by such installation or removal.

XVItr. INSURANCE. In the event the Tenant shall fail to obtain iruurance required hereunder

and fails to maintain the same in force continuously during the term, Landlord may, but shall not

be required to, obtain the same and charge the Tenant for same as additional rent. Furthermore,

Tenant agrees not to keep upon the Prerrises any ardcles or goods which may be prohibited by the

standard-form of fire insurancE policy, and in the eveirt the insurance rates applicable to fire and

extended coverage covering the Prernises shall be increased by reason ofany use ofthe Premises

made by Tenant, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, upon de,lnand such increase in insurance

premium as shad be caused by said uie or Tenant's proportionate share ofany such increase.

XD(. SUBLETiASSIGNMENT. Tenant shall not assign, sublet, mortgage, encumber or otherwise

iru^fo any interest in this Lease (collectively referred to as a_ "Transfer") or any part of the

premises, without first obtaining Landlord's written consent, which shall not be unreasonably

*itf,ft"fa, 
"onditioned, 

or delayed- No Transfer shall relieve Tenant of any liability under this Lease

notwithsianding Landiord's consent to such Transfer. Consent to any Transfer shall not operate as

a waiver of the necessity for Landlord's consent to any subsequent Transfer. In connection with

each request for consentio a Transfer, Tenant shall pay the reasonable cost ofprocessing the same,

including attomeys' fees, upon demand of Landlord, up to a maxinrum of $1,250.

Page I of 18

Page 89 of 208



Any transfer of this Lease by merger, consolidation, redertption or liquidation of Tenant, or any

change in the ownership of or power to vote, which singularly or collectively represents a majority

of the beneficial interest in Tenant, shall constitute a Transfer under this Section.

As a condition to Landlord's bpproval, if given, any potential assignee or sublessee otherwise

approved by Landlord shall assume all obligations of Tenant under this Lease and shall be jointly

and severaliy liable with Tenant and any guarantor for the payment of Rent and performance of all

obligations if Tenant under this Lease. In connection with any Transfer, Tenant shall provide

tanilord with copies of all assignments, subleases and assumption agreements and related

documents.

XX. L6NS. Tenant is not authorized to subject the Landlordts assets to any liens or claims of lien.

Tenant shall keep the Property and Premises free from any liens created by or through Tenant.

Tenant shall indemni$, difend, and hold Landlord and the Property and Premises harrnless from

liability for any such iiens including, without limitation, liens arising from any of Tenant's Work

or Alterations. If a lien is filed against the Premises by any person claiming by, through or under

Tenant, Tenant shall have the right to contest the correctness or validity of the lien, provided,

however, within l0 days after Landlord's dernand, at Tenant's expsrse, Tenant shall either remove

the lien, or shall procure and record a lien release bond issued by a surety satisfactory to Iandlord

in fomr and amount sufficient to satisfu statutory requirements for satisfaction and release of the

subject lien(s) from the Premises and Property. Tenant shall inde,mniff landlord, the Premises, and

the Property from and against all liabilities, costs and expenses, including attorneys'fees, which

Landlord could reasonably inour as a result of such lien.

)Ofi. DAMAGE OR COTIDEMNATION.

a. Damage and Repair. If the Prernises or tle portion of the Building or the Property

o.."*rury for Tenant's occupancy are partially damaged by fue or other insured casualty

but not rindered untenantable, then Landlord shall diligently restofe the Premises and the

. portion ofthe Propertynecessary forTenant's occupancyto the extentrequiredbelorv and

ihi. l.ur. shall not terminate. Tenant may, however, terminate the Lease if Landlord is

unable to restore the Premises within six (6) months of the casualty event by giving 20

days' written notice of terminatioo,

The Premises or the portion of the Building or the Property necessary for Tenant's

occupanoy shall not be deemed untenantable if 25% or less of each ofthose areas are

aarnagea. ff insurance proceeds are not available ot are not sufficient to pay the entire cost

of resioring the Premises, or if Landlord's lender does not permit all or any part of the

insurance proceeds to be applied toward restoration, then Landlord may eleot to terminate

this Lease and keep the insurance proceeds, by notifuing Tenant within 60 days of the date

of such casualty.

11' the Premises, the portion of the Building or the Property necessary for Tenant's

occupancy, or 5}o/o or more of the rentable area of the Property are entird destroyed, or

parfially damaged and rendered untenantable, by fue or olher casualty, Landlord may, at

its option: (a) ienninate this Lease as provided herein, or ft) restore the Premises and the

portion of tii noperty necessary for Tenant's occupancy to their previous condition to the

ixtent required beiow; provided" however, if zuch casualty event occtus during the last six

(6) months of the Tenn (after considering any option to extend the terrr timely exercised

Uy fenant) thEn either Tenant or Landlord may elect to terminate the Lease. I{, within 60

days aftei receipt by Landlord from Tenant of written notice that Tenant deems the

Page 10 of18

Page 90 of 208



premises or the portion of the Property necessary for Tenant's occupancy untenantable,

Landlord fails to noti$ Tenant ofiti election to restore those areas, or iflandlord is unable

to restore tfiose areas within six (6 )months of the date of the casualty event, then Tenant

may elect to temrinate the Lease upon 20 days'notice to Landlord unless Landlord, within

*o.it ZO day period, notifies Tenant that it will in fact restore the Premises or actually

completes zuJh restoration work to the extent required below, as applicable.

If Landlord restores the Premises or the Property under this Section, Landlord shall proceed

with reasonable diligence to complete the work, and Base Rent shall be abated in the same

proportion as the untenantable portion of the Premises bears to the whole Premises,

p*uia.O tlut there shall be a Basi Rent abatement only if the damage or destruction of the

premises or the Property did not result from, or was not contributed to directly or indirectly

by the act, fault or neglect ofTenant, or Tenant's employees, ofEceN, agents, servants,

contfactors, customers;c[ents, visitors, guests, or other licensees or invitees. No damages,

compensation or claim shall be payable by Landlord for inconvenience, loss of business or

annoyance directly, incidentally or consequentially arising from any repair or restoration

of any portion of ihe premises or the Property. Landlord shall have no obligation to carry

insurance of any kind for the protection of Tenant; any Alterations or improvements paid

for by Tenant; 3igoug"; Tenant's fi:miture; of on any fixtures, equipment, improvements

or appurtenances-ofTenant under this Lease, and Landlordrs restoration obligations

hereqnder shall not include any obligation to repair any damage thereto or replace the sarne.

b. Condemnation. If the Prernises, the portion of the Building or the Property necessary for

Tenant,s ocoupancy, or 50% or more of the rentable area of the Property are nrade

untenantable by eminent domain, or conveyed under a threat of condemnation, this Lease

shall tenninate at the option of either Landlord or Tenant as of the earlier of the date title

vests in the condemning authority or the condemning authority first has posse_ssion of the

premises or the portioolf ttr" Properfy taken by the condeurning authority. All Rents and

other payments shall be paid to that date'

If the condernning authority takes a portion of the Preryrises or of the Building or the

property o"""6*! for Tenant's oscupancy that does not render them untenantable, then

this fease shall continue in frrll force and effect and Rent shall be equitably reduced based

on the proportion by which the floor area of any $tructures is reduced. The reduction in

Rent shall be effective on the earlier of the date &e condemning authority first has

possession of suoh portion or title vests in the condemning authority. The Pre,mis_es or the

portion of the nuilding or the Property necessary for Tenant's occupancy shall not be

deemed untenantable if ZSWor less of iach of those areas ate condemned. Landlord shall

be entitled to the entire award from the condemning authority attributable to the value of

the premises or the Building or the Property and Tenant shall make no claim for the value

of its leasehold. Tenant shall be permitted to make'a separate claim against the condemning

authority for moving expenses, provided that in no event shall Tenant's claim reduce

Landlord's award.

)Oil. DErAIILT AND POSSESSION. Each of the followi4g events shall be an "Event of

Defaulf'by Tenant under this Lease:

a. Failure To Pay. Failure by Tenant to pay any sum' including Rent, due under this L€ase

following five (5) days'notice from Landlord of the failure to pay'

Page 11 of18

Page 91 of 208



b. Vacation/Abandonment. Vacation by Tenant of the Prenrises (defined as an absence for

at least 15 consecutive days without prior notice to LandtorQ, or abandonr:nent by Tenant

of the premises (defined as an absence of five (5) days or more while Tenant is in breach

of some other term of this Lease). Tenant's vacation or abandonment of the Prerrises shall

not be subject to any notice or right to cure.

c. Insolvency. Tenant's insolvency or bankruptcy (whether voluntary or invohurtary); or

appointment of a reoeiver, assignee or other liquidating offtcer for Tenantts business;

piovided, however, that in the event ofany involuntary banlruptcy or other,insolvency

proceeding, the existence of such proceeding shall constitute an Event of Default only if
suctr proceeding is not dismissed or vacated within 60 days after its institution or

commencernent.

d. Levy or Execution. The taking of Tenant's interest in this lease or the Premises' or any

partihereof, by execution or otf,er process oflaw directed against Tenant, or attachment of
Tenant's interest in this Lease by any creditor of Te,lrant, if such attachment is not

discharged within 15 days after being levied'

e. Other Non-Monetary Defaults. The breach by Tenant of any agreement, term or covenant

of this Lease other than one requiring the payment ofmoney and not otherwise enumerated

in this Section or elsewhere inthis i"ur", which breach continues for a period of 30 days

after notice by Landlord to Tenant of the breach, provided that, if the nature of zuch default

is such that it cannot be cured within such 30 day period, no Event of Default shall occur

so long as Tenant commences such cure within 30 days of notice by Landlord and diligently

p*ruJ. such cure to completion, but in no event longer than 60 days from the date of
Landlord's notice,

f, Failure to Take Possession. Failure by Torant to take possession of the Premises on the

Commence;nent Date following five (5) days notice fromthe Landlord of Te,lrant's failure

to take Possession.

Landlord shall not be in default unless Landlord fails to perform obligations required oflandlord

within 30 days notice to Landlord by Tenant provided that, if the nature of such default is such that

it oannot be cured within such 3it day period, Landlord shall not be in default if Landlord

coillmences such cure within 30 days of notice by Tenant and diligently pursues such cuJ.e to

completion. If Landlord fails to cure any such default within the allotted time, Tenant's sole remedy

shall be to seek actual mon€y damages (but not consequential or punitive damages) for loss arising

from Landlord's failure to discharg;ts obligations under this Lease. Nothing herein contained shall

relieve Landlord from its duty tJperform any of its obligations to the standard prescribed in this

Lease.

Any riotice periods granted herein shall be deemed to run concurrently with and not in addition to

any default noticeperiods required by law'

y;iilI. REMEDIES. Landlord shail have the following remedies upon an Event of Default.

iandtord's rights and remedies under ihis lease shall be ctunulative and not exclusive.

a. Terminntion of Lease. Landlord may terrninate Tenant's interest und the Lease, but no act

by Landlord other than notice of termination from Landlord to Tenant shall terminate this

Lease. The Lease shall terminate on the date specified in the notice of termination' Upon

termination of this Lease, Tenant will remain liable to Landlord for damages in an amount

Page 12 of 18

Page 92 of 208



equal to t and other sums that would have been owing by Tenant under this Lease for the

balance of the Tenn, less the net proceeds, if any, of any reletting of the Premises by

Landlord subsequent to the temrination, after deducting all of Landlord's Reletting

Expenses (as dofrned below). Landlord shall be entitled to either collect damages from

tenantmonthly onthe days onwhichrent oroth€ramounts wouldhavebeenpayableunder

the Lease, or altematively Landlord may accelerate Tenant's obligations under the Lease

and recover from Tenant: (i) unpaid rent which had bee,n earned at the time of tErmination;

(ii) the amount by which ttt" *paia rent which would have been earned after termination

,*til thu ti*" of award exceeds the amount of rent loss that Tenant proves could reasonably

have been avoided; (iii) the amount by which the unpaid rent for the balance of the temr of
the L,ease after the time of award exceeds the amount of rent loss that Tenant proves could

reasonably be avoided (discounting such amount by the discount rate of the Federal

Reserve gutrk of San Francisco at the time of the award, plus 1 To); and (iv) any other

amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all the detriment proximately caused by

Tenant's failure to perfomr its obligations under the Lease, or which In the ordinary course

would be likely to result from the Event of Default, including without limitationReletting

Bxpenses described below.

b. Re-Entry and Reletting. Landlord may continue this Lease in full force and effect, and

without demand or notici, re-enter and take possession of the Premises or any part thereof

expel the Tenant from the Premises and anyone claiming tFolgh or under the Tenant, and

,"*ou" the personal property of either' Landlord may relet the Premises' or any part of

them, in Landlord's oit**i'r ou*e for the account of Tenant, for such period of time and

at zuch other terrns and conditions as Landlord, in its discretion, may determine' Landlord

may collect and receive the rents for the Prenises. To the fullest extent permitted by law,

the proceeds of any reletting shall be applied: first, to pay Landlord all Reletting Expenses

(defined below); second, tJ pay any indebtedness of Tenant to landlord other than relrt;

t'hird, to the rent due anA unpaid herLunder; and fourth, the residue, if any, shall beheld by

Landlord and applied in payment of other or future obligations of Tenant to Landlord as

the same ."y biro*r due-and payable, and Tenant shall not be entitled to receive any

portion of srrih revenue. Re-entry or taking possession of the Premises by Landlord under

ihis Section shall not be construed as an election on Laodlord's part to terminate this Lease,

unless a notice of termination is given to Tenant Landlord reserves the right following any

re-entry or reletting, or both, under this Section to exercise its right to terminate the Lease'

Tenantwill pay Lirdlord Rent and other sums which would be payeble under this I'ease if
,"porr"rsiot had not occurred, less the net proceeds, if any3fterreletting the Premiles and

ader deducting Landlord's Reietting Expenses. "Reletting Expenses'i is defined to include

all expenses incurred by Landlord in ionnection with reletting the Premises, including

without limitation, all repossession costs, brokerage commissions and costs for securing

new tenants, attorneys' fees, remodeling and repair costs, costs for rernOving persons of

property, costs for- storing Tenant's property and equipment, and costs of tenant

hpt*oo*ts and rent conJessions grantedby Landlord to any new Tenant, prorated over

the life of the new lease.

c, Waiver of Redemption Rights. Tenant, for itself, and on behalf of any and all persons

claiming through or unde, tenant, including creditors of all kinds, hereby waives and

surrendLs dl rights and privileges which they may have under any present or future law,

to redeem the Premises or to haue a continuance of this Lease for the Term, or any

extension thereof.

Page 13 of 18

Page 93 of 208



d. Nonpayment of Additional Rent. All costs which Tenant is obligated to pay to landlord

p.gsuant to this Lease shall in the eve,nt of nonpayrnent be treated as if they were payments

of R"nt, and Landlord shall have the same rights it has with respect to nonpayment ofRent.

e. Failure to Remove Properfy. If Tenant fails to remove any of its property from the

Premises at Landlord's request following an uncured Event of Default, Landlord may, at

its option, remove and stoie the property at Tenant's expense and risk. If Tenant does not

puy it r storage cost within five (5) days of Landlord's request, Landlord may, at its optioq

iluu. uoy or all of such property sold at public or private sale (and Landlordmay become a

purchaser at such sale), in such manner as Landlord deems proper, without notice to

Tenant. Landlord shall apply the proceeds of such sale: (i) to the expense of such sale,

including reasonable attomeys' fees actually incuned; (ii) to the payment of the costs or

charges for storing such property; (iii) to the payment of any other sums of money which

mayihen be or thereafter-become due Landlord from Tenant under any of the terms hereof;

*d (iu) the balance, if any, to Tenant. Nothing in this Section shall limit Landlord's right

to seil Tenant's personal iroperty as permitted by law or to foreclose Landlord's lien for

unpaid rant, ifany.

)OilV. INDEMNIFICATION. The Tenant hereby covenants and agrees to indemniff, defe'lrd and

hold the Landlord hamrless from any and all claims or liabilities which may arise from any cause

whatsoever as a result of Tenant's use and occupancy of the Premises, and further shall indemniff

the Landlord for any losses which the Landlord may suffer in oonnection with the Tenant's use and

occupancy or c€re, custody and control of the Premises, The Te,nant also hereby covenants and

.g."i. to indemniff ana frlta harmless the Landlord from any and all claims or liabilities which

Jay arise from any latent defects in the subject Premises that the Landlord is not aware of at the

signing of the leasi or at any time during the lease term. Except to the exterft of claims arising out

oilandlord's gross negligence or intentional acts of misconduct, Landlord shall not be liable for

injury to Tenant's businesi or assets, or any loss of income therefrom or for damage to any property

of 1*-t or of its employees, officers, agents, servantsn contractors, customers, clients, visitors,

quests, or other licensels or invitees, or any other person in or about the Premises or the Property.

ihis provision shall survive expiration or termination of this lease.

XXV. BANKRUPTCY - INSOLVENCY. The Tenant agrees that in the event all or a substantial

portion of the Tenant 's assets are placed in the hands of a receiver or a Trustee, and such status

continues for a period of 30 days, or should the Te,nant make an assignment for the benefit of
creditors or be ad.ludicated banknipt; or should the Tenant institute any proceedings lnder the

bankruptcy act or any amendment thereto, then such Lease or interest in and to the leased Premises

shall not become an asset in any such proceedings and, in such event, and in addition to any and all

other remedies of the Landlordhereunder or by law provided, it shall be lawful for the Landlord to

declare the term hereofended and to re-enter the leased land and take possession thereofand all

improvements thereon and to remove all persons therefrom and the Tenant shall have no further

claimthereon.

XXVI. SUBORDINATION AND ATTORNMENT. This Lease shall automatically be

subordinate to any mortgage or deed of trust created by Landlord which is now existing or hereafter

placed upon the ir"misis including any advances, interest, modifications, renewalsn replacements

or extensiorrs {"Landlord's Mortgagei'). Tenant shall attom to the holder of any Landlord's

Mortgage or any party acquiring the Fremises at any sale or other pro-c:udqF under any Landlord's

frfortiai" pr*ia.A ire acquinng party assumes the obligations of Landlord under this Lease.

f.nuitiUaU promptly and in no event later than 15 days a$er request execute, acknowledge and

deliver documents-which the holder of any Landlord's Mortgage may reasonably require as firther

Page 14 of 18

Page 94 of 208



evidence of this subordination and attornment. Notwithstanding the foreg6ing, Tenant's obligations

under this Section to subordinate in the future are conditioned on the holder of each Landlord's

Mortgage and each party acquiring the Premises at any sale or other proceeding under any such

tandl=ori's Mortgagi noi disturbing Tenant's occupancy and other rights under this Lease, so long

as no rmcured Event of Default by Tenant exists.

XXWI. MISCELLAI\EOUS TERMS.

L Usage by Tenant: Tenant shall comply with all rules, regulations and laws of any

govJrnmlntal authority with respect to use and occupancy. Tenant shall not conduct or pernrit

io be conducted upon the Premises any business or permit any act which is contrary to or in

violation of any L*, *les or regulations and requirements that may be imposed by any

authority or any insurance company with which the Premises is insure4 nor will the Tenant

allow the Premises to be used in any way which will invalidate or be in conflict with any

insurance policies applicable to the building. In no event shall explosives or extra hazardous

materials be taken onto ot retained on the Premises. Furthermore, Tenant shall not install or

use any equipment that will cause undue interference with the peaceable and quiet eqioyment

of the Premises by other tenants of the building.

11. Condition of PremisesAnspection by Tenant: The Tenant has had the opportunity to inspect

the premises and acknowledges witir its signature on this lease that the Premises are in good

eondition and comply in all respects with the requirements of this Lease. Furthermore, the

Landlord makes no representation or warranty with respect to the condition of the Premises

or its fitness or availability for any particular use, and the Landlord shall not be liable for any

latent or patent defect therein. Furtherrnore, the Tenant represents that Tenant has inspected

the Prernises and is leasing and will take possession of the Premises with all current fixtures

present in their "as is" condition as ofthe date hereof.

il. Right of Entry: It is agreed and understood that the Landlord and its agent's shall have the

coirplete and-unencunrbered right of entry to the Premises at any time or times for purposes

of inspecting or showing the Premises.

)o(v[L ESTOPPAL CERTIFICATE. Tenant shall, from time to time, upon written request of

landlord execute, acknowledge and deliver to Landlord or its designee a written staternent

speciffing the following, subject to any modifications necessary to make such statements true and

"i*pf.t"itil 
the total rentabie square-footage of the Premises; (ii) the date the Temr commenced

and ihe date it expires; (iii) the *noottt of minimum monttrly Rent and the date to which such Rent

has been paid; (rv) that'this Lease is in fulI foroe and effect and has not been assigned, modified,

supplementedoi amended in any way; (v) that this Lease represents the entire agreement between

in"'putti..; (vi) that all obligations under this Lease to be performed by either party have been

ruti.n"O; ("ii] ittut there are no existing claims, defenses or offsets which the Tenant has against

the enfoiclment of this Lease by Landiord; (viii) the amount of Rent, If any, that Tenant paid in

advance; (ix) the amount of security that Teuant deposited with Landlord; (x) if Tenant has sublet

atl or a portion of the Premises or assigned its interest in the Lease and to whom; (xi) if Tenant has

any option to extend the Term of the Liase or option to purchase the Premises; and (xii) such other

factuat matters conceming the Lease or the Premises as Landlord may reasonably reqlesj. Tenant

acknowledges and agrees-that any statement delivered pursuant to this Section may be relied upon

Uy u p-.pitive purihaser of Landlord's interest or assignee of any mortgage or new mortgagee of
runaforAt interest in the prernises. If Tenant shall fail to respond within 10 days to Landlordis

request for the statement required by this Section, Landlord may provide the statement and Tenant

rnun U" deemed to have admitted the accuracy of the information provided by Landlord.

Page 15 of 18

Page 95 of 208



)OilX. HOLDOVER. If Tenant shall, without the written con$ent of landlord, remain in
possession of the Premises and fail to retum them to Landlord after the expiration or termination

of tnis Lease, the tenancy shall be a holdover tenancy at sufferance, which may be terminated

according to Washington law. During zuch tenancy, Tenant agrees to pay to Landlord 1507o ofthe
rate ofrental last payable under this Lease, unless a different rate is agreed upon by Landlord. All
other temrs of the Lease shall remain in effect other than any options to extend the Term. Tenant

acknowledges and agrees that this Section does not grant any right to Tenant to holdover, and that

Tenant may also be liable to L,andlord for any and all damages or expens€s which Landlord may

have to incur as a result ofTenanfs holdover.

XXX. NON-WAWER. Landlord's waiver of any breach of any provision contained in this Lease

shall not be deemed to be a waiver of the same provision for subsequent acts of Tenant. The

acoeptance by Landlord of Rent or other amounts due by Tenant hereunder shall not be deemed to

be a waiver ofany previous breach by Tenant'

)OOfi. NOTICES. All notices under this Lease shall be in writing and effective (i) when delivered

in person or via ovemight courier to the other party, or (ii) three (3) days after berng sent by

registered or certified mail to the other parly at the address set forth in Section I. The addresses for

noiices and payment of rent set forth in Section I may be modified by either party ottly by written

notice delivered in confonnance with this Section.

XXXItr. GOVERNING LAW. This Lease shall be governed by the laws of the State of
Washington,

XXV. COSTS AI{D ATTORNEYS' FEES. If Tenant or Landlord engage the services of an

attorney to collect monies due or to bring any action for any relief against the other, declaratory or

otherwise, arising out of this Lease, including any suit by Landlord for the recovery of Rent or other

payments, or possession of the Premises, the losing party shall pay the prevailing party a reasonable

sum for attorneysr fees in zuch aotion, whether in mediation or arbitration, at trial, on appeal, or in

any banlauptcy proceeding,

XXVI. TRANSFER OF LADIDLORD'S INTEREST. This Lease shall be assignable by

Landlord without the consent of Tenant. In the event of any transfer or transfers of Landlord's

interest in the Premises, other than a transfer for collateral purpos€s only, upon the assumption of
this Lease by the transferee, Landlord shall be automatically relieved of obligations and liabilities

accruing from and after the date of such transfer, including any liability for any retained security

deposit or prepaid rent, for which the transferee shall be liable, and Tenant shall attorn to the

transferee.

35. GENERAL.

a. Heirs and Assigns. This Lease shall apply to and be binding upon Landlord and Tenant

and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, $uccessors and assigns.

b. Entire Agreement This Lease contains all of the covenants and agreements between

Landlord and Tenant relating to the Pre,nises. No prior or contemporaneous agresments or

understandings pertaining to the Lease shall be valid or of any force or effect and the

covenants and agreements of this Lease shall not be altered, modified or amended except

in writing, signed by Landlord and Tenant.

Page 16 of 18

Page 96 of 208



c. Severability. Any provision of this Lease which shall prove to be invalid, void or illegal
shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate any other provision of this Lease.

d. Force Mrjeure, Time periods for either party's performance under any provisions of this

Lease (excluding payment of Rent) shall be extended for periods of time during which the

partyrs performance is prevented due to circumstances beyond such paf,tyrs control,

including without limitation, fires, floods, earthquakes, lockouts, strikes, embargoes,

governmental regulations, acts of God, public enemy, war or other strife; provided in no

event shall any ofthe foregoing events operate to extend the Term ofthis Lease.

e. No Light, Air or View Easement. Tenant has not been granted an easernent or other right
for light, air or view to or from the Premises. Any diminution or shutting off of light, air or

view by any structure which may be erected on or adjacent to the Building shall in no way

affect this Lease orthe obligations of Tenant hereunder or impose any liability onlandlord.

f. Authority of Parties. Each party to this Lease represents and warants to the other that the

person executing this Lease on behalf of such party has the authority to enter into this Lease

bn behalf of zuch party, that the execution and delivery of this lease has been duly

authorized, and that upon such execution and delivery, this Lease shall be binding upon

and enforceable against such party.

g. Time. "Day" as used herein means a calendar day and "business day" means any day on

which commercial banks are generally open for business in the state where the Premises

are situated. Any period of time which would otherwise end on a non'business day shall

be extended to the next following business day. Time is of the esse,nce of this Lease'

h. Quiet Enjoyment. Provided Tenant pays Rent and performs all ofits obligations in this

Liasq Tenant's possession of the Premises will not be disturbed by Landlord or anyone

claiming by, through or under Landlord'

i. Merger. The voluntary or other surremder of this Lease by Tenant, or a mutual cancellation

tfrereofi shall not work a m€rger and shall, at the option of Landlord, temrinate all or any

existing subtenancies or may, at the option of Landlord, opelate as an assignment to

Landlord ofany or all ofsuch subtenancies.

Counterparts. This contract may be signed by and returned by one or more counterparts'

All signatures are binding on Tenant and Landlord'

XXVU. AMEI\DMENT. No amendment of this Lease shall be effective unless reduced to writing

and subscribed by the parties with all the formality of the original.

)OffIII. BINDING EFFECT. This Lease and any amendments thereto shall be binding upon the

Landlord and the Tenants and/or their respective successors, heirs, assigns, executors and

administrators.

il
il
Signature page to follow

t/

J.

Page 17 of 18

Page 97 of 208



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto set their hands and seal this 16 day of
b€z ri^^are"rl_,2022_.

,s

Landlord's Signature

,4r" 4,,"*a
Printed Name Titte

(.d",

Title

fuxu"s

Printed Name

Tenant's Signature

Tenant's Signature

Printed Name

Printed Name

Title

Title

,./

^,on nrNauvLW,

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF NOTARY PI'BLIC

STATE OF Tr/aotv rF tibn
COIINTY OF IO

On this lgftt day of Otcqnb<,r 20?L before me appeared

as LAIIDLORD of this Commercial Lease Agreement who proved to

me through govemment iszued Photo identification to be the above-named persog in my presence

executed foregoing instrument and acknowledged that they executed the same as their free act and

deed.

lYotary Public
State of Washington

KIM E LUNDOUIST
License Number ftzc8f

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES

ACKNOWLADGMENT OT' NOTARY PTJBLIC

STATE OF
COUNTY OF

Y:ry ? Luvutquts+
Notary Public

My Commission Expires: 4.t- TotG

Mv Commission ExPires, A-l * J4,a'f

of 20^ before me appeared

as ofthis Commercial Lease Agreement who Proved tome

through governrnent issued photo identification to be the above-named person, in my presence

executed foregoing instrument and acknowledged that they executed the same as their free act and

deEd,

Page 18 of 18

Page 98 of 208



City of Port Orchard 
Council Meeting Minutes 
Regular Meeting of January 10, 2023 
 
 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
Mayor Putaansuu called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  
 
Roll call was taken by the City Clerk as follows: 
 
 Mayor Pro-Tem Lucarelli Present  

Councilmember Chang Present  
 Councilmember Clauson Present  

Councilmember Cucciardi Present  
Councilmember Diener Present  
Councilmember Trenary Present  
Councilmember Rosapepe Present  

 Mayor Putaansuu  Present  
  
Staff present: Public Works Director Lang, Operations Manager Heglund, Community Development 
Director Bond, HR Manager Lund, HR Specialist Spalding, City Attorney Archer, Police Chief Brown, 
City Clerk Wallace, and Deputy City Clerk Floyd. 
 
The meeting streamed live on YouTube. 
 
A. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE (Time Stamp: 00:28) 
 
Mayor Putaansuu led the audience and Council in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA (Time Stamp: 00:50) 
 
MOTION: By Councilmember Clauson, seconded by Councilmember Cucciardi, to add a Consent 
Agenda item for a change in the City’s representation to the KEDA (Kitsap Economic Development 
Alliance) Board from Councilmember Lucarelli to Councilmember Cucciardi, and to remove the 2023 
Lodging Tax Allocation discussion from tonight’s agenda. 
 
The motion carried. 
 
MOTION: By Councilmember Clauson seconded by Councilmember Trenary, to approve the agenda 
as amended. 
 
The motion carried. 

Page 99 of 208



Minutes of January 10, 2023 
 Page 2 of 5  

 
 
3. CITIZENS COMMENTS (Time Stamp: 02:46) 
 
There were no citizen comments. 
 
Public Works Director Lang introduced Jeff Heglund, the City’s new Operations Manager who 
introduced himself to the Council and Mayor and spoke to his background. 
 
4. CONSENT AGENDA (Time Stamp: 06:06) 
A. Approval of Voucher Nos. 85245 through 85282 and 85290 through 85345 and 85353 through 

85386 including bank drafts in the amount of $465,066.76 and EFT’s in the amount of 
$228,065.15 totaling $693,131.91. 

B. Approval of Payroll Check Nos. 85283 through 85289 and 85346 through 85352 including bank 
drafts and EFT’s in the amount of $478,543.57 and Direct Deposits in the amount of $464,640.66 
totaling $943,184.23. 

C. Adoption of a Resolution Declaring Certain Personal Property as Surplus and Authorizing its 
Disposition Thereof (Resolution No. 007-23) 

D. Approval of Amendment No. 1 of Contract No. 029-22 with CONSOR North America, Inc. for the 
2023 General Sewer Plan Update for the City’s Sanitary Sewer System  

E. Approval of the December 20, 2022, City Council Meeting Minutes 
F. NEW: Change in the City’s Representation to the KEDA (Kitsap Economic Development Alliance) 

Board from Councilmember Lucarelli to Councilmember Cucciardi 
 
MOTION: By Councilmember Clauson, seconded by Councilmember Lucarelli, to approve the 
Consent Agenda as amended. 
 
The motion carried.  
 
5. PRESENTATION  
 
A. Housing Action Plan-Existing Conditions Report (Time Stamp: 06:32) 
 
Community Development Director Bond introduced Scott Bonjukian with Makers Architecture and 
Urban Design and Andrew Oliver from Leland Consulting Group who provided a presentation on an 
updated schedule, housing action plan priorities, population, demographics, households, income, 
housing type and age, housing population, housing production, project spotlights-middle housing 
and mixed-use projects, vacancy, housing costs, housing affordability, housing cost burden, housing 
needs by income-2044, key code observations, stakeholder interviews, housing survey key themes-
to date, housing survey-stories and next steps. 
 
B. Diversity Equity and Inclusion (DEI) (Time Stamp: 48:33) 
 

Page 100 of 208



Minutes of January 10, 2023 
 Page 3 of 5  

 
HR Specialist Spaulding provided a presentation on where we are going, introduction, lets get 
acquainted-what do we bring to the table, biases, teasing out buzzwords, definitions, diversity, 
equity, equality, inclusion, the people DEI programs are designed to lift up, the problem that needs 
fixing, the problem in the US and in the workplace, solutions, fitting in with the City of Port Orchard 
priorities, mission, vision and values, Mayor’s statements, policies, culture and social norms, creating 
a path forward, and next steps. 
 
Additional discussion was held regarding bringing forward a resolution to Council supporting the DEI 
program, looking into creating a staff DEI committee, being more diverse in our government and 
recruiting, and steps the City is currently taking. 
 
6. PUBLIC HEARING  
 
There were no public hearings. 
 
7. BUSINESS ITEMS  
 
A. Appointment of a 2023 Mayor Pro-Tempore (Time Stamp 1:34:05) 
 

 MOTION: By Councilmember Lucarelli, seconded by Councilmember Rosapepe, to elect 
 Councilmember Trenary as the Mayor Pro-Tempore for 2023. 

 
The motion carried. 

 
B. Adoption of a Resolution Confirming the Mayoral Appointment to the Building Board of 

Appeals (Time Stamp: 1:36:00) 
 

 MOTION: By Councilmember Diener seconded by Councilmember Trenary, to adopt a resolution 
 confirming the Mayor’s appointment to the Building Board of Appeals, as presented. 
 

The motion carried. 
(Resolution No. 008-23) 
 
C. Approval of the December 13, 2022, City Council Meeting Minutes (Time Stamp 1:37:50) 
 

 MOTION: By Councilmember Diener, seconded by Councilmember Lucarelli, to approve the minutes 
 of December 13, 2022. 
 

The motion carried. Councilmember Cucciardi abstained. 
 
8. DISCUSSION ITEMS (No Action to be Taken) 
 
A. Lodging Tax 2023 Allocation  

Page 101 of 208



Minutes of January 10, 2023 
 Page 4 of 5  

 
 

9. REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES (Time Stamp: 1:38:30) 
 
Mayor Putaansuu reported the Economic Development and Tourism Committee is scheduled to 
meet January 23rd. The Utilities Committee is scheduled to meet February 14th. The Finance 
Committee is scheduled to meet January 20th at 9am. The Transportation Committee is scheduled to 
meet January 24th.  The Festival of Chimes and Lights is scheduled to meet January 30th.  The Land 
Use Committee is scheduled to meet January 18th and the Sewer Advisory Committee is scheduled 
to meet in March. He also reported on Housing Kitsap, he is now the chair of the Department of 
Emergency Management and is the vice chair of the Housing Kitsap Executive Committee. 
 
Councilmember Cucciardi reported on a meeting he had earlier in the day with City Clerk Wallace 
and City Attorney Archer regarding lodging tax. 
 
10. REPORT OF MAYOR (Time Stamp: 1:43:34) 

 
The Mayor reported on the following: 

• Council Retreat is March 10, 2023; 
• Changes to the Lowe’s traffic signal; 
• Legislative session and house bills; 
• Mayor’s Exchange and meeting with governor’s office; 
• Meeting with Port Orchard rotary club regarding Givens Park courts; 
• In accordance with Ordinance 008-20 “Delegating Authority to the Mayor for Creating and 

Modification of Job Descriptions,” he reported on the revised job description for Permit 
Center Manager; 

• No work study meeting January 17th; and 
• Read into record portions of minutes from 50, 75, and 95 years ago. 

 
11. REPORT OF DEPARTMENT HEADS (Time Stamp 1:51:33) 
  
Community Development Director Bond reported on ribbon cutting scheduled on January 23rd for 
the Haven Apartments and reported on a meeting with Eric Baker at Kitsap County regarding 
applications for urban growth area expansion. 
 
Mayor Putaansuu briefly spoke to the impacts of police reform. 
 
Police Chief Brown reported on body cameras, interview rooms, lateral officer, and upcoming oral 
boards. 
 
City Clerk Wallace reported on annual paper and electronic records, and Council invite to the AWC 
City Action Days. 
 

Page 102 of 208



Minutes of January 10, 2023 
 Page 5 of 5  

 
12. CITIZEN COMMENTS (Time Stamp 1:57:34) 

 
There were no citizen comments. 
 
13. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
There was no executive session. 
 
14. GOOD OF THE ORDER (Time Stamp 1:57:57) 
 
Councilmember Rosapepe reported on receiving compliments for the new downtown sign. 
 
Councilmember Diener said he has also received compliments on the sign as well as comments that 
the totem pole should be updated/cleaned up. 
 
Councilmember Clauson said the totem pole was from the Makah tribe.  
 
Councilmember Trenary thanked Public Works for their tremendous work during the ice and 
snowstorm, flooding, and keeping citizens able to move around the City. 
 
Mayor Putaansuu said he knocked on a few doors downtown to check on the businesses to see if 
they had any flooding damage or issues. 
 
15. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:31 p.m. No other action was taken. Audio/Visual was successful. 

 

 

 
         
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 

Page 103 of 208



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 

 
Agenda Staff Report 

 
   Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7A Meeting Date: January 24, 2023 

Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Approving a Prepared by: Tony Lang 
 Contract with CONSOR North America,  Public Works Director 
 Inc. for Construction Support and       Atty Routing No.: 366922-0009 – PW 
 Management Services for the McCormick Atty Review Date: January 18, 2023 
 Village Park Splash Pad Construction   
 Project   

Summary: The City Public Works Department has identified a need for construction support services to 
support the construction of a Splash Pad at McCormick Village Park. On December 13, 2022, pursuant to 
the City’s Procurement Policies adopted as Resolution No. 036-22, as amended, the City’s Public Works 
Department established a list of qualified contractors from the 2022 MRSC Consultant Roster (Roster) for 
the Main Category – Construction Management and Sub-Category – Project Management, Project 
Management Oversight.  On December 16, 2022, the City’s Public Works Department selected three 
qualified consultants from the Roster. On January 3, 2023, after staff reviewed, scored, and ranked the 
qualifications of the three consultants selected from the Roster, the City’s Public Works Department 
identified the highest-ranking firm as Consor North America, Inc.  On January 4, 2023, the City received a 
defined Scope of Work, Budget and Project Timeline for the Project from Consor, in an amount not to 
exceed $57,475.00.   

Recommendation:  Staff recommends adoption of Resolution No. 001-23, approving Contract No. C005-
23 with Consor North America, Inc. for Construction Support and Management Services for the 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Project in an amount not to exceed $57,475.00 and 
documenting the Professional Services procurement procedures.    

Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  Chapter 4: Parks  

Motion for Consideration: I move to adopt Resolution No. 001-23, thereby approving Contract No. C005-
23 with Consor North America, Inc. for Construction Support and Management Services for the 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Project in an amount not to exceed $57,475.00.    

Fiscal Impact: A Budget amendment is required. (GL Code 302.05.594.76.60).  

Alternative: Do not authorize and provide alternate guidance. 

Attachments: Resolution No. 001-23 
                           Contract No. C005-23 
                           Consultant’s Proposal (dated 01/04/2023) 

Page 104 of 208



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 001-23 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING 
THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE CONTRACT NO. C005-23 WITH CONSOR NORTH 
AMERICA, INC. FOR CONSTRUCTION SUPPORT AND MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
FOR THE MCCORMICK VILLAGE PARK SPLASH PAD PROJECT AND 
DOCUMENTING PROFESSIONAL SERVICES PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES. 

 
WHEREAS, the City has identified a need for construction support services to support 

construction of a Splash Pad at McCormick Village Park; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City desires the assistance of a consultant with expertise in Construction 

Project Management and Project Management Oversight; and 
 
WHEREAS, on December 13, 2022, pursuant to the City’s Procurement Policies adopted 

as Resolution No. 036-22, as amended, the City’s Public Works Department established a list of 
qualified consultants for the project from the MRSC 2022 Consultant Roster for the Main 
Category – Construction Management and Sub-Category – Project Management, Project 
Management Oversight; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on December 16, 2022, the City’s Public Works Department selected three 
qualified consultants from the MRSC 2022 Consultant Roster; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on January 3, 2023, after reviewing the Statement of Qualifications and 
scoring the consultants, based upon overall qualifications, the City’s Public Works Department 
selected Consor North America, Inc., as the responsible and responsive consultant for the 
project; and 

 
 WHEREAS, on January 4, 2023, Consor North America, Inc. provided the City’s Public 
Works Department with a viable Proposal; and 
 
 WHEREAS, upon completion of the Bidder’s Checklist on January 3, 2023, the City’s 
Public Works Department recommends the City Council approve Consor North America, Inc., to 
provide Construction Support and Management Services for the McCormick Village Park Splash 
Pad Construction Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council, at the 2015 recommendation of the State 
Auditor’s Office, wishes to document their consultant selection process as described above for 
this particular contract by Resolution; now, therefore,  

 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Page 105 of 208



Resolution No. 001-23 
Page 2 of 2 

 
THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth above 

 are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this Resolution. 
 
 THAT:  The City Council approves and authorizes the Mayor to sign Contract No. C005-
 23 with Consor North America, Inc. to provide Construction Support and Management 
 Services for the McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Project.  

 
THAT:  The Resolution shall take full force and effect upon passage and signatures 

 hereon. 
 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 
by the Clerk in authentication of such passage this 24th day of January 2023. 
 
 
 
         
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
     
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 

Page 106 of 208



City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 

Updated 4/2022 IBDR  

Port Orchard Contract #: C005-23 
Authorized Amount: $57,475 
Date Start:          January 24, 2023   
Date End:                July 31, 2023 

CONSULTANT SERVICES AGREEMENT 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into by and between the City of Port Orchard, 
Washington, a municipal corporation organized under the laws of the State of Washington (“City”) and 
Consor North America, Inc., (“Consultant”) organized under the laws of the State of Oregon, located 
and doing business at 600 University St, Ste 300 Seattle, WA  98101-4196 (hereinafter the "Consultant"). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the City desires to have certain services performed for its residents; and 

WHEREAS, the City has selected the Consultant to perform such services pursuant to certain 
terms and conditions; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual benefits and conditions set forth below, 
the parties agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT: 

1. Scope of Services to be Performed by Consultant.

The Consultant shall perform those services described on Exhibit “A,” which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference as if set forth in full. In performing such services, the Consultant shall 
at all times comply with all federal, state, and local statutes, rules and ordinances applicable to the 
performance of such services and the handling of any funds used in connection therewith. The Consultant 
shall perform the services diligently and completely and in accordance with professional standards of 
conduct and performance. The Consultant shall request and obtain prior written approval from the City if 
the scope or schedule is to be modified in any way.  

If the services provided hereunder are funded in whole or in part under a Grant Funding Agreement, 
then Consultant will comply with the terms of such Grant Funding Agreement to ensure that the City is able 
to obtain the maximum funding under such Grant Funding Agreement. If this applies, the City will provide 
the Consultant with a copy of the Grant Funding Agreement.  

2. Compensation.

The City shall pay the Consultant for services rendered according to the rates and methods set forth 
below.  

Page 1 of 23

Page 107 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

  �  LUMP SUM.  Compensation for these services set forth in Exhibit A shall be a Lump Sum 
  of $_________________. 

 TIME AND MATERIALS NOT TO EXCEED.  Compensation for these services shall not 
exceed $57,475 without written authorization and will be based on the list of billing rates and 
reimbursable expenses attached hereto as Exhibit “B.” 

� TIME AND MATERIALS.  Compensation for these services shall be on a time and 
materials basis according to the list of billing rates and reimbursable expenses attached hereto as 
Exhibit “B.” 

� OTHER_____________________________________________________________ 
 

3. Payment. 
 
 A. The Consultant shall maintain time and expense records and provide them to the City 
monthly after services have been performed, along with monthly invoices in a format acceptable to the 
City for work performed to the date of the invoice.  
 
 B. All invoices shall be paid by City warrant within thirty (30) days of receipt of a proper 
invoice.  If the City objects to all or any portion of any invoice, it shall so notify the Consultant of the 
same within fifteen (15) days from the date of receipt and shall pay that portion of the invoice not in 
dispute, and the Parties shall immediately make every effort to settle the disputed portion. 
 
 C. The Consultant shall keep cost records and accounts pertaining to this Agreement 
available for inspection by City representatives for three (3) years after final payment unless a longer 
period is required by a third-party agreement.  Copies shall be made available on request.  
 
 D. On the effective date of this Agreement (or shortly thereafter), the Consultant shall 
comply with all federal and state laws applicable to independent contractors, including, but not limited 
to, the maintenance of a separate set of books and records that reflect all items of income and expenses 
of the Consultant’s business, pursuant to Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 51.08.195, as required by 
law, to show that the services performed by the Consultant under this Agreement shall not give rise to 
an employer-employee relationship between the parties, which is subject to Title 51 RCW, Industrial 
Insurance.   
 
 E. If the services rendered do not meet the requirements of the Agreement, the Consultant 
will correct or modify the work to comply with the Agreement. The City may withhold payment for such 
work until the work meets the requirements of the Agreement. The City shall pay the Consultant for 
services rendered within ten (10) days after City Council voucher approval. However, if the City objects 
to all or any portion of an invoice, it shall notify Consultant and reserves the option to only pay that 
portion of the invoice not in dispute. In that event, the Parties will immediately make every effort to 
settle the disputed portion. 
 
 F.  The City reserves the right to direct the Consultant's compensated services before 
reaching the maximum amount.  
 

Page 2 of 23

Page 108 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

4. Duration of Agreement.  
 

A. This Agreement shall be in full force and effect for a period commencing on January 24, 
2023, and ending July 31, 2023, unless sooner terminated under the provisions of this Agreement. The 
City reserves the right to offer two (2) one-year extensions prior to expiration of the Agreement to retain 
the Consultant’s services. 

 
B. Time is of the essence of this Agreement in each and all of its provisions in which 

performance is required. If delays beyond the Consultant's reasonable control occur, the Parties will 
negotiate in good faith to determine whether an extension is appropriate.  

 
C. The Consultant shall obtain a City of Port Orchard business license prior to commencing 

work pursuant to a written Notice to Proceed. 
 

D. The Consultant is authorized to proceed with services upon receipt of a written Notice to 
Proceed. 
 

5. Standard of Care.   
 
The Consultant represents and warrants that it has the requisite training, skill, and experience necessary 
to provide the services under this Agreement and is appropriately accredited and licensed by all 
applicable agencies and governmental entities. Services provided by the Consultant under this 
Agreement will be performed in a manner consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily 
exercised by members of the same profession currently practicing in similar circumstances. 
 

6. Ownership and Use of Documents.   
 

A. Ownership. Any records, files, documents, drawings, specifications, data, or information, 
regardless of form or format, and all other materials produced by the Consultant in connection with the 
services provided to the City, shall be the property of the City whether the project for which they were 
created is executed or not. 

 
B. Records preservation. Consultant understands that this Agreement is with a government 

agency and thus all records created or used in the course of Consultant’s work for the City are considered 
“public records” and are subject to disclosure by the City under the Public Records Act, Chapter 42.56 
RCW (“the Act”). Consultant agrees to safeguard and preserve records in accordance with the Act. The 
City may be required, upon request, to disclose the Agreement, and the documents and records submitted 
to the City by Consultant, unless an exemption under the Public Records Act applies. If the City receives 
a public records request and asks Consultant to search its files for responsive records, Consultant agrees 
to make a prompt and thorough search through its files for responsive records and to promptly turn over 
any responsive records to the City’s public records officer at no cost to the City. 
 

7. Relationship of the Parties; Independent Consultant.  
 
The Parties intend that an independent contractor-client relationship will be created by this Agreement. 
As the Consultant is customarily engaged in an independently established trade which encompasses the 

Page 3 of 23

Page 109 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

specific service provided to the City hereunder, no agent, employee, representative or sub-consultant of 
the Consultant shall be or shall be deemed to be the employee, agent, representative or sub-consultant of 
the City. In the performance of the work, the Consultant is an independent contractor with the ability to 
control and direct the performance and details of the work, the City being interested only in the results 
obtained under this Agreement.  None of the benefits provided by the City to its employees, including, 
but not limited to, compensation, insurance, and unemployment insurance are available from the City to 
the employees, agents, representatives, or sub-consultants of the Consultant. The City shall not be 
responsible for withholding or otherwise deducting federal income tax or social security or contributing to 
the State Industrial Insurance Program, or otherwise assuming the duties of an employer with respect to the 
Consultant, or any employee of the Consultant. The Consultant will be solely and entirely responsible for 
its acts and for the acts of its agents, employees, representatives, and sub-consultants during the 
performance of this Agreement.  The City may, during the term of this Agreement, engage other 
independent contractors to perform the same or similar work that the Consultant performs hereunder. 
 

8. Indemnification.   
 
Consultant shall defend, indemnify, and hold the City, its officers, officials, employees, agents, and 
volunteers harmless from any and all claims, injuries, damages, losses or suits including attorneys’ fees, 
arising out of or resulting from the acts, errors or omissions of the Consultant in performance of this 
Agreement, except for injuries and damages caused by the sole negligence of the City. 
 
Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine that this Agreement is subject to RCW 4.24.115, 
then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or damages to property 
caused by or resulting from the concurrent negligence of the Consultant and the City, its officers, 
officials, employees, and volunteers, the Consultant's liability, including the duty and cost to defend, 
hereunder shall be only to the extent of the Consultant's negligence.   
 
IT IS FURTHER SPECIFICALLY AND EXPRESSLY UNDERSTOOD THAT THE 
INDEMNIFICATION PROVIDED HEREIN CONSTITUTES THE CONSULTANT'S WAIVER OF 
IMMUNITY UNDER INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE, TITLE 51 RCW, SOLELY FOR THE 
PURPOSES OF THIS INDEMNIFICATION.  THIS WAIVER HAS BEEN MUTUALLY 
NEGOTIATED BY THE PARTIES.   
 
The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 
 

9. Insurance.   
 
The Consultant shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Agreement, insurance against claims 
for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance 
of the work hereunder by the Consultant, its agents, representatives, or employees. 
 

            A.         Minimum Scope of Insurance.  Consultant shall obtain insurance of the types 
described below: 
 

i. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired and leased 
vehicles. Coverage shall be written on Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 00 

Page 4 of 23

Page 110 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

01 or a substitute form providing equivalent liability coverage.  If necessary, the 
policy shall be endorsed to provide contractual liability coverage. 

 
ii. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence form CG 

00 01 and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, independent 
Consultants and personal injury and advertising injury.  The City shall be named as 
an insured under the Consultant’s Commercial General Liability insurance policy 
with respect to the work performed for the City.   

 
iii. Workers’ Compensation coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of the 

State of Washington.  
 

iv. Professional Liability insurance appropriate to the Consultant’s profession. 
 

B.   Minimum Amounts of Insurance.  Consultant shall maintain the following insurance 
limits: 

 
i. Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit for 

bodily injury and property damage of $1,000,000 per accident.  
 

ii. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written with limits no less 
than $1,000,000 each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate.   

 
iii. Professional Liability insurance shall be written with limits no less than 

$1,000,000 per claim and $1,000,000 policy aggregate limit. 
 

            C.         Other Insurance Provision.  The Consultant’s Automobile Liability, Commercial 
General Liability, and Professional Liability insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, 
that they shall be primary insurance as respect the City.  Any Insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool 
coverage maintained by the City shall be excess of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute 
with it. 

 
            D.         Acceptability of Insurers.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current 

A.M. Best rating of not less than A-VII. 
 
            E.         Verification of Coverage.  The Consultant shall furnish the City with original 

certificates and a copy of the amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the 
additional insured endorsement, evidencing the insurance requirements of the Consultant before 
commencement of the work. 

 
            F.         Notice of Cancellation.  The Consultant shall provide the City with written notice 

of any policy cancellation, within two business days of their receipt of such notice. 
 
            G.         Failure to Maintain Insurance.  Failure on the part of the Consultant to maintain 

the insurance as required shall constitute a material breach of contract, upon which the City may, after 
giving five business days’ notice to the Consultant to correct the breach, immediately terminate the 

Page 5 of 23

Page 111 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

contract or, at its discretion, procure or renew such insurance and pay any and all premiums in connection 
therewith, with any sums so expended to be repaid to the City on demand, or at the sole discretion of the 
City, offset against funds due the Consultant from the City. 

 
            H.         No Limitation.  Consultant’s maintenance of insurance as required by the 

Agreement shall not be construed to limit the liability of the Consultant to the coverage provided by such 
insurance, or otherwise limit the City’s recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity. 
 

10. Record Keeping and Reporting. 
 
 A. The Consultant shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, 

property, financial, and programmatic records, which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and 
indirect costs of any nature expended and services performed pursuant to this Agreement.  The 
Consultant shall also maintain such other records as may be deemed necessary by the City to ensure 
proper accounting of all funds contributed by the City to the performance of this Agreement. 

 
 B. The foregoing records shall be maintained for a period of seven (7) years after 

termination of this Agreement unless permission to destroy them is granted by the Office of the Archivist 
in accordance with Chapter 40.14 RCW and by the City. 
 

11. City’s Right of Inspection and Audit. 
 
 A. Even though the Consultant is an independent contractor with the authority to control and 
direct the performance and details of the work authorized under this Agreement, the work must meet the 
approval of the City and shall be subject to the City's general right of inspection to secure the satisfactory 
completion thereof.  The Consultant agrees to comply with all federal, state, and municipal laws, rules, 
and regulations that are now effective or become applicable within the terms of this Agreement to the 
Consultant's business, equipment, and personnel engaged in operations covered by this Agreement or 
accruing out of the performance of such operations.  

 
 B. The records and documents with respect to all matters covered by this Agreement shall 
be subject at all times to inspection, review or audit by the City during the performance of this 
Agreement.  All work products, data, studies, worksheets, models, reports, and other materials in support 
of the performance of the service, work products, or outcomes fulfilling the contractual obligations are 
the products of the City. 

 
12. Work Performed at the Consultant's Risk.   

 
The Consultant shall take all precautions necessary and shall be responsible for the safety of its 
employees, agents, and sub-consultants in the performance of the work hereunder and shall utilize all 
protection necessary for that purpose.  All work shall be done at the Consultant's own risk, and the 
Consultant shall be responsible for any loss of or damage to materials, tools, or other articles used or 
held by the Consultant for use in connection with the work. 
 
 
 

Page 6 of 23

Page 112 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

13. Termination. 
 
 A. Termination without cause.  This Agreement may be terminated by the City at any time 

for public convenience, for the Consultant’s insolvency or bankruptcy, or the Consultant’s assignment 
for the benefit of creditors.  
 
 B. Termination with cause.  This Agreement may be terminated upon the default of the 

Consultant and the failure of the Consultant to cure such default within a reasonable time after receiving 
written notice of the default.   
 
 C. Rights Upon Termination.   
   

  i. With or Without Cause. Upon termination for any reason, all finished or 
unfinished documents, reports, or other material or work of the Consultant pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be submitted to the City, and the Consultant shall be entitled to just and equitable 
compensation for any satisfactory work completed prior to the date of termination, not to exceed 
the total compensation set forth herein.  The Consultant shall not be entitled to any reallocation 
of cost, profit or overhead. The Consultant shall not in any event be entitled to anticipated profit 
on work not performed because of such termination. The Consultant shall use its best efforts to 
minimize the compensation payable under this Agreement in the event of such termination.  Upon 
termination, the City may take over the work and prosecute the same to completion, by contract 
or otherwise. 

 
  ii. Default.  If the Agreement is terminated for default, the Consultant shall 

not be entitled to receive any further payments under the Agreement until all work called for has 
been fully performed. Any extra cost or damage to the City resulting from such default(s) shall 
be deducted from any money due or coming due to the Consultant. The Consultant shall bear any 
extra expenses incurred by the City in completing the work, including all increased costs for 
completing the work, and all damage sustained, or which may be sustained, by the City by reason 
of such default. 

 
 D. Suspension. The City may suspend this Agreement, at its sole discretion. Any 

reimbursement for expenses incurred due to the suspension shall be limited to the Consultant's 
reasonable expenses, and shall be subject to verification.  The Consultant shall resume performance of 
services under this Agreement without delay when the suspension period ends. 
 

E. Notice of Termination or Suspension.  If delivered to the Consultant in person, 
termination shall be effective immediately upon the Consultant’s receipt of the City’s written notice or 
such date as stated in the City’s notice of termination, whichever is later.  Notice of suspension shall be 
given to the Consultant in writing upon one week's advance notice to the Consultant.  Such notice shall 
indicate the anticipated period of suspension.  Notice may also be delivered to the Consultant at the 
address set forth in the “Notices” Section herein. 

 
F. Nothing in this Subsection shall prevent the City from seeking any legal remedies it may 

otherwise have for the violation or nonperformance of any provisions of this Agreement. 
 

Page 7 of 23

Page 113 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

14. Discrimination Prohibited.   
 
 A. The Consultant agrees not to discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment or any other person in the performance of this Agreement because of race, creed, color, 
national origin, marital status, sex, age, disability, or other circumstance prohibited by federal, state, or 
local law or ordinance, except for a bona fide occupational qualification.  
 
 B. Violation of this Section shall be a material breach of this Agreement and grounds for 
cancellation, termination, or suspension of the Agreement by the City, in whole or in part, and may result 
in ineligibility for further work for the City. 
 

15. Force Majeure.  
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any prevention, delay or stoppage due to 
strikes, lockouts, labor disputes, acts of God, acts of war, terrorist acts, inability to obtain services, labor, 
or materials or reasonable substitutes therefor, governmental actions, governmental laws, regulations or 
restrictions, civil commotions, casualty, actual or threatened public health emergency (including, without 
limitation, epidemic, pandemic, famine, disease, plague, quarantine, and other significant public health 
risk), governmental edicts, actions, declarations or quarantines by a governmental entity or health 
organization, breaches in cybersecurity, and other causes beyond the reasonable control of the Party 
obligated to perform, regardless of whether such other causes are (i) foreseeable or unforeseeable or (ii) 
related to the specifically enumerated events in this paragraph (collectively, a "Force Majeure"), shall 
excuse the performance of such Party for a period equal to any such prevention, delay or stoppage. To 
the extent this Agreement specifies a time period for performance of an obligation of either Party, that 
time period shall be extended by the period of any delay in such Party's performance caused by a Force 
Majeure. Provided however, that the current COVID-19 pandemic shall not be considered a Force 
Majeure unless constraints on a Party’s performance that result from the pandemic become substantially 
more onerous after the effective date of this Agreement.  
 

16. Assignment and Subcontract.   
 
The Consultant shall not assign or subcontract any portion of the services contemplated by this 
Agreement without the prior written consent of the City. Any assignment made without the prior 
approval of the City is void. 
 

17. Conflict of Interest.   
 
The Consultant represents to the City that it has no conflict of interest in performing any of the services 
set forth in Exhibit “A.”  In the event that the Consultant is asked to perform services for a project with 
which it may have a conflict, Consultant will immediately disclose such conflict to the City. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8 of 23

Page 114 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

18. Confidentiality.   
 
All information regarding the City obtained by the Consultant in performance of this Agreement shall 
be considered confidential. Breach of confidentiality by the Consultant shall be grounds for immediate 
termination.  
 

19. Non-Appropriation of Funds.   
 
If sufficient funds are not appropriated or allocated for payment under this Agreement for any future 
fiscal period, the City will so notify the Consultant and shall not be obligated to make payments for 
services or amounts incurred after the end of the current fiscal period.  This Agreement will terminate 
upon the completion of all remaining services for which funds are allocated.  No penalty or expense shall 
accrue to the City in the event that the terms of the provision are effectuated. 
 

20. Employment of State Retirees.  
 
The City is a “DRS-covered employer” which is an organization that employs one or more members of 
any retirement system administered by the Washington State Department of Retirement Systems (DRS). 
Pursuant to RCW 41.50.139(1) and WAC 415-02-325(1), the City is required to elicit on a written form 
if any of the Contractor’s employees providing services to the City retired using the 2008 Early 
Retirement Factors (ERFs), or if the Contractor is owned by an individual who retired using the 2008 
ERFs, and whether the nature of the service and compensation would result in a retirement benefit being 
suspended. Failure to make this determination exposes the City to significant liability for pension 
overpayments. As a result, before commencing work under this Agreement, Contractor shall determine 
whether any of its employees providing services to the City or any of the Contractor’s owners retired 
using the 2008 ERFs, and shall immediately notify the City and shall promptly complete the form 
provided by the City after this notification is made. This notification to DRS could impact the payment 
of retirement benefits to employees and owners of Contractor. Contractor shall indemnify, defend, and 
hold harmless the City from any and all claims, damages, or other liability, including attorneys’ fees and 
costs, relating to a claim by DRS of a pension overpayment caused by or resulting from Contractor’s 
failure to comply with the terms of this provision. This provision shall survive termination of this 
Agreement. 
 

21. Entire Agreement.   
 
This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties, and no other agreements, oral or 
otherwise, regarding the subject matter of this Agreement shall be deemed to exist or bind either of the 
parties.  If there is a conflict between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the attached 
exhibits, then the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall prevail over the exhibits.  Either party 
may request changes to the Agreement.  Changes which are mutually agreed upon shall be incorporated 
by written amendments to this Agreement.   
 

22. Non-waiver of Breach.   
 
The failure of either party to insist upon strict performance of any of the covenants and agreements 
contained herein, or to exercise any option herein contained in one or more instances, shall not be 

Page 9 of 23

Page 115 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

construed to be a waiver or relinquishment of said covenants, agreements, or options, and the same shall 
be in full force and effect.   
 

23. Modification.  
 
No waiver, alteration, modification of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be binding unless in 
writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of the City and the Consultant.  
 

24. Notices.   
 
All notices or other communications required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing and 
shall be (a) personally delivered, in which case the notice or communication shall be deemed given on 
the date of receipt at the office of the addressee; (b) sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, 
return receipt requested, in which case the notice or communication shall be deemed given three (3) 
business days after the date of deposit in the United States mail; or (c) sent by overnight delivery using 
a nationally recognized overnight courier service, in which case the notice or communication shall be 
deemed given one business day after the date of deposit with such courier. In addition, all notices shall 
also be emailed, however, email does not substitute for an official notice. Notices shall be sent to the 
following addresses: 

Notices to the City of Port Orchard shall be sent to the following address: 
 
  City Clerk 
  City of Port Orchard 
  216 Prospect Street 
  Port Orchard, Washington 98366 
  Bwallace@cityofportorchard.us  
  Phone: 360.876.4407 Fax:  360.895.9029 
 
 Notices to the Consultant shall be sent to the following address: 
 
        
 
        

  Phone No.:      

  Email:      

 
 

25. Resolution of Disputes; Governing Law.   
 

A. Should any dispute, misunderstanding or conflict arise as to the terms and conditions 
contained in this Agreement, the matter shall first be referred to the Mayor, who shall determine the term 
or provision’s true intent or meaning.  The Mayor shall also decide all questions which may arise between 
the parties relative to the actual services provided or to the sufficiency of the performance hereunder.   
 
 B.  If any dispute arises between the City and the Consultant under any of the provisions of 

Page 10 of 23

Page 116 of 208

mailto:Bwallace@cityofportorchard.us
Erika.Schuyler
Text Box
600 University St., Ste 300

Erika.Schuyler
Text Box
Seattle, WA 98101

Erika.Schuyler
Text Box
206-462-7030

Erika.Schuyler
Text Box
erika.schuyler@consoreng.com



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

this Agreement which cannot be resolved by the Mayor’s determination in a reasonable time, or if the 
Consultant does not agree with the Mayor’s decision on a disputed matter, jurisdiction of any resulting 
litigation shall be filed in Kitsap County Superior Court, Kitsap County, Washington.   
 
 C. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of Washington.  In any suit or action instituted to enforce any right granted in this Agreement, the 
substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its costs, disbursements, and reasonable 
attorneys’ fees from the other Party. 
 

26. Compliance with Laws.  
 
The Consultant agrees to comply with all federal, state, and municipal laws, rules, and regulations that 
are now effective or in the future become applicable to Consultant's business, equipment, and personnel 
engaged in operations covered by this Agreement or accruing out of the performance of those operations. 
 

27. Title VI. 
 
The City of Port Orchard, in accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 78 Stat. 252, 42 
U.S.C. 2000d to 2000d-4 and Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Department of Transportation 
subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, nondiscrimination in federally assisted programs of the 
Department of Transportation issued pursuant to such Act, must affirmatively insure that its contracts 
comply with these regulations. 
 
Therefore, during the performance of this Agreement, the Consultant, for itself, its assignees, and 
successors in interest agrees as follows:  
 

A. Compliance with Regulations. The Consultant will comply with the Acts and the 
Regulations relative to Nondiscrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the U.S. Department of 
Transportation, Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), as they may be amended from time to time, 
which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this Agreement.  

 
B. Nondiscrimination. The Consultant, with regard to the work performed by it during this 

Agreement, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, 
income-level, or LEP in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including procurements of 
materials and leases of equipment. The Consultant will not participate directly or indirectly in the 
discrimination prohibited by the Acts and the Regulations as set forth in Appendix A, attached hereto 
and incorporated herein by this reference, including employment practices when this Agreement covers 
any activity, project, or program set forth in Appendix B of 49 C.F.R. part 21.  

C. Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment. In 
all solicitations, either by competitive bidding, or negotiation made by the Consultant for work to be 
performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials, or leases of equipment, each 
potential subcontractor or supplier will be notified by the Consultant of the Consultant’s obligations 
under this Agreement and the Acts and the Regulations relative to Non-discrimination on the grounds of 
race, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, income-level, or LEP.  

 

Page 11 of 23

Page 117 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

 
D. Information and Reports. The Consultant will provide all information and reports 

required by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto and will permit access to its 
books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and its facilities as may be determined by the 
City, the Washington State Department of Transportation or the FHWA to be pertinent to ascertain 
compliance with such Acts, Regulations, and instructions. Where any information required of the 
Consultant is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or refuses to furnish the information, the 
Consultant will so certify to the City, the Washington State Department of Transportation or the FHWA, 
as appropriate, and will set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information.  

 
E. Sanctions for Noncompliance. In the event of the Consultant’s noncompliance with the 

non- discrimination provisions of this Agreement, the City will impose such contract sanctions as it, the 
Washington State Department of Transportation or the FHWA may determine to be appropriate, 
including, but not limited to: 

  
i. withholding payments to the Consultant under the Agreement until the contractor 

complies; and/or  
ii. cancelling, terminating, or suspending the Agreement, in whole or in part.  

 
F. Incorporation of Provisions. The Consultant will include the provisions of paragraphs 

one through six in every subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment, 
unless exempt by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto. The Consultant will 
take action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as the City or the FHWA may direct as a 
means of enforcing such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance. Provided, that if the 
Consultant becomes involved in, or is threatened with litigation by a subcontractor, or supplier because 
of such direction, the Consultant may request the City to enter into any litigation to protect the interests 
of the City. In addition, the Consultant may request the United States to enter into the litigation to protect 
the interests of the United States. 
 

28. Counterparts.  
 
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall constitute an 
original, and all of which will together constitute this one Agreement. 
 

29. Severability.   
 
Any provision or part of this Agreement held to be void or unenforceable under any law or regulation 
shall be deemed stricken and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon the 
City and the Consultant, who agree that the Agreement shall be reformed to replace such stricken 
provision or part with a valid and enforceable provision that comes as close as reasonably possible to 
expressing the intent of the stricken provision. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 12 of 23

Page 118 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and the Consultant have executed this Agreement as of the 
dates listed below.  
 
CONSULTANT     CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
 
 
By: ______________________________  By: ______________________________ 
                                                                    Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
Title: _____________________________   
 
Date: _____________________________  Date: _____________________________ 
 
 
       ATTEST/AUTHENTICATE 
 
 
              
       Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 
       APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 
              
       Port Orchard City Attorney’s Office 
  

Page 13 of 23

Page 119 of 208

Erika.Schuyler
Image

Erika.Schuyler
Text Box
Regional Manager

Erika.Schuyler
Text Box
1/11/2023



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

APPENDIX A 

During the performance of this Agreement, the Consultant, for itself, its assignees, and successors in 
interest agrees to comply with the following non-discrimination statutes and authorities; including but 
not limited to:  

Pertinent Non-Discrimination Authorities:  

• Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U .S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252), (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin); and 49 C.F.R. Part 21.  

• The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, (42 
U.S.C. § 4601), (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose property has been 
acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and projects);  

• Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1973, (23 U.S.C. § 324 et seq.), (prohibits discrimination on the 
basis of sex);  

• Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), as amended, (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 C.F.R. Part 27;  

• The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, (42 U .S.C. § 6101 et seq.), (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of age);  

• Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, (49 USC§ 471, Section 4 7123), as amended, 
(prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or sex);  

• The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, (PL 100-209), (Broadened the scope, coverage and 
applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age Discrimination Act of 1975 
and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by expanding the definition of the terms 
"programs or activities" to include all of the programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, 
sub- recipients and contractors, whether such programs or activities are Federally funded or 
not);  

• Titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, which prohibit discrimination on the 
basis of disability in the operation of public entities, public and private transportation systems, 
places of public accommodation, and certain testing entities (42 U.S.C. §§ 12131-12189) as 
implemented by Department of Transportation regulations at 49 C.P.R. parts 37 and 38;  

• The Federal Aviation Administration's Non-discrimination statute (49 U.S.C. § 47123) 
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and sex);  

• Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority 
Populations and Low-Income Populations, which ensures discrimination against minority 
populations by discouraging programs, policies, and activities with disproportionately high and 
adverse human health or environmental effects on minority and low-income populations;  

• Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English 
Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination includes 

Page 14 of 23

Page 120 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

discrimination because of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure compliance with Title 
VI, you must take reasonable steps to -ensure that LEP persons have meaningful access to your 
programs (70 Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 74100);  

• Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits you from 
discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities (20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq).  

 

Page 15 of 23

Page 121 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

EXHIBIT A 
 
Scope of Services to be Provided by Consultant.  The Consultant shall furnish services including, but 
not limited to, the following outlined here. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16 of 23

Page 122 of 208



Consor • January 2023 • City of Port Orchard 
Splash Pad ESDC • 1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
Splash Pad Engineering Services During Construction 

(ESDC) 
City of Port Orchard 

Background 

This Scope of Services includes engineering services during construction (ESDC) for the City of Port 
Orchard’s (City) Splash Pad project, which was designed by Consor North America, Inc. (Consor). The scope 
and fee estimate have been developed based on Consor’s understanding of the project needs.  

Consor services are expected to commence in January 2023. ESDC as part of this contract are expected to 
be completed by July 2023. 

Scope of Services 

The Scope of Services consists of the following major tasks. 

➢ Task 1 – Project Management and Coordination 

➢ Task 2 – Engineering Services During Construction 

➢ Task 3 – Contingency 

A detailed breakdown of the tasks and subtasks that comprise the Scope of Services follows and aligns with 
the tasks included in the Fee Estimate (Exhibit B). 

Task 1 – Project Management and Coordination 

Provide team guidance aligned with City objectives. Coordinate, monitor, and control the project resources 
to meet the technical, communication, and contractual obligations required for providing the engineering 
support service activities included in this contract.  

Subtask 1.1 Coordination with City 

Coordinate with City staff regarding construction work activities, project needs and issues through e-mails 
and phone calls. 

Subtask 1.2 Invoices and Budget Oversight 

Prepare invoice and monthly progress reports that include work completed, costs incurred, budget status, 
amendments, variances between planned and actual performance, tasks issues, approved out of scope 
items and associated costs, and issues that may result in an increase in the total Consor contract price.  

Page 17 of 23

Page 123 of 208



Consor • January 2023 • City of Port Orchard 
Splash Pad ESDC • 2 
G:\PDX_BD\Clients\Port Orchard\General\Splash Pad ESDC Scoping\Exhibit A - Port Orchard Splash Pad ESDC Scope_v3.docx 

Subtask 1.3 Pre-Construction Meeting 

Attend the Pre-Construction Meeting with up to one (1) consultant team member in attendance. Provide 
input on meeting notes following the meeting.   

Assumptions 

➢ Coordinate with the City via phone for up to ten (10), 30-minute coordination calls 

➢ Contractor’s schedule governs the work performed 

➢ Anticipated construction notice-to-proceed is January 2023 

➢ Up to seven (7) months of invoicing and progress reporting are included 

➢ One (1) consultant staff member to attend Pre-Construction Meeting 

➢ Pre-Construction Meeting will be up to three (3) hours in duration, including travel 

Deliverables 

➢ Monthly invoice with project status reports 

➢ Correspondence, e-mails, and other documentation 

➢ Pre-Construction Meeting Notes Review and Input 

Task 2 – Engineering Services During Construction  

Work under this task includes engineering services to support the construction phase of the project. 

Subtask 2.1 Construction Meetings 

Attend up to ten (10) virtual construction meetings when requested by the City’s Construction 
Management (CM) Representative. 

Subtask 2.2 Design Modifications 

Provide up to four (4) design modifications and accompanying plan changes to support required field 
modifications to maintain design intent and functionality.  

Subtask 2.3 Submittal Reviews 

Review and comment on up to twenty (20) total submittals, shop drawings, and other technical submittals 
from the Contractor for general conformance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. 

Subtask 2.4 Requests for Information 

Prepare responses for up to fifteen (15) Contractor requests for information (RFIs).  

Subtask 2.5 Change Order Review 

Provide review of up to four (4) Contractor proposed change orders. 

Page 18 of 23

Page 124 of 208



Consor • January 2023 • City of Port Orchard 
Splash Pad ESDC • 3 

G:\PDX_BD\Clients\Port Orchard\General\Splash Pad ESDC Scoping\Exhibit A - Port Orchard Splash Pad ESDC Scope_v3.docx 

Subtask 2.6 Construction Observation Site Visits 

Attend up to six (6) construction observation site visits, as requested by the City’s CM Representative.  

Subtask 2.7 Review of As-Built Plans and Operations and Maintenance (O&M) Manuals 

Provide review of as-built plans and O&M Manuals. 

Subtask 2.8 Commissioning Site Visit 

Attend one (1) commissioning site visit with City operations staff. 

Assumptions 

➢ Meetings will be attended virtually by one (1) Consor staff member and will be up to one (1) hour 
in duration 

➢ Meeting notes will be produced by the City’s CM Representative 

➢ An average design modification is anticipated to require up to four (4) hours of effort for the project 
engineer, with up to two hours of review for QA/QC.  

➢ Not all submittals will require Consor review; submittals will be sent to Consor by the City’s CM 
Representative when design engineer input is desired.  

➢ An average of four (4) hours of review time is assumed per submittal (three hours for first round 
review, and one hour for resubmittal review). Up to one re-submittal is anticipated per submittal. 
Submittals requiring more than one resubmittal review require additional effort beyond this scope 
of services and will require additional budget.   

➢ Submittal review comments will be submitted to the City’s CM Representative. 

➢ Not all RFIs will require Consor input; RFIs will be sent to Consor by the City’s CM Representative 
when design engineer input is desired.  

➢ An average of two (2) hours will be required to respond to each RFI 

➢ RFI responses will be submitted to the City’s CM Representative. 

➢ Not all change orders will require Consor input; change orders will be sent to Consor by the City’s 
CM Representative when design engineer input is desired.  

➢ An average of four (4) hours will be required per change order review  

➢ Change order review comments will be submitted to the City’s CM Representative. 

➢ Each site visit will be up to three (3) hours in duration, including travel time 

➢ Site visit observation report will be developed in Word or similar format and will be submitted to 
the City’s CM Representative. 

➢ As-built plan review will take up to eight (8) hours in duration 

➢ O&M Manual review will take up to sixteen (16) hours in duration 

Page 19 of 23

Page 125 of 208



Consor • January 2023 • City of Port Orchard 
Splash Pad ESDC • 4 
G:\PDX_BD\Clients\Port Orchard\General\Splash Pad ESDC Scoping\Exhibit A - Port Orchard Splash Pad ESDC Scope_v3.docx 

➢ Commissioning site visit will take up to 8 hours in duration, including travel time, and does not 
include any commissioning services 

Deliverables 

➢ Design modification 

➢ Design modifications will be stamped by a Professional Engineer licensed in the state of 
Washington 

➢ Submittal reviews 

➢ RFI responses  

➢ Change order reviews 

➢ Site visit observation report documenting conditions, activities, and summary of discussions and 
any issues noted. 

➢ As-built plan markups, where needed 

➢ O&M Manuals review 

➢ Commissioning site visit report  

Task 3 – Contingency 

Project contingency includes budget for additional, unanticipated labor and/or expenses not specifically 
identified in the scope of services defined above. Such work items will be undertaken only after written 
authorization has been provided by the City’s Project Manager.  

Assumptions 

To be determined. 

Deliverables 

To be determined. 

Proposed Schedule 

Work will begin upon receipt of a signed contract and notice to proceed, or other agreeable written 
authorization. Work will proceed in a timely manner with an anticipated completion date seven (7) months 
from notice to proceed. The project duration is based on timely input, information, City staff availability to 
access assessed stations, and review comments from City staff.  

Fee Estimate 

The detailed fee estimate is provided as Exhibit B. 

Payment will be made at the Billing rates for personnel working directly on the project, which will be made 
at the Consultant’s Hourly Rates, plus Direct Expenses incurred. Subconsultants, when required by the 

Page 20 of 23

Page 126 of 208



Consor • January 2023 • City of Port Orchard 
Splash Pad ESDC • 5 

G:\PDX_BD\Clients\Port Orchard\General\Splash Pad ESDC Scoping\Exhibit A - Port Orchard Splash Pad ESDC Scope_v3.docx 

Consultant, will be charged at actual costs plus a 10 percent fee to cover administration and overhead. 
Direct expenses will be paid at the rates shown in the table below. 

Direct Expenses 

Expenses incurred in-house that are directly attributable to the project will be invoiced at actual cost. These 
expenses include the following. 

Computer Aided Design and Drafting $18.00/hour 
GIS and Hydraulic Modeling $10.00/hour 
Mileage Current IRS Rate 
Postage and Delivery Services At Cost 
Printing and Reproduction At Cost 
Travel, Lodging, and Subsistence At Cost 

Page 21 of 23

Page 127 of 208



 
City of Port Orchard and Consor North America, Inc. 
Professional Service Agreement Contract No. C005-23 
McCormick Village Park Splash Pad Construction Support 
 
Updated 4/2022 IBDR  
 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 
 

Rates for Services to be Provided by Consultant.  The Consultant shall furnish the services in accordance 
with the rates specified attached hereto, as Exhibit B. 
 

Page 22 of 23

Page 128 of 208



SPLASH PAD ENGINEERING SERVICES DURING CONSTRUCTION (ESDC)
CITY OF PORT ORCHARD

PROPOSED FEE ESTIMATE

LABOR CLASSIFICATION (HOURS)

Principal Engineer 
VI

Principal Engineer 
III

Professional 
Engineer VII

Engineering 
Designer III

Project 
Coordinator IV Administrative III Hours Labor Expenses CADD Units $18/hr GIS Units $10/hr Total

Task 1 - Project Management and Coordination
Task 1.1 - Coordination with City 2 3 5 1,446$                         -$                      -$                          -$                         1,446$            
Task 1.2 - Invoices and Budget Oversight 7 9 16 2,420$                         -$                      -$                          -$                         2,420$            
Task 1.3 - Pre-Construction Meeting 4 4 888$                            38$                       -$                          -$                         926$               

Task 1 Subtotal 2 3 4 0 7 9 25 4,754$                      38$                     -$                       -$                      4,792$          

Task 2 - Engineering Services During Construction
Task 2.1 - Construction Meetings 2 8 10 2,394$                         -$                      -$                          -$                         2,394$            
Task 2.2 - Design Modifications 8 8 16 4,248$                         -$                      -$                          -$                         4,248$            
Task 2.3 - Submittal Reviews 10 10 60 80 16,230$                       -$                      -$                          -$                         16,230$          
Task 2.4 - Requests for Information 10 10 10 30 7,130$                         -$                      -$                          -$                         7,130$            
Task 2.5 - Change Order Review 4 6 6 16 3,660$                         -$                      -$                          -$                         3,660$            
Task 2.6 - Construction Observation Site Visits 9 9 18 3,636$                         225$                     -$                          -$                         3,861$            
Task 2.7 - Review of As-Built Plans and Operations and Maintenance (O&M) Manuals 8 16 24 4,688$                         -$                      -$                          -$                         4,688$            
Task 2.8 - Commissioning Site Visit 8 8 2,472$                         -$                      -$                          -$                         2,472$            

Task 2 Subtotal 42 0 59 101 0 0 202 44,458$                    225$                   -$                       -$                      44,683$        

Task 3 - Contingency
Task 3.1 - Contingency 0 -$                                 8,000$                  -$                          -$                         8,000$            

Task 3 Subtotal 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -$                              8,000$                -$                       -$                      8,000$          

  TOTAL - ALL TASKS 44 3 63 101 7 9 227 49,212$                   8,263$               -$                       -$                     57,475$       

City of Port Orchard
January 2023
G:\PDX_BD\Clients\Port Orchard\General\Splash Pad ESDC Scoping\COPO ESDC LOE_v3

Consor
Splash Pad ESDC

Page 1

Page 23 of 23

Page 129 of 208



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7B Meeting Date: January 24, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Approving a  Prepared by: Nicholas Bond, AICP 

 Multifamily Property Tax Exemption   DCD Director 
 Agreement for the Blueberry Apartments      Atty Routing No.: Development-Matter 11 
  Atty Review Date: December 27, 2022 

 
Issue:  Since 2016, Port Orchard has offered a property tax exemption program to encourage the creation of 
multi-family housing pursuant to RCW 84.14.  The Multifamily Property Tax Exemption program exempts certain 
new, converted or rehabilitated multifamily developments from ad valorem property taxation (i.e. improvements 
to vacant land, or to existing buildings) for either 8 or 12 years from issuance of the certification of exemption, 
depending on whether a project will include at least 20% of housing units to be available below market rents. 
 
The City has received a multifamily property tax exemption application from Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC., for 
construction of 108 new apartment units in five buildings on approximately 4.21 acres, located in a designated tax 
exemption target area adjacent near SE Blueberry Rd and Bethel Rd SE. The Developer is seeking an eight-year tax 
exemption. The project meets the criteria for an 8-year tax exemption and as such, a multifamily housing limited 
property tax exemption agreement has been prepared for approval. 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends that the City Council approve a resolution authorizing the Mayor to accept 
and sign a Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement between the City and Blueberry 
Apartments QOZB, LLC, as presented.  
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: The Multifamily Property Tax Exemption (MPTE) implements the Housing 
Element of the City of Port Orchard’s Comprehensive Plan. Specifically, the MPTE implements Goals 1, 2, 3, 5 and 
9 and certain associated policies. 
 
Motion for consideration: “I move to adopt a resolution, authorizing the Mayor to execute a Multifamily Housing 
Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement between the City and Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC, as 
presented.” 
 

  Fiscal Impact: The tax exemption will reduce property tax revenue to the city for a period of eight years for the 
proposed project.  The construction of this apartment project will generate other revenue that may not otherwise 
be generated in the absence of this incentive. 

 
Alternatives:  Revise the Blueberry Apartments Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement; 
do not enter into a Multifamily Property Tax Exemption agreement for the project.  
 
Attachments: Resolution; Agreement; Exhibit A - site plans and floor plans for multi-family residential housing. 

Page 130 of 208



Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
Page 1 
1752135.2 - 366922 -0021 

RESOLUTION NO.  ____ 
 
 A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, TO AUTHORIZE 

THE ACCEPTANCE OF A MULTIFAMILY PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN BLUEBERRY APARTMENTS QOZB, LLC AND THE CITY RELATING TO THE 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SUBJECT MULTIFAMILY HOUSING PROJECT 
AND ITS ELIGIBILITY FOR THE 8-YEAR PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AS PROVIDED 
BY CHAPTER 3.48 OF THE PORT ORCHARD MUNICIPAL CODE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard Municipal Code (POMC), Chapter 3.48, provides a multifamily 
property tax exemption pursuant to the requirements of that chapter; and 
 
 WHEREAS, POMC 3.48.060 provides that, to be eligible for the multifamily property tax 
exemption, the subject project must meet the following requirements: (1) the project must be 
located within a residential targeted area as defined in POMC 3.48.040; (2) the project must not 
displace existing tenants; (3) existing dwelling units proposed for rehabilitation must fail to comply 
with one or more standards of the applicable state or city building codes; (4) the new, converted, or 
rehabilitated multiple-unit housing must provide for a minimum of 50 percent of the space for 
permanent residential occupancy and must include at least 10 units of multifamily housing; (5) new 
construction of multifamily housing and rehabilitation improvements must be completed within 
three years from the date of approval of the application; and (6) the project must be designed to 
comply with the city’s comprehensive plan, building, housing, and zoning codes, and any other 
applicable regulations, standards or guidelines; and  
 
 WHEREAS, POMC 3.48.080 requires that, if the Director of the Department of Community 
Development approves an application for the multifamily property tax exemption, the applicant 
must enter into an agreement with the City regarding the terms and conditions of the 
implementation of the project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the multifamily property tax exemption agreement must be approved by the 
Port Orchard City Council, in the form of a resolution, regarding the terms and conditions of the 
project and eligibility for exemption under Chapter 3.48 POMC; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City received an application for multifamily property tax exemption from 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC, pertaining to a project titled Blueberry Apartments (the “subject 
project”) under the “Type 2: Redevelopment Areas” residential targeted area; and  
  
 WHEREAS, the Director of the Department of Community Development has determined 
that the subject project meets the eligibility requirements set forth in POMC 3.48.060; has approved 
the application for the 8-year Type 2 tax exemption; and recommends approval of the attached 

Page 131 of 208



Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
Page 2 
1752135.2 - 366922 -0021 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement as accurately setting forth the 
terms and conditions of the subject project and eligibility for exemption under Chapter 3.48 POMC; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council has determined to approve the attached 
Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement; now, therefore, 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 

THAT: Recitals.  The recitals set forth above are hereby incorporated by reference as 
if set forth in full herein. 
 
THAT: Authorization for Signature.  The City of Port Orchard hereby authorizes the 
Mayor to accept and sign the Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption 
Agreement in substantially the form as is attached to this Resolution. 

 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 

by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage this 24th day of January 2023. 
 

 
         
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
    
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132 of 208



Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
Page 3 
1752135.2 - 366922 -0021 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
MULTIFAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this __ day of _____________, 20__, by and between 

Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC, a Washington limited liability company (hereinafter referred to 
as the “Owner”), and the City of Port Orchard, a municipal corporation of the State of Washington 
(hereinafter referred to as the “City”).  

WITNESSETH: 

 WHEREAS, the City has an interest in stimulating new construction or rehabilitation of multi-
family housing in Residential Target Areas in order to reduce development pressure on single-family 
residential neighborhoods, to increase and improve housing opportunities, and to encourage 
development densities supportive of transit use; and  

 WHEREAS, the City has, pursuant to the authority granted to it by Chapter 84.14 RCW, 
designated various Residential Target Areas for the provision of a limited property tax exemption 
for new multi-family residential housing; and  

 WHEREAS the City has, through Chapter 3.48 Port Orchard Municipal code (POMC), enacted 
a program whereby property owners may qualify for a Final Certificate of Tax Exemption which 
certifies to the Kitsap County Assessor that the owner is eligible to receive a limited property tax 
exemption; and  

 WHEREAS, the Owner is interested in receiving the multiple family property tax exemption 
for new multifamily residential housing units in a residential targeted area; and  

 WHEREAS, the Owner has submitted to the City a complete application form for no fewer 
than ten (10) units of new multifamily housing within a residential structure or as part of an urban 
development; and 

 WHEREAS, the Owner has submitted to the City preliminary site plans and floor plans for 
multi-family residential housing more particularly described in Exhibit A which is attached hereto 
and incorporated by reference herein (the “Project”) to be constructed on said property (the “Site”) 
legally described as:  

PARCEL 1: LOT B, SHORT SUBDIVISION NO. 2586, RECORDED UNDER AUDITOR’S 
FILE NO. 8103110065, BEING A PORTION OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER, SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1 EAST, W.M., IN 
KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON; EXCEPT THAT PORTION CONVEYED TO KITSAP 
COUNTY FOR BLUEBERRY ROAD SE UNDER AUDITOR’S FILE NO. 200904300075 

PARCEL 2: LOT A, SHORT SUBDIVISION NO. 2586, RECORDED UNDER AUDITOR’S 
FILE NO. 8103110065, BEING A PORTION OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE 

Page 133 of 208



Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
Page 4 
1752135.2 - 366922 -0021 

SOUTHEAST QUARTER, SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1 EAST, W.M., IN 
KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON; EXCEPT THAT PORTION CONVEYED TO KITSAP 
COUNTY FOR BLUEBERRY ROAD SE UNDER AUDITOR’S FILE NO. 200904300075 

PARCEL 3: THAT PORTION OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST 
QUARTER, SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1 EAST, W.M., IN KITSAP 
COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT A POINT 990 
FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 2, THENCE SOUTH 330 FEET; THENCE WEST 660 FEET; THENCE NORTH 
330 FEET; THENCE EAST 660 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; EXCEPT RAMSEY 
ROAD SE; AND EXCEPT THAT PORTION LYING WITHIN SHORT SUBDIVISION NO. 
2586, RECORDED UNDER AUDITOR'S FILE NO. 8103110065; AND EXCEPT THAT 
PORTION CONVEYED TO KITSAP COUNTY FOR BLUEBERRY ROAD SE UNDER 
AUDITOR'S FILE NO. 200904300075; AND EXCEPT THE EAST 30 FEET FOR BETHEL 
ROAD. 

Kitsap County Tax Assessor Parcel No(s). 022301-4-026-2008, 
022301-4-012-2004 and 022301-4-043-2007 located at 4336 Bethel 
Road SE in the City of Port Orchard  

 WHEREAS, the City has determined that the improvements will, if completed as proposed, 
satisfy the requirements of for a Final Certificate of Tax Exemption;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Owner do mutually agree as follows:  

1. The City agrees to issue the Owner a Conditional Certificate of Acceptance of Tax 
Exemption.  

2. The Owner agrees to construct on the Site multi-family residential housing generally 
as described in the site plans, floor plans, and elevations on file (22-671, 22-672, 22-673, 22-674 and 
22-675) with the City as of the date of administrative approval of this Agreement. Provided however, 
that the building permits (22-671, 22-672, 22-673, 22-674 and 22-675) as approved by the City will 
establish the final configuration of the development which may differ from the site plan and other 
earlier submittals. 

3. The Project must comply with all applicable zoning requirements, land use 
requirements, design review requirements and all building, fire, and housing code requirements 
contained in the Port Orchard municipal Code (herein referred to as the “POMC”) at the time a fully 
complete application for a building permit is submitted to the City.  

4. The new multiple-unit housing must provide for a minimum of fifty (50) percent of 
the space for permanent residential occupancy.  The Project must include at least ten (10) units of 
multifamily housing within a residential structure or as part of an urban development. 

Page 134 of 208



Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
Page 5 
1752135.2 - 366922 -0021 

5. The Owner agrees to complete construction of the agreed upon improvements 
within three years from the date the City issues the Conditional Certificate of Acceptance of Tax 
Exemption, or within any extension thereof granted by the City.   

6. The Owner is requesting an eight-year limited property tax exemption.  The Owner 
agrees, upon completion of the improvements and upon issuance by the City of a temporary or 
permanent certificate of occupancy, to file with the City’s Department of Community Development 
the following:  

a. A statement of expenditures made with respect to each multi-family housing 
unit and the total expenditures made with request to the entire site;  

b. A description of the completed work and a statement of qualification for the 
exemption; and  

c. A statement that the work was completed within the required three (3) year 
period or any authorized extension. 

7. The City agrees, conditioned on the Owner’s successful completion of the 
improvements in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and on the Owner’s filing of the 
materials described in the preceding paragraph, to file an eight or twelve year (as applicable) Final 
Certificate of Tax Exemption with the Kitsap County Assessor.  

8. The Owner agrees, within thirty (30) days following the first anniversary of the City’s 
filing of the Final Certificate of Tax Exemption and each year thereafter for a period of eight years to 
file a notarized and sworn declaration with the City’s Department of Community Development 
stating all of the following:  

a. A statement of occupancy and vacancy of the multi-family units during the 
previous twelve (12) months;  

b. A certification that the property has not changed use and continues to be in 
compliance with this Agreement and with Chapter 3.48 POMC; and  

c. A description of changes or improvements constructed after issuance of the 
certificate of tax exemption;  

d. The total monthly rent of each multifamily housing unit rented or the 
total sale amount of each unit sold during the 12 months ending with the anniversary date; 

e. A breakdown of the number, type, and specific multifamily housing units 
rented or sold during the 12 months ending with the anniversary date; 

Page 135 of 208



Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
Page 6 
1752135.2 - 366922 -0021 

f. The value of the tax exemption for the project;  

g. Any information needed by the City to file its annual report pursuant to Port 
Orchard Municipal Code (POMC) 3.48.120 and any additional information requested by the City in 
regards to the units receiving a tax exemption.; and 

h. Any additional information requested by the city pursuant to meeting any 
reporting requirements under Chapter 84.14 RCW. 

9. The Parties acknowledge that the units are to be used an occupied for multifamily 
residential use.  The Parties further acknowledge that the certificate of occupancy issued by the City 
is for multi-family residential units.  The Owner acknowledges and agrees that the units shall be used 
primarily for residential occupancy and any business activities shall only be incidental and ancillary 
to the residential occupancy.  

10. If the Owner converts to another use any of the new multi-family residential housing 
units constructed under this Agreement, the Owner shall notify the Kitsap County Assessor and the 
City’s Department of Community Development within sixty (60) days of such change in use.  

11. The Owner agrees to notify the City promptly of any transfer of Owner’s ownership 
interest in the Site or in the improvements made to the Site under this Agreement.  

12. For purposes of this Agreement, “Owner” shall mean the Property Owner if the 
development is comprised of rental units or shall mean the Owners Association of a condominium 
complex (if the development contains any ownership units) once such association is established. 
The Owner shall be responsible for all reporting requirements required herein on behalf of the 
owners of individual condominium units, if applicable.  

13. If the Project includes any owner-occupied units, the Owner is required to form an 
Owner’s Association to be organized under RCW 64.34.300 for all owner-occupied units within the 
development. Such organization shall remain operational and in effect until at least the length of 
the exemption period has expired and the final report is filed with the City. This Owner’s Association 
shall assume the responsibility for collecting from all individual unit owners the information and 
documents required to complete the annual reporting requirements and for filing the required 
annual report with the City pursuant to Section 8 of this Agreement and Chapter 3.48 POMC. 

14. The City reserves the right to cancel the Final Certificate of Tax Exemption should the 
Owner, its successors and assigns, fail to comply with any of the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement.  If the exemption is cancelled for non-compliance, Owner acknowledges that state law 
requires that an additional real property tax is imposed in the amount of (A) the difference between 
the tax paid and the tax that would have been paid if it had included the value of the non-qualifying 

Page 136 of 208



Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
Page 7 
1752135.2 - 366922 -0021 

improvements, dated back to the date that the improvements became non-qualifying; (B) a penalty 
of 20% of the difference calculated under paragraph (A) of this paragraph; and (C) interest at the 
statutory rate on delinquent property taxes and penalties, calculated from the date the tax would 
have been due without penalty if the improvements had been assessed without regard to the 
exemptions provided by Chapter 84.14 RCW and POMC Chapter 3.48 POMC.  Applicant 
acknowledges that, pursuant to RCW 84.14.110, any additional tax owed, together with interest and 
penalty, becomes a lien on that portion of the Property on which the Project is constructed and 
attaches at the time the portion of the Property is removed from multifamily use or the amenities 
no longer meet applicable requirements, and that the lien has priority to and must be fully paid and 
satisfied before a recognizance, mortgage, judgment, debt, obligation, or responsibility to or with 
which the Property may become charged or liable.  Applicant further acknowledges that RCW 
84.14.110 provides that any such lien may be foreclosed in the manner provided by law for 
foreclosure of liens for delinquent real property taxes. 

15. Nothing in this Agreement shall permit or be interpreted to permit either Party to 
violate any provision of Chapter 84.14 RCW or POMC Chapter 3.48.  

16. Modification. No modifications of this Agreement shall be made unless mutually 
agreed upon by the Parties in writing.  

17. Acknowledgement of Tax Liability. The Owner acknowledges its awareness of the 
potential tax liability involved if and when the property ceases to be eligible for the incentive 
provided pursuant to this Agreement.  Such liability may include additional real property tax, 
penalties and interest imposed pursuant to RCW 84.14.110.  The Owner further acknowledges its 
awareness and understanding of the process implemented by the Kitsap County Assessor’s Office 
for the appraisal and assessment of property taxes.  The Owner agrees that the City is not 
responsible for the property value assessment imposed by Kitsap County at any time during the 
exemption period.  

18. City’s Right to Audit. The Owner acknowledges and agrees that the City has the right 
to audit or review appropriate records to assure compliance with this Agreement and POMC 
Chapter 3.48 and to perform evaluations of the effectiveness of the Multifamily Tax Exemption 
program. The Owner agrees to make appropriate records available for review or audit upon seven 
days’ written notice by the City. 

19. Notice. All notices to be given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall 
be deemed given when hand-delivered within normal business hours, on the day of delivery when 
sent via overnight delivery with a common carrier, or two business days after having been mailed, 
postage prepaid, to the Parties hereto at the addresses set forth below, or to such other place as a 
Party may from time to time designate in writing. 

Page 137 of 208



Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
Page 8 
1752135.2 - 366922 -0021 

CITY:   Department of Community Development 
City of Port Orchard  
216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA 98366 
Attn: Director 

 
OWNER:  Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
   Attn: Steve Novotny 
   7809 Pacific Ave 
   Tacoma, WA  98408 
 

20. Severability. In the event that any term or clause of this Agreement conflicts with 
applicable law, such conflict shall not affect other terms of this Agreement which can be given effect 
without the conflicting term or clause, and to this end, the terms of this Agreement are declared to 
be severable.  

21. Recording. This Agreement shall be recorded at the Owner’s expense and shall be a 
covenant running with the land and shall be binding on the assigns, heirs, and successors of the 
Owner.  

22. Applicable Law, Resolution of Disputes, and Attorneys’ Fees.  Jurisdiction of any 
resulting litigation shall be filed in Kitsap County Superior Court, Kitsap County, Washington. This 
Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Washington. The non-prevailing Party in any action brought to enforce this Agreement shall pay the 
other Parties' expenses and reasonable attorney's fees. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and 
year first above written.  

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
 
 

 PROPERTY OWNERS 

Robert Putaansuu, Mayor   By:  

  Its:  
    
Nick Bond, Director  By:  
Dept. of Community Development  Its:  
    

 

Page 138 of 208



Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
Page 9 
1752135.2 - 366922 -0021 

_______________________________ 
Noah Crocker 
Finance Director  
 
 
 
Attest:  
 
 
_______________________________ 
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to Form:  
 
 
_______________________________ 
Charlotte A. Archer, City Attorney 
 

 

  

Page 139 of 208



Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
Page 10 
1752135.2 - 366922 -0021 

NOTARY BLOCK BLUEBERRY APARTMENTS QOZB, LLC 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
)  ss. 

COUNTY OF    ) 
 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that      is the person 
who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that (he/she) signed this instrument, 
on oath stated that (he/she) was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as 
the     of Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC to be the free and voluntary act of 
such party for the uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 
 

Dated:      20  
 
       
 
       

(print or type name) 
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the  
State of Washington, residing at:  

        
 

My Commission expires:  
  

Page 140 of 208



Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Blueberry Apartments QOZB, LLC 
Page 11 
1752135.2 - 366922 -0021 

 
NOTARY BLOCK FOR CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 

)  ss. 
COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that  Robert Putaansuu is the person 
who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that (he/she) signed this instrument, 
on oath stated that he was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as the  
Mayor of Port Orchard   to be the free and voluntary act of such party for the uses and purposes 
mentioned in the instrument. 
 

Dated:     20  
  
       
 
       

(print or type name) 
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the  
State of Washington, residing at: 

          

My Commission expires:   
 
 

 

Page 141 of 208



REVISIONS

REVISIONS

A
G

E
N

C
Y 

R
E

V
IE

W
 S

U
B

M
IT

TA
L 

 | 
 2

2.
07

.0
8

BL / CM

BL

22.07.08

TH
E

 B
LU

E
B

E
R

R
Y 

A
PA

R
TM

E
N

TS
B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 4

B
E

TH
E

L 
R

D
 &

 B
LU

E
B

E
R

R
Y 

R
D

 P
O

R
T 

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 W

A

2020

AG1.2

REUSE OF DOCUMENTS
THIS DOCUMENT AND THE IDEAS AND DESIGNS
INCORPORATED HERIN, AS INSTRUMENTS OF

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE, ARE THE PROPERTY OF
SYNTHESIS 9, LLC AND ARE NOT TO BE USED OR

REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE
WRITTEN AUTHORIZATION OF SYNTHESIS 9, LLC.

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

PROJECT # :

SHEET:

TITLE:

DATE:

CODE
DIAGRAMS

SYNTHESIS 9, LLC
523 N. D ST.

TACOMA, WA 98403

1,091 sq ft

1,949 sq ft

97
 s

q 
ft

33 sq ft

78
79

80
81

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
10

11

33

515253545556575859606162

162 161 160 159 158 157 156 155 154 153 152

4041424344454647484950

14
7

14
6

14
5

14
4

14
3

14
2

71
72

73
74

6364656667686970

12

17
5

17
4

17
3

88 87 86 85 84 83 82

18
3

18
2

18
1

17
8

17
7

17
6

166 165 164 163

111 112 113 114 115 116 117 118 119 120 121 122

109108107106

17
2

17
1

17
0

109 110

18
0

17
9

148149150151

140 141

12
5

12
4

12
3

13
7

13
8

13
9

13
1

13
0

12
9

12
8

12
7

12
6

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22

75
76

77

32
31

30
29

28
27

26
25

24
23

13
2

13
3

13
4

13
5

13
6

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

39
38

37
36

35
34

16
9

16
8

16
7

26
'-0

"

6'
-6

"5'
-0

"

22'-0"

20'-0" 22'-0" 20'-0"20'-0" 26'-0" 20'-0" 21'-1/2" 20'-0" 22'-0" 136'-7 1/4"

25'-1/2" 16'-0" 26'-0" 20'-0"
6'-0"

60'-10" 138'-5 1/2" 15'-7" 78'-11 1/2"

21
'-0

"

11'-4"

13'-1/2"

44
'-3

 1
/4

"
44

'-3
 1

/4
"

30'-5" 30'-5"

11'-5" 173'-11"

27
1'

-8
 1

/4
"

17
3'

-1
1"

7'
-3

"
78

'-4
 3

/4
"

20
'-1

 1
/4

"

1'
-6

"
90

'-0
"

1'
-6

"
13

'-9
 1

/4
"

1'
-6

"
68

'-6
"

2'
-4

 1
/2

"
5'

-0
"

REFUSE 
STORAGE
597 sq ft

ROOF AREA
9,298 sq ft

1,888 sq ft

44
7 

sq
 ft

62
3 

sq
 ft

959 sq ft
1,092 sq ft

79 sq ft

905 sq ft

4,890 sq ft

34 sq ft

2,
01

8 
sq

 ft

327 sq ft

1,438 sq ft

37
5 

sq
 ft

38
0 

sq
 ft

33
3 

sq
 ft

8,649 sq ft

389 sq ft
2,044 sq ft

747 sq ft

1,124 sq ft

393 sq ft496 sq ft498 sq ft

455 sq ft

1,270 sq ft

2,607 sq ft

3,
36

0 
sq

 ft

261 sq ft 401 sq ft

2,244 sq ft

16
9 

sq
 ft

13
5 

sq
 ft

16
4 

sq
 ft

13,883 sq ft

356 sq ft

246 sq ft

413 sq ft

900 sq ft

1,804 sq ft

436 sq ft
33 sq ft

1,365 sq ft

C C C C C C C C C C C C

C

C C C C C C C

VAN

C C

CCC

C C
C

C

C
C

C
C

C
C

CC

C C

CC

C
C

C

C C

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

S
 F

A
C

A
D

E
 D

IM
E

N
S

IO
N

S
 T

O
TA

L 
17

4-
ft 

W
H

IC
H

 IS
 6

4%
 O

F 
TH

E
 F

R
O

N
TA

G
E

89 90 91 94 95 96 97 98 99 100 101 102 103 10492 93

11'-9 1/4"

10
'-0

"

137'-11 1/2" 16'-1"

45
'-6

"
5'

-0
"

27
'-0

"
53

'-9
 1

/4
"

27
'-0

"
8'

-0
"

22'-1 1/2"

15
'-0

"
5'

-0
"

23
'-3

"
55

'-6
"

26
'-6

"

20
'-0

"
10

'-0
"

10'-0"

12
'-3

"
59

'-4
 3

/4
"

88
'-6

 3
/4

"
11

7'
-1

1 
1/

2"
20

'-2
"

6'-8"
6'-0"

109'-6"
8'-2 1/4"

102'-0" 9'-3"

8'-1/2"8'-1/2"

FOOTPRINT
5,513 sq ft

FOOTPRINT
6,638 sq ft

YARD SPACE
5,297 sq ft

YARD SPACE
4,741 sq ft

YA
R

D
 S

PA
C

E
1,

45
8 

sq
 ft

FOOTPRINT
840 sq ft

YARD SPACE
1,809 sq ft

YA
R

D
 S

PA
C

E
1,

14
2 

sq
 ft

23
6 

sq
 ft

19
8 

sq
 ft

251 sq ft

79
 s

q 
ft

141 sq ft

562 sq ft

C
A

R
P

O
R

T #1
(7 S

TA
LLS

)

CARPORT #5
(11 STALLS)

C
A

R
P

O
R

T 
#6

(7
 S

TA
LL

S
)

C
A

R
P

O
R

T #2
(7 S

TA
LLS

)

CARPORT #4
(11 STALLS)

33 sq ft

185 sq ft

CARPORT #7
(11 STALLS)

FOOTPRINT
8,988 sq ft FOOTPRINT

3,788 sq ft

ROOF AREA
4,453 sq ft

11
1 

sq
 ft

34 sq ft

CARPORT #3
(9 STALLS)

ROOF AREA
6,533 sq ft

ROOF AREA:
10,415 sq ft

ROOF AREA
7,828 sq ft

ROOF AREA:
10,368 sq ft

FOOTPRINT AREA:
8,952 sq ft

INFRASTRUCTURE FOR (6) FUTURE,
ELECTRIC CHARGING STATIONS

(6) L.T. BIKE STALLS

(6) L.T. BIKE STALLS

(6) L.T. BIKE STALLS

EXTERIOR
MAILBOXES

14'x26' COMPACTOR

(4) S.T. BIKE STALLS

(4) S.T. BIKE STALLS

(4) S.T. BIKE STALLS

30" STEP
UP TO THE

WEST

30" STEP
UP TO THE

WESTRISER
ROOM

RISER
ROOM

RISER
ROOM

59-LF OF PERIMETER WALL
FIRE SEPARATION  20-FT

311-LF OF PERIMETER WALL
FIRE SEPARATION > 30-FT

489-LF OF PERIMETER WALL
FIRE SEPARATION > 30-FT

FIRE SEPARATION LINE

355-LF OF PERIMETER WALL
FIRE SEPARATION > 30-FT 225-LF OF PERIMETER WALL

FIRE SEPARATION > 30-FT

60-LF OF PERIMETER WALL
FIRE SEPARATION  21-FT

429-LF OF PERIMETER WALL
FIRE SEPARATION > 30-FT

FIRE SEPARATION LINE

FIRE SEPARATION LINE

R
A

M
SE

Y 
R

D
 S

E

BLD'G #3
(TYPE 3)
3-STORY
24-UNIT

1 BEDRMS
BLD'G #5

(TYPE 5)
3-STORY
24-UNIT

2 BEDRMS

B
ET

H
EL

 R
D

 S
E

BLUEBERRY RD

BLD'G #2
(TYPE 2)
3-STORY
24-UNIT

(12) 2 BEDRMS
(12) 1 BEDRMS

BLD'G #4
(TYPE 4)
3-STORY
24-UNIT

2 BEDRMS

BLD'G #6

BLD'G #1
(TYPE 1)
3-STORY
12-UNIT

2 BEDRMS

BLD'G #3 FRONTAGE CALCULATION
(TYPE VB W/ NFPA 13R SPRINKLERS)

EQUATION #5-4: MINIMUM FRONTAGE DISTANCE
(59 x 20 + 311 x 30) / 370 = 28

EQUATION #5-5: AMOUNT OF INCREASE
(370 / 370 - 0.25) x 28 / 30 = 0.7

EQUATION #5-2: SINGLE-OCCUPANCY, MULTISTORY
[7,000 + (7,000 x 0.7)] x 3
[7,000 + 4,900] x 3 = 35,700-SF

NO STORY SHALL EXCEED
[7,000 + (7,000 x 0.7)] x 1 = 11,900-SF

TOTAL BUILDING
PERIMETER  = 370-LF

TOTAL BUILDING
PERIMETER  = 489-LF

BLD'G #4 FRONTAGE CALCULATION
(TYPE VB W/ NFPA 13R SPRINKLERS)

EQUATION #5-4: MINIMUM FRONTAGE DISTANCE
(489 x 30) / 489 = 30

EQUATION #5-5: AMOUNT OF INCREASE
(489 / 489 - 0.25) x 30 / 30 = 0.75

EQUATION #5-2: SINGLE-OCCUPANCY, MULTISTORY
[7,000 + (7,000 x 0.75)] x 3
[7,000 + 5,250] x 3 = 36,750-SF

NO STORY SHALL EXCEED
[7,000 + (7,000 x 0.75)] x 1 = 12,250-SF

TOTAL BUILDING
PERIMETER  = 414-LF

BLD'G #2 FRONTAGE CALCULATION
(TYPE VB W/ NFPA 13R SPRINKLERS)

EQUATION #5-4: MINIMUM FRONTAGE DISTANCE
(355 x 30) / 414 = 24

EQUATION #5-5: AMOUNT OF INCREASE
(355 / 414 - 0.25) x 24 / 30 = 0.49

EQUATION #5-2: SINGLE-OCCUPANCY, MULTISTORY
[7,000 + (7,000 x 0.49)] x 3
[7,000 + 3,430] x 3 = 31,290-SF

NO STORY SHALL EXCEED
[7,000 + (7,000 x 0.49)] x 1 = 10,430-SF

TOTAL BUILDING
PERIMETER  = 284-LF

BLD'G #1 FRONTAGE CALCULATION
(TYPE VB W/ NFPA 13R SPRINKLERS)

EQUATION #5-4: MINIMUM FRONTAGE DISTANCE
(225 x 30) / 284 = 24

EQUATION #5-5: AMOUNT OF INCREASE
(225 / 284 - 0.25) x 24 / 30 = 0.43

EQUATION #5-2: SINGLE-OCCUPANCY, MULTISTORY
[7,000 + (7,000 x 0.43)] x 3
[7,000 + 3,010] x 3 = 30,030-SF

NO STORY SHALL EXCEED
[7,000 + (7,000 x 0.43)] x 1 = 10,010-SF

TOTAL BUILDING
PERIMETER  = 489-LF

BLD'G #5 FRONTAGE CALCULATION
(TYPE VB W/ NFPA 13R SPRINKLERS)

EQUATION #5-4: MINIMUM FRONTAGE DISTANCE
(429 x 30 + 60 x 21) / 489 = 29

EQUATION #5-5: AMOUNT OF INCREASE
(489 / 489 - 0.25) x 29 / 30 = 0.73

EQUATION #5-2: SINGLE-OCCUPANCY, MULTISTORY
[7,000 + (7,000 x 0.73)] x 3
[7,000 + 5,110] x 3 = 36,330-SF

NO STORY SHALL EXCEED
[7,000 + (7,000 x 0.73)] x 1 = 12,110-SF

DN

4
5
6
7
8
910

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

C
us

to
m

 T
ex

t

48'-3"

52'-6"

48'-3"

52'-6"

48'-3"

52'-6"

EXIT EXIT

N

N

SCALE: 1"   = 30'1 FRONTAGE CALCULATIONS

SCALE: 3/32" =    1'-0"3 EXIT DIAGRAM - TYPICAL

Page 142 of 208

lstone
Counter Complete

lstone
Text Box
22-674

jfisk
Text Box
EXHIBIT A



REVISIONS

REVISIONS

A
G

E
N

C
Y 

R
E

V
IE

W
 S

U
B

M
IT

TA
L 

 | 
 2

2.
07

.0
8

BL / CM

BL

22.07.08

TH
E

 B
LU

E
B

E
R

R
Y 

A
PA

R
TM

E
N

TS
B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 4

B
E

TH
E

L 
R

D
 &

 B
LU

E
B

E
R

R
Y 

R
D

 P
O

R
T 

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 W

A

2020

A2.1

REUSE OF DOCUMENTS
THIS DOCUMENT AND THE IDEAS AND DESIGNS
INCORPORATED HERIN, AS INSTRUMENTS OF

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE, ARE THE PROPERTY OF
SYNTHESIS 9, LLC AND ARE NOT TO BE USED OR

REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE
WRITTEN AUTHORIZATION OF SYNTHESIS 9, LLC.

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

PROJECT # :

SHEET:

TITLE:

DATE:

ELEVATIONS

SYNTHESIS 9, LLC
523 N. D ST.

TACOMA, WA 98403

02

03

01

03-B

03-A

04

05

06

07

08

09

12

11-A

10

11-B

03-C

WINDOW OR DOOR ASSEMBLY; PROVIDE FIRE-RATED
ASSEMBLIES WHERE REQUIRED.

NOT USED

EXTERIOR CLADDING; NOTE ALL EXTERIOR WALL
ASSEMBLIES INCORPORATE A 'RAINSCREEN' SYSTEM

HARDIE-PLANK WITH 7" EXPOSURE

HARDIE-PANEL WITH PRIMED-TO-BE-PAINTED
ALUMINUM REVEALS (OR APPROVED SUBSTITUTE)
COLOR 1

HARDIE-PANEL WITH PRIMED-TO-BE-PAINTED
ALUMINUM REVEALS (OR APPROVED SUBSTITUTE)
COLOR 2

WINDOW TREATMENT -  WINDOWS SET IN CEMENT
FIBERBOARD CLADDING SHALL HAVE 4" WIDE (MINIMUM)
CEMENT BOARD WINDOW AND DOOR TRIM PER T.M.C.

42" TALL, PRE-FINISHED ALUMINUM GUARDRAILS W/
FACE-MOUNT CONNECTION TO STRUCTURE

LONG-TERM BICYCLE PARKING STALL; WITH WALL
MOUNT BRACKET; SEE PRODUCT INFORMATION  DETAILS

6" C.I.P. CONCRETE SLAB; SET ON 6 MIL PLASTIC VAPOR
BARRIER AND 4" (MIN.) AGGREGATE BASE COARSE; SEE
STRUCTURAL FOR RELATED INFORMATION

SINGLE-PLY ROOFING MEMBRANE

PRIMED, TO BE PAINTED, GUTTER / DOWNSPOUT

PEDESTRIAN DECK-COATING SYSTEM

NOT USED

NOT USED

BAFFLED RIDGE VENT OR BAFFLED SIDEWALL VENT

BUILDING REFERENCE NOTES

3 L1

4 L2

5 L3

6 R

10
'-1

 3
/4

"
10

'-1
 3

/4
"

9'
-1

 1
/4

"

29
'-4

 3
/4

"

44
'-1

/2
"

A B C D E F G

3 L1

4 L2

5 L3

6 R

10
'-1

 3
/4

"
10

'-1
 3

/4
"

9'
-1

 1
/4

"

29
'-4

 3
/4

"

3'-11" 4'-1 1/4" 4'-1 1/4" 3'-11"

8'-1/4" 8'-1/4"

4'-1 1/4" 4'-1 1/4" 3'-11"

8'-1/4"

8'-1/4"

4'-1 1/4" 4'-1 1/4" 3'-11"

8'
-0

"
2'

-2
 1

/2
"

8'-1/4"

3'-11" 4'-1 1/4" 4'-1 1/2"

10
'-1

 3
/4

"
10

'-1
 3

/4
"

9'
-1

 1
/4

"

8'
-0

"

9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 115 14 13 12 11 10

17
 s

q 
ft

17
 s

q 
ft

17
 s

q 
ft

17
 s

q 
ft14

 s
q 

ft

14
 s

q 
ft

14
 s

q 
ft

14
 s

q 
ft

14
 s

q 
ft

14
 s

q 
ft

14
 s

q 
ft

14
 s

q 
ft

8 sq ft

8 sq ft

8 sq ft

8 sq ft
28 sq ft 28 sq ft 28 sq ft

28 sq ft 28 sq ft 28 sq ft

28 sq ft 28 sq ft 28 sq ft

28 sq ft 28 sq ft 28 sq ft
28 sq ft

28 sq ft

28 sq ft 28 sq ft 28 sq ft

28 sq ft 28 sq ft 28 sq ft

3 L1

4 L2

5 L3

6 R

POMC MINIMUM FACING STREET PER STORY = 20%
IBC SEPARATION DISTANCE GREATER THAN 30', UP, NS = NO LIMIT

LEVEL 2 WALL AREA: 1,773 sq ft
GLAZING:  (4x34) + (8x28) = 360 sq ft
PERCENT TRANSPARENT: 360 / 1773 = 20%

LEVEL 1 WALL AREA: 1,773 sq ft
GLAZING: (2x8) + (8x14) + (4x17) + (6x28) = 364
PERCENT TRANSPARENT: 364 / 1773 = 21%

LEVEL 3 WALL AREA: 1,583 sq ft
GLAZING: (2x8) + (4x34) + (6x28) = 320 sq ft
PERCENT TRANSPARENT: 320 / 1583 = 20%

34 sq ft

34 sq ft

34 sq ft

34 sq ft

34 sq ft

34 sq ft

34 sq ft

34 sq ft

SCALE: 3/16" =    1'-0"1 EAST ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/8"   =    1'-0"2 SOUTH ELEVATION

SCALE: 3/32" =    1'-0"3 SOUTH ELEVATION TRANSPARENCY

Page 143 of 208



REVISIONS

REVISIONS

A
G

E
N

C
Y 

R
E

V
IE

W
 S

U
B

M
IT

TA
L 

 | 
 2

2.
07

.0
8

BL / CM

BL

22.07.08

TH
E

 B
LU

E
B

E
R

R
Y 

A
PA

R
TM

E
N

TS
B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 4

B
E

TH
E

L 
R

D
 &

 B
LU

E
B

E
R

R
Y 

R
D

 P
O

R
T 

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 W

A

2020

AS1.0

REUSE OF DOCUMENTS
THIS DOCUMENT AND THE IDEAS AND DESIGNS
INCORPORATED HERIN, AS INSTRUMENTS OF

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE, ARE THE PROPERTY OF
SYNTHESIS 9, LLC AND ARE NOT TO BE USED OR

REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE
WRITTEN AUTHORIZATION OF SYNTHESIS 9, LLC.

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

PROJECT # :

SHEET:

TITLE:

DATE:

SITE PLAN

SYNTHESIS 9, LLC
523 N. D ST.

TACOMA, WA 98403

1,091 sq ft

1,949 sq ft

97
 s

q 
ft

33 sq ft

78
79

80
81

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
10

11

33

515253545556575859606162

162 161 160 159 158 157 156 155 154 153 152

4041424344454647484950

14
7

14
6

14
5

14
4

14
3

14
2

71
72

73
74

6364656667686970

12

17
5

17
4

17
3

88 87 86 85 84 83 82

18
3

18
2

18
1

17
8

17
7

17
6

166 165 164 163

111 112 113 114 115 116 117 118 119 120 121 122

109108107106

17
2

17
1

17
0

109 110

18
0

17
9

148149150151

140 141

12
5

12
4

12
3

13
7

13
8

13
9

13
1

13
0

12
9

12
8

12
7

12
6

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22

75
76

77

32
31

30
29

28
27

26
25

24
23

13
2

13
3

13
4

13
5

13
6

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

39
38

37
36

35
34

16
9

16
8

16
7

26
'-0

"

6'
-6

"5'
-0

"

22'-0"

20'-0" 22'-0" 20'-0"20'-0" 26'-0" 20'-0" 21'-1/2" 20'-0" 22'-0" 136'-7 1/4"

25'-1/2" 16'-0" 26'-0" 20'-0"
6'-0"

60'-10" 138'-5 1/2" 15'-7" 78'-11 1/2"

21
'-0

"

11'-4"

13'-1/2"

44
'-3

 1
/4

"
44

'-3
 1

/4
"

30'-5" 30'-5"

29
8'

-3
 3

/4
"

579'-9 1/2"

11'-5" 173'-11"

27
1'

-8
 1

/4
"

17
3'

-1
1"

7'
-3

"
78

'-4
 3

/4
"

20
'-1

 1
/4

"

1'
-6

"
90

'-0
"

1'
-6

"
13

'-9
 1

/4
"

1'
-6

"
68

'-6
"

2'
-4

 1
/2

"
5'

-0
"

REFUSE 
STORAGE
597 sq ft

ROOF AREA
9,298 sq ft

1,888 sq ft

44
7 

sq
 ft

62
3 

sq
 ft

959 sq ft
1,092 sq ft

79 sq ft

905 sq ft

4,890 sq ft

34 sq ft

2,
01

8 
sq

 ft

327 sq ft

1,438 sq ft

37
5 

sq
 ft

38
0 

sq
 ft

33
3 

sq
 ft

8,649 sq ft

389 sq ft
2,044 sq ft

747 sq ft

1,124 sq ft

393 sq ft496 sq ft498 sq ft

455 sq ft

1,270 sq ft

2,607 sq ft

3,
36

0 
sq

 ft

261 sq ft 401 sq ft

2,244 sq ft

16
9 

sq
 ft

13
5 

sq
 ft

16
4 

sq
 ft

13,883 sq ft

356 sq ft

246 sq ft

413 sq ft

900 sq ft

1,804 sq ft

436 sq ft
33 sq ft

1,365 sq ft

C C C C C C C C C C C C

C

C C C C C C C

VAN

C C

CCC

C C
C

C

C
C

C
C

C
C

CC

C C

CC

C
C

C

C C

BUILDINGS FACADE DIMENSIONS TOTAL 542-ft WHICH IS 78% OF THE FRONTAGE

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

S
 F

A
C

A
D

E
 D

IM
E

N
S

IO
N

S
 T

O
TA

L 
11

7-
ft 

W
H

IC
H

 IS
 3

9%
 O

F 
TH

E
 F

R
O

N
TA

G
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

S
 F

A
C

A
D

E
 D

IM
E

N
S

IO
N

S
 T

O
TA

L 
17

4-
ft 

W
H

IC
H

 IS
 6

4%
 O

F 
TH

E
 F

R
O

N
TA

G
E

89 90 91 94 95 96 97 98 99 100 101 102 103 10492 93

11'-9 1/4"

10
'-0

"

137'-11 1/2" 16'-1"

45
'-6

"
5'

-0
"

27
'-0

"
53

'-9
 1

/4
"

27
'-0

"
8'

-0
"

22'-1 1/2"

15
'-0

"
5'

-0
"

23
'-3

"
55

'-6
"

26
'-6

"

20
'-0

"
10

'-0
"

10'-0"

12
'-3

"
59

'-4
 3

/4
"

88
'-6

 3
/4

"
11

7'
-1

1 
1/

2"
20

'-2
"

6'-8"
6'-0"

109'-6"
8'-2 1/4"

102'-0" 9'-3"

8'-1/2"8'-1/2"

FOOTPRINT
5,513 sq ft

FOOTPRINT
6,638 sq ft

YARD SPACE
5,297 sq ft

YARD SPACE
4,741 sq ft

YA
R

D
 S

PA
C

E
1,

45
8 

sq
 ft

FOOTPRINT
840 sq ft

YARD SPACE
1,809 sq ft

YA
R

D
 S

PA
C

E
1,

14
2 

sq
 ft

23
6 

sq
 ft

19
8 

sq
 ft

251 sq ft

79
 s

q 
ft

141 sq ft

562 sq ft
C

A
R

P
O

R
T #1

(7 S
TA

LLS
)

CARPORT #5
(11 STALLS)

C
A

R
P

O
R

T 
#6

(7
 S

TA
LL

S
)

C
A

R
P

O
R

T #2
(7 S

TA
LLS

)

CARPORT #4
(11 STALLS)

33 sq ft

185 sq ft

CARPORT #7
(11 STALLS)

FOOTPRINT
8,988 sq ft FOOTPRINT

3,788 sq ft

ROOF AREA
4,453 sq ft

11
1 

sq
 ft

34 sq ft

CARPORT #3
(9 STALLS)

ROOF AREA
6,533 sq ft

ROOF AREA:
10,415 sq ft

ROOF AREA
7,828 sq ft

ROOF AREA:
10,368 sq ft

FOOTPRINT AREA:
8,952 sq ft

INFRASTRUCTURE FOR (6) FUTURE,
ELECTRIC CHARGING STATIONS

(6) L.T. BIKE STALLS

(6) L.T. BIKE STALLS

(6) L.T. BIKE STALLS

EXTERIOR
MAILBOXES

14'x26' COMPACTOR

(4) S.T. BIKE STALLS

(4) S.T. BIKE STALLS

(4) S.T. BIKE STALLS

30" STEP
UP TO THE

WEST

30" STEP
UP TO THE

WESTRISER
ROOM

RISER
ROOM

RISER
ROOM

FIRE SEPARATION LINE

FIRE SEPARATION LINE

FIRE SEPARATION LINE

R
A

M
SE

Y 
R

D
 S

E

BLD'G #3
(TYPE 3)
3-STORY
24-UNIT

1 BEDRMS
BLD'G #5

(TYPE 5)
3-STORY
24-UNIT

2 BEDRMS

B
ET

H
EL

 R
D

 S
E

BLUEBERRY RD

BLD'G #2
(TYPE 2)
3-STORY
24-UNIT

(12) 2 BEDRMS
(12) 1 BEDRMS

BLD'G #4
(TYPE 4)
3-STORY
24-UNIT

2 BEDRMS

BLD'G #6

BLD'G #1
(TYPE 1)
3-STORY
12-UNIT

2 BEDRMS

2'
-0

"
5'

-0
"

8"

1/2" CONSTRUCTION
JOINT WITH
APPROVED

SEALANT

2" DIA. PAINTED STEEL POST W/CAP.
WELD TO BASE PLATE.

WHEN APPLICABLE PER PLAN

14" x 14" METAL SIGN
WITH INTERNATIONAL
SYMBOL OF ACCESS

6" x 6" x 1/4" GALV. STEEL
PLATE WELDED TO POST
W/ (4) 3/8" DIAMETER X
1/2" BOLTS

6" x6" x 1/4" GALV. METAL
PLATE W/ 2" DIAMETER
PIPE ANCHOR EMBEDDED
IN CONCRETE; BOLT TO
SIGN PIPE ASSEMBLY

STATE DISABLED PARKING
PERMIT REQUIRED

ACCESSIBLE
VAN

N

SCALE: 1"   = 30'1 SITE PLAN

SCALE: 1"       =    1'-0"2 SITE SIGNAGE

ACCESSIBLE MAILBOX REQUIREMENTS:

905.1 General. Accessible storage facilities shall comply with ICC
A117.1. Section 905.
905.2 Clear Floor Space. A clear floor space complying with ICC A117.1.
Section 305 shall be provided.
905.3 Height. Accessible storage elements shall comply with at least
one of the reach ranges specified in ICC A117.1. Section 308.
905.4 Operable Parts. Operable parts of storage facilities shall comply
with ICC A117.1. Section 309.

309.4 Operation. Operable parts shall be operable with one hand and
shall not require tight grasping, pinching, or twisting of the wrist. The
force required to activate operable parts shall be 5.0 pounds maximum.

308.2 Forward Reach.
308.2.1 Unobstructed. Where a forward reach is unobstructed, the high
forward reach shall be 48 inches maximum and the low forward reach
shall be 15 inches minimum above the floor.
308.3 Side Reach.
308.3.1 Unobstructed. Where a clear floor space allows a parallel
approach to an element and the side reach is unobstructed, the high
side reach shall be 48 inches maximum and the low side reach shall be
15 inches minimum above the floor.

LAND USE SITE LIGHTING REQUIREMENTS:

1. Light trespass. Light trespass from sites in non-residential zoning
districts shall not exceed 3 lux (0.3 foot candles) at parcel boundaries
with residential zoning districts. This luminance value shall be measured
at the eye in a plane perpendicular to the line-of-sight when looking at
the brightest source in the field of view at any point on the property line
of any residential parcel.
2. Residential light pollution. To ensure control of and to minimize glare,
any lighting within 100 feet of an R District shall use luminaries which
meet the Illuminating Engineering Society’s cutoff light distribution
specification.
3. General light pollution. To control and minimize glare, all other
luminaries for area and/or off-street parking shall meet the Illuminating
Engineering Society’s semi-cutoff light distribution specification. Lighting
shall be directed toward the site, with cutoff shields or other means, to
prevent spillover glare to adjacent properties or vehicular traffic.
Luminaires with a light source not greater than 1800 lumens (100 watt
incandescent) are exempt from this requirement.

Page 144 of 208

lstone
Text Box
22-674



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7C Meeting Date: January 24, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Approving a   Prepared by: Nicholas Bond, AICP 

 Multifamily Property Tax Exemption   DCD Director 
 Agreement for the Salmonberry      Atty Routing No.: Development-Matter 11 
 Apartments Atty Review Date: January 4, 2023 
    

 
Issue:  Since 2016, Port Orchard has offered a property tax exemption program to encourage the creation of multi-
family housing pursuant to RCW 84.14. The Multifamily Property Tax Exemption program exempts certain new, 
converted or rehabilitated multifamily developments from ad valorem property taxation (i.e. improvements to vacant 
land, or to existing buildings) for either 8 or 12 years from issuance of the certification of exemption, depending on 
whether a project will include at least 20% of housing units to be available below market rents. 
 
The City received a multifamily property tax exemption application from Family Legacy Development, LLC. for 
construction of 24 new apartment units in two buildings on a 1.29-acre site, located in a designated tax exemption area 
adjacent near SE Salmonberry Rd and Bethel Rd SE. The Developer is seeking a 12-year tax exemption and intends to 
provide 20% of units at below market rents in accordance with POMC 3.28.040 (1) (c). The project meets the criteria for 
a 12-year tax exemption and as such, a multifamily housing limited property tax exemption agreement for approval. 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends that the City Council approve a resolution authorizing the Mayor to execute a 
Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement between the City and Family Legacy Development, 
LLC, Inc., as presented.  
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: The Multifamily Property Tax Exemption (MPTE) implements the Housing 
Element of the City of Port Orchard’s Comprehensive Plan. Specifically, the MPTE implements Goals 1, 2, 3, 5 and 9 and 
certain associated policies. 
 
Motion for consideration: “I move to adopt a resolution authorizing the Mayor to accept and sign a Multifamily 
Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement between the City and Family Legacy Development, LLC, as 
presented.” 
 

  Fiscal Impact: The tax exemption will reduce property tax revenue to the city for a period of 12 years for the proposed 
project.  The construction of this apartment project will generate other revenue that may not otherwise be generated 
in the absence of this incentive. 

 
Alternatives:  Revise the Salmonberry Apartments Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement; 
do not enter into a Multifamily Property Tax Exemption agreement for the project.  
 
Attachments: Resolution; Agreement; Resolution; Agreement; Exhibit A - site plans and floor plans for multi-family 
residential housing 

Page 145 of 208



RESOLUTION NO.  ____ 
 
 A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, TO AUTHORIZE 

THE ACCEPTANCE OF A MULTIFAMILY PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN FAMILY LEGACY DEVELOPMENT, LLC AND THE CITY RELATING TO THE 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SUBJECT MULTIFAMILY HOUSING PROJECT 
AND ITS ELIGIBILITY FOR THE 12-YEAR PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AS PROVIDED 
BY CHAPTER 3.48 OF THE PORT ORCHARD MUNICIPAL CODE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard Municipal Code (POMC), Chapter 3.48, provides a multifamily 
property tax exemption pursuant to the requirements of that chapter; and 
 
 WHEREAS, POMC 3.48.060 provides that, to be eligible for the multifamily property tax 
exemption, the subject project must meet the following requirements: (1) the project must be 
located within a residential targeted area as defined in POMC 3.48.040; (2) the project must not 
displace existing tenants; (3) existing dwelling units proposed for rehabilitation must fail to comply 
with one or more standards of the applicable state or city building codes; (4) the new, converted, or 
rehabilitated multiple-unit housing must provide for a minimum of 50 percent of the space for 
permanent residential occupancy and must include at least 10 units of multifamily housing; (5) new 
construction of multifamily housing and rehabilitation improvements must be completed within 
three years from the date of approval of the application; and (6) the project must be designed to 
comply with the city’s comprehensive plan, building, housing, and zoning codes, and any other 
applicable regulations, standards or guidelines; and  
 
 WHEREAS, POMC 3.48.080 requires that, if the Director of the Department of Community 
Development approves an application for the multifamily property tax exemption, the applicant 
must enter into an agreement with the City regarding the terms and conditions of the 
implementation of the project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the multifamily property tax exemption agreement must be approved by the 
Port Orchard City Council, in the form of a resolution, regarding the terms and conditions of the 
project and eligibility for exemption under Chapter 3.48 POMC; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City received an application for multifamily property tax exemption from 
Family Legacy Development, LLC., pertaining to a project titled Salmonberry Apartments (the 
“subject project”) under the “Type 1: Affordable Housing with Transit Access” residential targeted 
area; and  
  
 WHEREAS, the Director of the Department of Community Development has determined 
that the subject project meets the eligibility requirements set forth in POMC 3.48.060; has approved 
the application for the 12-year Type 1 tax exemption; and recommends approval of the attached 
Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement as accurately setting forth the 
terms and conditions of the subject project and eligibility for exemption under Chapter 3.48 POMC; 
and 
 
 

Page 146 of 208



Resolution No. ___ 
Page 2 of 12 

 
 

  

 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council has determined to approve the attached 
Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement; now, therefore, 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 

THAT:  Recitals.  The recitals set forth above are hereby incorporated by reference as if 
set forth in full herein. 
 
THAT: Authorization for Signature.  The City of Port Orchard hereby authorizes the Mayor 
to accept and sign the Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
in substantially the form as is attached to this Resolution. 
 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 

by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage this 24th day of January 2023. 
 

 
         
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
    
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Family Legacy Development, LLC 
Page 1 
1752137.3 - 366922 -0021 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
MULTIFAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this __ day of _____________, 20__, by and between 

Family Legacy Development, LLC, a Washington limited liability company (hereinafter referred to as 
the “Owner”), and the City of Port Orchard, a municipal corporation of the State of Washington 
(hereinafter referred to as the “City”).  

WITNESSETH: 

 WHEREAS, the City has an interest in stimulating new construction or rehabilitation of multi-
family housing in Residential Target Areas in order to reduce development pressure on single-family 
residential neighborhoods, to increase and improve housing opportunities, and to encourage 
development densities supportive of transit use; and  

 WHEREAS, the City has, pursuant to the authority granted to it by Chapter 84.14 RCW, 
designated various Residential Target Areas for the provision of a limited property tax exemption 
for new multi-family residential housing; and  

 WHEREAS, the City has, through Chapter 3.48 Port Orchard Municipal code (POMC), enacted 
a program whereby property owners may qualify for a Final Certificate of Tax Exemption which 
certifies to the Kitsap County Assessor that the owner is eligible to receive a limited property tax 
exemption; and  

 WHEREAS, the Owner is interested in receiving the multiple family property tax exemption 
for new multifamily residential housing units in a residential targeted area; and  

 WHEREAS, the Owner has submitted to the City a complete application form for no fewer 
than ten (10) units of new multifamily housing within a residential structure or as part of an urban 
development; and 

 WHEREAS, the Owner has submitted to the City preliminary site plans and floor plans for 
multi-family residential housing more particularly described in Exhibit A which is attached hereto 
and incorporated by reference herein (the “Project”) to be constructed on said property (the “Site”) 
legally described as:  

LOT C OF SHORT PLAT NO. 2384 AS RECORDED UNDER AUDITOR’S FILE NO. 
8009020109, RECORDS OF KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON; BEING A PORTION OF 
SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER, SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 23 
NORTH, RANGE 1 EAST, W.M., KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON.>>>>TOGETHER 
WITH THAT PORTION PER SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO. 20-2-01545-18, DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOWS: THE SOUTH 10 ACRES OF SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE 
NORTHWEST QUARTER, SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1 EAST, W.M., 
KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON; EXCEPT THE WEST 271.77 FEET; EXCEPT ANY 

Page 148 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Family Legacy Development, LLC 
Page 2 
1752137.3 - 366922 -0021 

PORTION LYING EAST OF THE WEST 535.77 FEET; EXCEPT SHORT PLAT NO. 2384 
RECORDED UNDER AUDITOR'S FILE NO. 8009020109. 

Kitsap County Tax Assessor Parcel No. 012301-2-078-2000 located at 
1695 SE Salmonberry Road in the City of Port Orchard  

 WHEREAS, the City has determined that the improvements will, if completed as proposed, 
satisfy the requirements of for a Final Certificate of Tax Exemption;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Owner do mutually agree as follows:  

1. The City agrees to issue the Owner a Conditional Certificate of Acceptance of Tax 
Exemption.  

2. The Owner agrees to construct on the Site multi-family residential housing generally 
as described in the site plans, floor plans, and elevations on file (22-980 and 22-981) with the City as 
of the date of administrative approval of this Agreement. Provided however, that the building 
permits (22-980 and 22-981) as approved by the City will establish the final configuration of the 
development which may differ from the site plan and other earlier submittals.  

3. The Project must comply with all applicable zoning requirements, land use 
requirements, design review requirements and all building, fire, and housing code requirements 
contained in the Port Orchard Municipal Code (herein referred to as the “POMC”) at the time a fully 
complete application for a building permit is submitted to the City.  

4. The new multiple-unit housing must provide for a minimum of fifty (50) percent of 
the space for permanent residential occupancy.  The Project must include at least ten (10) units of 
multifamily housing within a residential structure or as part of an urban development. 

5. The Owner agrees to complete construction of the agreed upon improvements 
within three years from the date the City issues the Conditional Certificate of Acceptance of Tax 
Exemption, or within any extension thereof granted by the City.   

6. The Owner is requesting a twelve-year limited property tax exemption.  Therefore, , 
the Owner by this Agreement commits to renting or selling at least twenty percent (20%) of the 
multifamily housing units constructed on the site as housing units affordable for low or moderate-
income households as defined by Section 3.48.040 (1) (c) POMC as follows:   

A. A minimum of 20 percent of all residential units in the development shall be rented 
for at least 10 percent below fair market rent for 12 years, to tenants whose household 
annual income is: 

Page 149 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Family Legacy Development, LLC 
Page 3 
1752137.3 - 366922 -0021 

i. At or below 40 percent of median family income, for housing units in 
congregate residences or small efficiency dwelling units; 

ii. At or below 65 percent of median family income for one-bedroom units; 

iii. At or below 75 percent of median family income for two-bedroom units; and 

iv.  At or below 80 percent of median family income for three-bedroom and larger 
units. 

B. If calculations for the minimum 20 percent of the residential units required under this 
section result in a fraction, then the minimum number of residential units required to 
meet the affordable housing requirement shall be rounded up to the next whole 
number. 

C. At the time of this Agreement, the Owner is proposing the following unit mix for this 
24-unit project: 

Building Studio 

 

1-Bedroom 

 

2-Bedroom 

 

3-Bedroom 

 

Total Units 

1 - - 12 - 12 

2 - 12 - - 12 

TOTAL UNITS 
(includes 

affordable) 
- 12 12 - 24 

Affordability 
Requirements 

Studio 

(40% MFI) 

1-Bedroom 

(65% MFI) 

2-Bedroom 

(75% MFI) 

3-Bedroom 

(80% MFI) 

Total 
Required 
Affordable 
Units  

Required 
Affordable 

Units by Type 
- 3 3 - 6 

 

7. This unit count and mix may change but will still be required to comply with 
Chapter 3.48 POMC with regard to the percentage, affordability and location of units. The Owner 
agrees, upon completion of the improvements and upon issuance by the City of a temporary or 

Page 150 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Family Legacy Development, LLC 
Page 4 
1752137.3 - 366922 -0021 

permanent certificate of occupancy, to file with the City’s Department of Community Development 
the following:  

a. A statement of expenditures made with respect to each multi-family housing 
unit and the total expenditures made with request to the entire site;  

b. A description of the completed work and a statement of qualification for the 
exemption; and  

c. A statement that the work was completed within the required three (3) year 
period or any authorized extension. 

d. If applicable, that the project meets the affordable housing requirements as 
described in RCW 84.14.020.  

8. The City agrees, conditioned on the Owner’s successful completion of the 
improvements in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and on the Owner’s filing of the 
materials described in the preceding paragraph, to file an eight or twelve year (as applicable) Final 
Certificate of Tax Exemption with the Kitsap County Assessor.  

9. The Owner agrees, within thirty (30) days following the first anniversary of the City’s 
filing of the Final Certificate of Tax Exemption and each year thereafter for a period of twelve years 
to file a notarized and sworn declaration with the City’s Department of Community Development 
stating all of the following:  

a. A statement of occupancy and vacancy of the multi-family units during the 
previous twelve (12) months;  

b. A certification that the property has not changed use and continues to be in 
compliance with this Agreement and with Chapter 3.48 POMC; and  

c. A description of changes or improvements constructed after issuance of the 
certificate of tax exemption;  

d. The total monthly rent of each multifamily housing unit rented or the 
total sale amount of each unit sold during the 12 months ending with the anniversary date; 

e. A breakdown of the number, type, and specific multifamily housing units 
rented or sold during the 12 months ending with the anniversary date; 

f. Information demonstrating the owner’s compliance with the affordability 
requirements of this chapter, including, but not limited to, the income of each renter household 

Page 151 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Family Legacy Development, LLC 
Page 5 
1752137.3 - 366922 -0021 

at the time of initial occupancy or the income of each purchaser of owner-occupied units at the 
time of purchase; 

g. The value of the tax exemption for the project;  

h. A statement of the income of each renter household at the time of initial 
occupancy and the income of each initial purchaser of owner-occupied units at the time of purchase 
for each of the units receiving a tax exemption and a summary of these figures;  

i. Any information needed by the City to file its annual report pursuant to Port 
Orchard Municipal Code (POMC) 3.48.120 and any additional information requested by the City in 
regards to the units receiving a tax exemption.; and 

j. Any additional information requested by the city pursuant to meeting any 
reporting requirements under Chapter 84.14 RCW. 

10. The Parties acknowledge that the units are to be used an occupied for multifamily 
residential use.  The Parties further acknowledge that the certificate of occupancy issued by the City 
is for multi-family residential units.  The Owner acknowledges and agrees that the units shall be used 
primarily for residential occupancy and any business activities shall only be incidental and ancillary 
to the residential occupancy.  

11. If the Owner converts to another use any of the new multi-family residential housing 
units constructed under this Agreement, the Owner shall notify the Kitsap County Assessor and the 
City’s Department of Community Development within sixty (60) days of such change in use.  

12. The Owner agrees to notify the City promptly of any transfer of Owner’s ownership 
interest in the Site or in the improvements made to the Site under this Agreement.  

13. For purposes of this Agreement, “Owner” shall mean the Property Owner if the 
development is comprised of rental units or shall mean the Owners Association of a condominium 
complex (if the development contains any ownership units) once such association is established. 
The Owner shall be responsible for all reporting requirements required herein on behalf of the 
owners of individual condominium units, if applicable.  

14. If the Project includes any owner-occupied units, the Owner is required to form an 
Owner’s Association to be organized under RCW 64.34.300 for all owner-occupied units within the 
development. Such organization shall remain operational and in effect until at least the length of 
the exemption period has expired and the final report is filed with the City. This Owner’s Association 
shall assume the responsibility for collecting from all individual unit owners the information and 
documents required to complete the annual reporting requirements and for filing the required 
annual report with the city pursuant to Section 9 of this Agreement and Chapter 3.48 POMC. 

Page 152 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Family Legacy Development, LLC 
Page 6 
1752137.3 - 366922 -0021 

15. The City reserves the right to cancel the Final Certificate of Tax Exemption should the 
Owner, its successors and assigns, fail to comply with any of the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement.  If the exemption is cancelled for non-compliance, Owner acknowledges that state law 
requires that an additional real property tax is imposed in the amount of (A) the difference between 
the tax paid and the tax that would have been paid if it had included the value of the non-qualifying 
improvements, dated back to the date that the improvements became non-qualifying; (B) a penalty 
of 20% of the difference calculated under paragraph (A) of this paragraph; and (C) interest at the 
statutory rate on delinquent property taxes and penalties, calculated from the date the tax would 
have been due without penalty if the improvements had been assessed without regard to the 
exemptions provided by Chapter 84.14 RCW and POMC Chapter 3.48 POMC.  Applicant 
acknowledges that, pursuant to RCW 84.14.110, any additional tax owed, together with interest and 
penalty, becomes a lien on that portion of the Property on which the Project is constructed and 
attaches at the time the portion of the Property is removed from multifamily use or the amenities 
no longer meet applicable requirements, and that the lien has priority to and must be fully paid and 
satisfied before a recognizance, mortgage, judgment, debt, obligation, or responsibility to or with 
which the Property may become charged or liable.  Applicant further acknowledges that RCW 
84.14.110 provides that any such lien may be foreclosed in the manner provided by law for 
foreclosure of liens for delinquent real property taxes. 

16. Nothing in this Agreement shall permit or be interpreted to permit either Party to 
violate any provision of Chapter 84.14 RCW or POMC Chapter 3.48.  

17. Modification. No modifications of this Agreement shall be made unless mutually 
agreed upon by the Parties in writing.  

18. Acknowledgement of Tax Liability. The Owner acknowledges its awareness of the 
potential tax liability involved if and when the property ceases to be eligible for the incentive 
provided pursuant to this Agreement.  Such liability may include additional real property tax, 
penalties and interest imposed pursuant to RCW 84.14.110.  The Owner further acknowledges its 
awareness and understanding of the process implemented by the Kitsap County Assessor’s Office 
for the appraisal and assessment of property taxes.  The Owner agrees that the City is not 
responsible for the property value assessment imposed by Kitsap County at any time during the 
exemption period.  

19. City's Right to Audit. The Owner acknowledges and agrees that the City has the right 
to audit or review appropriate records to assure compliance with this Agreement and POMC 
Chapter 3.48 and to perform evaluations of the effectiveness of the Multifamily Tax Exemption 
program. The Owner agrees to make appropriate records available for review or audit upon seven 
days’ written notice by the City. 

Page 153 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Family Legacy Development, LLC 
Page 7 
1752137.3 - 366922 -0021 

20. Notices. All notices to be given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and 
shall be deemed given when hand-delivered within normal business hours, on the day of delivery 
when sent via overnight delivery with a common carrier, or two business days after having been 
mailed, postage prepaid, to the Parties hereto at the addresses set forth below, or to such other 
place as a Party may from time to time designate in writing. 

CITY:   Department of Community Development 
City of Port Orchard  
216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA 98366 
Attn: Director 

 
OWNER:  Family Legacy Development, LLC 
   Attn: Steve Novotny 
   7809 Pacific Ave 
   Tacoma, WA  98408 
 

21. Severability. In the event that any term or clause of this Agreement conflicts with 
applicable law, such conflict shall not affect other terms of this Agreement which can be given effect 
without the conflicting term or clause, and to this end, the terms of this Agreement are declared to 
be severable.  

22. Recording. This Agreement shall be recorded at the Owner’s expense and shall be a 
covenant running with the land and shall be binding on the assigns, heirs, and successors of the 
Owner.  

23. Applicable Law, Resolution of Disputes, and Attorneys’ Fees.  Jurisdiction of any 
resulting litigation shall be filed in Kitsap County Superior Court, Kitsap County, Washington. This 
Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Washington. The non-prevailing Party in any action brought to enforce this Agreement shall pay the 
other Parties' expenses and reasonable attorney's fees. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and 
year first above written.  

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
 
 

 PROPERTY OWNERS 

Page 154 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Family Legacy Development, LLC 
Page 8 
1752137.3 - 366922 -0021 

Robert Putaansuu, Mayor   By:  

  Its:  
    
Nick Bond, Director  By:  
Dept. of Community Development  Its:  
    

 

_______________________________ 
Noah Crocker 
Finance Director  
 
Attest:  
 
 
_______________________________ 
Brandy Wallace, CMC, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to Form:  
 
 
_______________________________ 
Charlotte A. Archer, City Attorney 
 

 

 

  

Page 155 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Family Legacy Development, LLC 
Page 9 
1752137.3 - 366922 -0021 

NOTARY BLOCK FOR FAMILY LEGACY DEVELOPMENT, LLC 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
)  ss. 

COUNTY OF    ) 
 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that      is the person 
who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that (he/she) signed this instrument, 
on oath stated that (he/she) was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as 
the     of Family Legacy Development, LLC to be the free and voluntary act of 
such party for the uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 
 

Dated:      20  
 
       
 
       

(print or type name) 
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the  
State of Washington, residing at:  

        
 

My Commission expires:  
  

Page 156 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
Family Legacy Development, LLC 
Page 10 
1752137.3 - 366922 -0021 

 
NOTARY BLOCK FOR CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 

)  ss. 
COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that  Robert Putaansuu is the person 
who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that (he/she) signed this instrument, 
on oath stated that he was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as the  
Mayor of Port Orchard   to be the free and voluntary act of such party for the uses and purposes 
mentioned in the instrument. 
 

Dated:     20  
  
       
 
       

(print or type name) 
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the  
State of Washington, residing at: 

          

My Commission expires:   
 
 

 

Page 157 of 208



REVISIONS

REVISIONS

A
G

E
N

C
Y 

R
E

V
IE

W
  |

  2
02

2.
12

.0
6

BL / CM

BL

2022.12.06

S
A

LM
O

N
B

E
R

R
Y 

A
PA

R
TM

E
N

TS
M

U
LT

I-F
A

M
IL

Y 
- B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 N

o.
 1

16
95

 S
E

 S
A

LM
O

N
B

E
R

R
Y 

R
D

 P
O

R
T 

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 W

A 
98

36
6

2020

AS1.0

REUSE OF DOCUMENTS
THIS DOCUMENT AND THE IDEAS AND DESIGNS
INCORPORATED HERIN, AS INSTRUMENTS OF

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE, ARE THE PROPERTY OF
SYNTHESIS 9, LLC AND ARE NOT TO BE USED OR

REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE
WRITTEN AUTHORIZATION OF SYNTHESIS 9, LLC.

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

PROJECT # :

SHEET:

TITLE:

DATE:

SITE PLAN

SYNTHESIS 9, LLC
523 N. D ST.

TACOMA, WA 98403

RISER

3
2

1

7 8 9 10 11 12

1415161718

19 20 21 22 23

31 30 29 28 27 26 25 2442 41 40 39 38 37 36 35 34 33 32

13

43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52

6
5

4

9'-0"

17
3'

-6
 3

/4
"

102'-2 1/4"

20
'-0

"
20

'-5
 3

/4
"

16
'-0

"
5'

-6
"

8'
-0

"

20
'-0

"
19

'-1
1 

3/
4"

20
'-0

"

1'-6" 99'-0" 1'-6"

6'-2" 6'-4 3/4"

25'-0" 8'-0"

5'-1/4"
10'-0"

1'
-0

"

6'
-5

 3
/4

"

5'-0"
8'-6 1/4"

29
'-5

 1
/4

"

20
'-7

"

75'-8 3/4"

27'-8 1/2" 13'-11 1/2" 1'-6" 54'-0" 1'-6"

20'-0"

1'-6" 90'-0" 1'-6" 24'-3 3/4"

11'-1" 37'-1" 13'-9 3/4"

54
'-6

"

64'-11 1/2"

56
'-6

"

12'-0"
OPENING

21
'-4

"

RISER

ROOF AREA = 5,181 sq ft

(4) BIKE
STORAGE

(12) BIKE
STORAGE

(8) BIKE
STORAGE

GREEN WALL

GREEN WALL; TYPICAL
SEE LANDSCAPE PLANS

GREEN WALL

GREEN
WALL

GREEN WALL; TYPICAL
SEE LANDSCAPE PLANS

OUTLINE OF EVA
TURN AROUND

COVERED TRASH
ENCLOSURE

P/N: 01230120782000

JURISDICTION: PORT ORCHARD

TAX DESCRIPTION: LOT C OF SHORT PLAT NO. 2384 AS RECORDED UNDER
AUDITOR’S FILE NO. 8009020109, RECORDS OF KITSAP COUNTY,
WASHINGTON; BEING A PORTION OF SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE
NORTHWEST QUARTER, SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1
EAST, W.M., KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON.>

ZONING DESIGNATION: CMU (COMMERCIAL MIXED USE)

PARCEL AREA: 56,192 SF
(MEASURED PARCEL AREA: 56,913)

SURROUNDING PARCELS: CMU TO THE EAST, WEST, AND SOUTH.
COMMERCIAL HEAVY TO THE NORTH.

    
USE: MULTIFAMILY (PERMITTED)
MINIMUM LOT AREA: 5,000 SF
MINIMUM LOT WIDTH: 50 FT
MINIMUM SETBACKS: 0 FRONT, 0 SIDE, 20 FT REAR
MAXIMUM SETBACK: 10 FT FRONT
BUILD-TO ZONE: 70% PRIMARY STREET
MAXIMUM HEIGHT: 40 FT (3 1/2 STORIES)

PROPOSED BUILDINGS
BLD'G NO.1: (12) 1-BEDROOMS
BLD'G NO.2: (12) 1-BEDROOMS

TOTAL UNITS = 24

VEHICLE PARKING ANALYSIS
STALL DIMENSIONS: 8' x 16' COMPACT, 9' x 20' STANDARD
REQUIRED: 1.75 STALLS PER 2 BEDROOM UNIT, PLUS 0.25 PER UNIT IF NO

ADJACENT PUBLIC ON-STREET PARKING =
1.5 PER 1 BEDROOM UNIT PLUS 0.25 PER UNIT IF NO ADJACENT PUBLIC
ON-STREET PARKING: NO PUBLIC, ON-STREET PARKING AVAILABLE
ON-SITE VEHICLE STALLS REQUIRED: (12x2) + (12x1.75) = 24+21 = 45
ON-SITE VEHICLE STALLS PROVIDED: 46

COMPACT MAX.: 40% = 45 x 0.04 = 18
COMPACT STALLS PROVIDED: 10

ACCESSIBLE STALLS REQ'D: 3 (WITH 1 VAN STALL)
ACCESSIBLE STALLS PROVIDED: 3

POMC 20.124.050 ELECTRIC VEHICLE PARKING REQUIRED
REQUIRED: 10 PERCENT = 6 (CONFIRM WITH NEW ZONING OR PROPOSE A
VARIANCE?)

BICYCLE PARKING ANALYSIS
STALL SIZE: 75" x 24" SINGLE, 100" x 36" DOUBLE

LONG-TERM BICYCLE PARKING:
BASE REQUIREMENT: 1 PER UNIT UP TO 24 STALLS
TOTAL LONG-TERM BICYCLE STALLS REQUIRED: 24
PROVIDED: 24

OVERALL SITE LANDSCAPING ANALYSIS
EXISTING SITE AREA:  56.192 SF
MAXIMUM HARD SURFACE: 80 % = 44,954-SF
MINIMUM LANDSCAPING REQUIRED: 11,238-SF
PROPOSED LANDSCAPE AREA: APPROX. 14,000-SF

YARD SPACE REQUIREMENTS ANALYSIS:
RESIDENTIAL YARD SPACE REQUIREMENT: 150 SF PER 2-BEDROOM UNIT,

100 SF PER 1-BEDROOM UNIT
MINIMUM:  (12 x 100) + (12 x 150) = 1200 + 1800 = 3,000-sf
PROVIDED:  5,127 sq ft

LAND USE SUMMARY

VA
N

S
E

 S
A

LM
O

N
B

E
R

R
Y 

R
O

A
D

c c

c

cccccc

FF=327.07

FF=330.42

13'-9 3/4"37'-1"11'-3/4"3'-0"21'-4 1/2"

37
'-0

"
13

6'
-1

1 
3/

4"
(7

0%
 M

IN
IM

U
M

 =
 1

06
-L

F)

6'-0"
SIDEWALK

6'-6"
LANDSCAPE

6'-0"
BIKE

11'-0"
LANE

16'-0" 20'-0" 97'-2 1/4" 5'-0"

5'
-6

"
3'

-1
1 

3/
4"

20
'-0

"

20'-0"
SETBACK

45'-0"

1'-6" 64'-0" 18" 4'-10"

5'-0"

16
'-0

"
10

'-6
 1

/4
"

34'-2 1/4" 63'-0" 5'-0"

6'
-0

"20
'-0

"
20

'-0
"

20
'-0

"

6'
-6

 1
/4

"

TRASH
527 sq ft

FOOTPRINT
3,063 sq ft

ROOF AREA
3,703 sq ft

PA
R

C
E

L 
A

R
E

A
6,

11
3 

sq
 ft

PARCEL AREA
50,800 sq ft

DEDICATION
1,043 sq ft

YARD SPACE
1,266 sq ft

YARD SPACE
1,561 sq ft

FOOTPRINT
4,447 sq ft

YARD SPACE
1,856 sq ft

BLD'G 2
3-STORY APT BLD'G
(4) UNITS PER FLR
(12) 1-BEDROOMS

BLD'G 1
3-STORY APT BLD'G
(4) UNITS PER FLR
(12) 2-BEDROOMS

N
SCALE: 1"   = 20'1 SITE PLAN

Page 158 of 208

lstone
Counter Complete

lstone
Text Box
22-980

jfisk
Text Box
EXHIBIT A



REVISIONS

REVISIONS

A
G

E
N

C
Y 

R
E

V
IE

W
  |

  2
02

2.
12

.0
6

BL / CM

BL

2022.12.06

S
A

LM
O

N
B

E
R

R
Y 

A
PA

R
TM

E
N

TS
M

U
LT

I-F
A

M
IL

Y 
- B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 N

o.
 1

16
95

 S
E

 S
A

LM
O

N
B

E
R

R
Y 

R
D

 P
O

R
T 

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 W

A 
98

36
6

2020

AS1.1

REUSE OF DOCUMENTS
THIS DOCUMENT AND THE IDEAS AND DESIGNS
INCORPORATED HERIN, AS INSTRUMENTS OF

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE, ARE THE PROPERTY OF
SYNTHESIS 9, LLC AND ARE NOT TO BE USED OR

REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE
WRITTEN AUTHORIZATION OF SYNTHESIS 9, LLC.

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

PROJECT # :

SHEET:

TITLE:

DATE:

3D IMAGES

SYNTHESIS 9, LLC
523 N. D ST.

TACOMA, WA 98403

BUILDING No.2

BUILDING No.1

Page 159 of 208

lstone
Counter Complete

lstone
Text Box
22-980



City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
 
 

Agenda Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7D Meeting Date: January 24, 2023 
Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Approving a  Prepared by: Nicholas Bond, AICP 

 Multifamily Property Tax Exemption   DCD Director 
 Agreement for the 2102 Sedgwick      Atty Routing No.: Development-Matter 11 
 Apartments Atty Review Date: January 4, 2023 

 
Issue:  Since 2016, Port Orchard has offered a property tax exemption program to encourage the creation of 
multi-family housing pursuant to RCW 84.14. The Multifamily Property Tax Exemption program exempts certain 
new, converted or rehabilitated multifamily developments from ad valorem property taxation (i.e. improvements 
to vacant land, or to existing buildings) for either 8 or 12 years from issuance of the certification of exemption, 
depending on whether a project will include at least 20% of housing units to be available below market rents. 
 
The City received a multifamily tax exemption application from 2102 Sedgwick LLC for construction of 192 new 
apartment units in nine buildings on a 5.7 acre site, located in a designated targeted area on SE Sedgwick Road, 
adjacent to the recently constructed Pottery Creek apartments, just east of Fred Meyer. The Developer is seeking 
a 12-year tax exemption and intends to provide 20% of units at below market rents in accordance with POMC 
3.28.040 (1) (c). The project meets the criteria for a 12-year tax exemption and as such, a multifamily housing 
limited property tax exemption agreement for approval. 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends that the City Council approve a resolution authorizing the Mayor to accept 
and sign a Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement between the City and 2102 Sedgwick 
LLC, as presented.  
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan: The Multifamily Property Tax Exemption (MPTE) implements the Housing 
Element of the City of Port Orchard’s Comprehensive Plan. Specifically, the MPTE implements Goals 1, 2, 3, 5 and 
9 and certain associated policies. 
 
Motion for consideration: “I move to adopt a resolution authorizing the Mayor to execute a Multifamily Housing 
Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement between the City and 2102 Sedgwick, LLC, as presented.” 
 

 Fiscal Impact: The tax exemption will reduce property tax revenue to the city for a period of 12 years for the 
proposed project.  The construction of this apartment project will generate other revenue that may not otherwise 
be generated in the absence of this incentive. 

 
Alternatives:  Revise the 2102 Sedgwick Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement; do not 
enter into a Multifamily Property Tax Exemption agreement for the project.  
 
Attachments: Resolution; Agreement; Exhibit A – site plans and floor plans for multi-family residential housing 

Page 160 of 208



 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  ______ 
 
 A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, TO AUTHORIZE 

THE ACCEPTANCE OF A MULTIFAMILY PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN 2102 SEDGWICK, LLC AND THE CITY RELATING TO THE TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS OF THE SUBJECT MULTIFAMILY HOUSING PROJECT AND ITS 
ELIGIBILITY FOR THE 12-YEAR PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AS PROVIDED BY 
CHAPTER 3.48 OF THE PORT ORCHARD MUNICIPAL CODE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard Municipal Code (POMC), Chapter 3.48, provides a multifamily 
property tax exemption pursuant to the requirements of that chapter; and 
 
 WHEREAS, POMC 3.48.060 provides that, to be eligible for the multifamily property tax 
exemption, the subject project must meet the following requirements: (1) the project must be 
located within a residential targeted area as defined in POMC 3.48.040; (2) the project must not 
displace existing tenants; (3) existing dwelling units proposed for rehabilitation must fail to comply 
with one or more standards of the applicable state or city building codes; (4) the new, converted, or 
rehabilitated multiple-unit housing must provide for a minimum of 50 percent of the space for 
permanent residential occupancy and must include at least 10 units of multifamily housing; (5) new 
construction of multifamily housing and rehabilitation improvements must be completed within 
three years from the date of approval of the application; and (6) the project must be designed to 
comply with the city’s comprehensive plan, building, housing, and zoning codes, and any other 
applicable regulations, standards or guidelines; and  
 
 WHEREAS, POMC 3.48.080 requires that, if the Director of the Department of Community 
Development approves an application for the multifamily property tax exemption, the applicant 
must enter into an agreement with the City regarding the terms and conditions of the 
implementation of the project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the multifamily property tax exemption agreement must be approved by the 
Port Orchard City Council, in the form of a resolution, regarding the terms and conditions of the 
project and eligibility for exemption under Chapter 3.48 POMC; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City received an application for multifamily property tax exemption from 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC, pertaining to a project titled 2102 Sedgwick Multifamily (the “subject project”) 
under the “Type 1: Affordable Housing with Transit Access” residential targeted area; and  
  
 WHEREAS, the Director of the Department of Community Development has determined 
that the subject project meets the eligibility requirements set forth in POMC 3.48.060; has approved 
the application for the 12-year Type 1 tax exemption; and recommends approval of the attached 
Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement as accurately setting forth the 
terms and conditions of the subject project and eligibility for exemption under Chapter 3.48 POMC; 
and 
 

Page 161 of 208



Resolution No. ____ 
Page 2 of 13 

 

 
 

 WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council has determined to approve the attached 
Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement; now, therefore, 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 

THAT:  Recitals.  The recitals set forth above are hereby incorporated by reference as if 
set forth in full herein. 

 
THAT: Authorization for Signature.  The City of Port Orchard hereby authorizes the Mayor 
to accept and sign the Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
in substantially the form as is attached to this Resolution. 
 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and attested 

by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage this 24th day of January 2023. 
 

 
         
  Robert Putaansuu, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
    
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 

Page 162 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
Page 1 
11752136.2 - 366922 -0021 

 
 
 

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
MULTIFAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this __ day of _____________, 20__, by and between 2102 

Sedgwick, LLC, a Washington limited liability company (hereinafter referred to as the “Owner”), and 
the City of Port Orchard, a municipal corporation of the State of Washington (hereinafter referred 
to as the “City”).  

WITNESSETH: 

 WHEREAS, the City has an interest in stimulating new construction or rehabilitation of multi-
family housing in Residential Target Areas in order to reduce development pressure on single-family 
residential neighborhoods, to increase and improve housing opportunities, and to encourage 
development densities supportive of transit use; and  

 WHEREAS, the City has, pursuant to the authority granted to it by Chapter 84.14 RCW, 
designated various Residential Target Areas for the provision of a limited property tax exemption 
for new multi-family residential housing; and  

 WHEREAS, the City has, through Chapter 3.48 Port Orchard Municipal code (POMC), enacted 
a program whereby property owners may qualify for a Final Certificate of Tax Exemption which 
certifies to the Kitsap County Assessor that the owner is eligible to receive a limited property tax 
exemption; and  

 WHEREAS, the Owner is interested in receiving the multiple family property tax exemption 
for new multifamily residential housing units in a residential targeted area; and  

 WHEREAS, the Owner has submitted to the City a complete application form for no fewer 
than ten (10) units of new multifamily housing within a residential structure or as part of an urban 
development; and 

 WHEREAS, the Owner has submitted to the City preliminary site plans and floor plans for 
multi-family residential housing more particularly described in Exhibit A which is attached hereto 
and incorporated by reference herein (the “Project”) to be constructed on said property (the “Site”) 
legally described as:  

THE WEST HALF OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE 
NORTHWEST QUARTER, SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 23 NORTH, RANGE 1 EAST, W.M., 
IN KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON; EXCEPT THE NORTH 30 FEET THEREOF; 
TOGETHER WITH THAT PORTION OF THE EAST HALF OF THE WEST HALF OF THE 

Page 163 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
Page 2 
21752136.2 - 366922 -0021 

NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 
23 NORTH, RANGE 1 EAST, W.M., IN KITSAP COUNTY, WASHINGTON DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS; BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE EAST HALF OF THE 
WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 12, THENCE NORTH 01°59'58" EAST ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID 
EAST HALF OF THE WEST HALF 593.97 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF 
THE NORTH 726 FEET OF SAID EAST HALF OF THE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST 
QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER; THENCE SOUTH 88°04'42" EAST ALONG 
SAID SOUTH LINE 5.31 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°47'41" WEST 6.40 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH 02°02'19" WEST 133.09 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°42'01" WEST 177.64 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 02°30'09" WEST 104.17 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 02°21'19" WEST 
172.68 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST HALF OF THE WEST HALF OF SAID 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 12; THENCE 
NORTH 88°05'15" WEST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE 4.18 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING; EXCEPT THAT PORTION CONVEYED TO THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
FOR SE SEDGWICK ROAD IN WARRANTY DEED RECORDED UNDER AUDITOR'S FILE 
NO. 200804290428; AND EXCEPT THAT PORTION CONVEYED TO KITSAP COUNTY IN 
STATUTORY WARRANTY DEED RECORDED UNDER AUDITOR'S FILE NO. 
200805200185. 

Kitsap County Tax Assessor Parcel No. 122301-2-094-2007, located at 
2102 SE Sedgwick Road in the City of Port Orchard  

 WHEREAS, the City has determined that the improvements will, if completed as proposed, 
satisfy the requirements of for a Final Certificate of Tax Exemption;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Owner do mutually agree as follows:  

1. The City agrees to issue the Owner a Conditional Certificate of Acceptance of Tax 
Exemption.  

2. The Owner agrees to construct on the Site multi-family residential housing general 
as described in the site plans, floor plans, and elevations on file (22-590, 22-591, 22-592, 22-593, 22-
594, 22-595, 22-686, 22-687, 22-688) with the City as of the date of administrative approval of this 
Agreement. Provided however, that the building permit (22-590, 22-591, 22-592, 22-593, 22-594, 
22-595, 22-686, 22-687, 22-688) as approved by the City will establish the final configuration of the 
development which may differ from the site plan and other earlier submittals.  

3. The Project must comply with all applicable zoning requirements, land use 
requirements, design review requirements and all building, fire, and housing code requirements 
contained in the Port Orchard municipal Code (herein referred to as the “POMC”) at the time a fully 
complete application for a building permit is submitted to the City.  

4. The new multiple-unit housing must provide for a minimum of fifty (50) percent of 
the space for permanent residential occupancy.  The Project must include at least ten (10) units of 
multifamily housing within a residential structure or as part of an urban development. 

Commented [JSR1]: We need to incorporate these documents 
either by attachment as an exhibit or by a very specific description. 
Exhibit is preferred.  

Commented [JF2R1]: Perhaps we should only reference the 
building permit application by permit number as the materials will 
change over time and we will not have an application in final form 
by the time the MFTE is passed by Council. Any exhibit attached 
here would shortly be out of date and inconsistent with approved 
Building Permit. 

Commented [JSR3R1]: OK, but if you want to include the site 
plan but leave room for flexibility, how about the language as 
revised? 

Page 164 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
Page 3 
31752136.2 - 366922 -0021 

5. The Owner agrees to complete construction of the agreed upon improvements 
within three years from the date the City issues the Conditional Certificate of Acceptance of Tax 
Exemption, or within any extension thereof granted by the City.   

6. The Owner is requesting a twelve-year limited property tax exemption.  Therefore, 
the Owner by this Agreement commits to renting or selling at least twenty percent (20%) of the 
multifamily housing units constructed on the site as housing units affordable for low or moderate-
income households as defined by Section 3.48.040 (1) (c) POMC as follows:   

A. A minimum of 20 percent of all residential units in the development shall be rented 
for at least 10 percent below fair market rent for 12 years, to tenants whose household 
annual income is: 

i. At or below 40 percent of median family income, for housing units in 
congregate residences or small efficiency dwelling units; 

ii. At or below 65 percent of median family income for one-bedroom units; 

iii. At or below 75 percent of median family income for two-bedroom units; and 

iv.  At or below 80 percent of median family income for three-bedroom and larger 
units. 

B. If calculations for the minimum 20 percent of the residential units required under this 
section result in a fraction, then the minimum number of residential units required to 
meet the affordable housing requirement shall be rounded up to the next whole 
number. 

C. At the time of this Agreement, the Owner is proposing the following unit mix for this 
192-unit project: 

Building Studio 

 

1-Bedroom 

 

2-Bedroom 

 

3-Bedroom 

 

Total Units 

A 9 9   18 

B 6 12  6 24 

C 6 12 6  24 

D 8 14 6  28 

Page 165 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
Page 4 
41752136.2 - 366922 -0021 

E 6 12 6  24 

F 6 12  6 24 

G  4 8  12 

H 6 12 6  24 

J 8 6   14 

TOTAL UNITS 
(includes 
affordable) 

55 93 32 12 192 

Affordability 
Requirements 

Studio 

(40% MFI) 

1-Bedroom 

(65% MFI) 

2-Bedroom 

(75% MFI) 

3-Bedroom 

(80% MFI) 

Total 
Required 
Affordable 
Units  

Required 
Affordable 
Units by Type 

11 19 7 3 39 

 

7. This unit count and mix may change but will still be required to comply with 
Chapter 3.48 POMC with regard to the percentage, affordability, and location of units. The Owner 
agrees, upon completion of the improvements and upon issuance by the City of a temporary or 
permanent certificate of occupancy, to file with the City’s Department of Community Development 
the following:  

a. A statement of expenditures made with respect to each multi-family housing 
unit and the total expenditures made with request to the entire site;  

b. A description of the completed work and a statement of qualification for the 
exemption; and  

c. A statement that the work was completed within the required three (3) year 
period or any authorized extension. 

d. If applicable, that the project meets the affordable housing requirements as 
described in RCW 84.14.020.  

Page 166 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
Page 5 
51752136.2 - 366922 -0021 

8. The City agrees, conditioned on the Owner’s successful completion of the 
improvements in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and on the Owner’s filing of the 
materials described in the preceding paragraph, to file an eight or twelve year (as applicable) Final 
Certificate of Tax Exemption with the Kitsap County Assessor.  

9. The Owner agrees, within thirty (30) days following the first anniversary of the City’s 
filing of the Final Certificate of Tax Exemption and each year thereafter for a period of twelve years 
to file a notarized and sworn declaration with the City’s Department of Community Development 
stating all of the following:  

a. A statement of occupancy and vacancy of the multi-family units during the 
previous twelve (12) months;  

b. A certification that the property has not changed use and continues to be in 
compliance with this Agreement and with Chapter 3.48 POMC; and  

c. A description of changes or improvements constructed after issuance of the 
certificate of tax exemption;  

d. The total monthly rent of each multifamily housing unit rented or the 
total sale amount of each unit sold during the 12 months ending with the anniversary date; 

e. A breakdown of the number, type, and specific multifamily housing units 
rented or sold during the 12 months ending with the anniversary date; 

f. Information demonstrating the owner’s compliance with the affordability 
requirements of this chapter, including, but not limited to, the income of each renter household 
at the time of initial occupancy or the income of each purchaser of owner-occupied units at the 
time of purchase; 

g. The value of the tax exemption for the project;  

h. A statement of the income of each renter household at the time of initial 
occupancy and the income of each initial purchaser of owner-occupied units at the time of purchase 
for each of the units receiving a tax exemption and a summary of these figures;  

i. Any information needed by the City to file its annual report pursuant to Port 
Orchard Municipal Code (POMC) 3.48.120 and any additional information requested by the City in 
regards to the units receiving a tax exemption.; and 

j. Any additional information requested by the city pursuant to meeting any 
reporting requirements under Chapter 84.14 RCW. 

Page 167 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
Page 6 
61752136.2 - 366922 -0021 

10. The Parties acknowledge that the units are to be used an occupied for multifamily 
residential use.  The Parties further acknowledge that the certificate of occupancy issued by the City 
is for multi-family residential units.  The Owner acknowledges and agrees that the units shall be used 
primarily for residential occupancy and any business activities shall only be incidental and ancillary 
to the residential occupancy.  

11. If the Owner converts to another use any of the new multi-family residential housing 
units constructed under this Agreement, the Owner shall notify the Kitsap County Assessor and the 
City’s Department of Community Development within sixty (60) days of such change in use.  

12. The Owner agrees to notify the City promptly of any transfer of Owner’s ownership 
interest in the Site or in the improvements made to the Site under this Agreement.  

13. For purposes of this Agreement, “Owner” shall mean the Property Owner if the 
development is comprised of rental units or shall mean the Owners Association of a condominium 
complex (if the development contains any ownership units) once such association is established. 
The Owner shall be responsible for all reporting requirements required herein on behalf of the 
owners of individual condominium units, if applicable.  

14. If the Project includes any owner-occupied units, the Owner is required to form an 
Owner’s Association to be organized under RCW 64.34.300 for all owner-occupied units within the 
development. Such organization shall remain operational and in effect until at least the length of 
the exemption period has expired and the final report is filed with the City. This Owner’s Association 
shall assume the responsibility for collecting from all individual unit owners the information and 
documents required to complete the annual reporting requirements and for filing the required 
annual report with the city pursuant to Section 9 of this Agreement and Chapter 3.48 POMC. 

15. The City reserves the right to cancel the Final Certificate of Tax Exemption should the 
Owner, its successors and assigns, fail to comply with any of the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement.  If the exemption is cancelled for non-compliance, Owner acknowledges that state law 
requires that an additional real property tax is imposed in the amount of (A) the difference between 
the tax paid and the tax that would have been paid if it had included the value of the non-qualifying 
improvements, dated back to the date that the improvements became non-qualifying; (B) a penalty 
of 20% of the difference calculated under paragraph (A) of this paragraph; and (C) interest at the 
statutory rate on delinquent property taxes and penalties, calculated from the date the tax would 
have been due without penalty if the improvements had been assessed without regard to the 
exemptions provided by Chapter 84.14 RCW and POMC Chapter 3.48 POMC.  Applicant 
acknowledges that, pursuant to RCW 84.14.110, any additional tax owed, together with interest and 
penalty, becomes a lien on that portion of the Property on which the Project is constructed and 
attaches at the time the portion of the Property is removed from multifamily use or the amenities 

Page 168 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
Page 7 
71752136.2 - 366922 -0021 

no longer meet applicable requirements, and that the lien has priority to and must be fully paid and 
satisfied before a recognizance, mortgage, judgment, debt, obligation, or responsibility to or with 
which the Property may become charged or liable.  Applicant further acknowledges that RCW 
84.14.110 provides that any such lien may be foreclosed in the manner provided by law for 
foreclosure of liens for delinquent real property taxes. 

16. Nothing in this Agreement shall permit or be interpreted to permit either Party to 
violate any provision of Chapter 84.14 RCW or POMC Chapter 3.48.  

17. Modification. No modifications of this Agreement shall be made unless mutually 
agreed upon by the Parties in writing.  

18. Acknowledgement of Tax Liability. The Owner acknowledges its awareness of the 
potential tax liability involved if and when the property ceases to be eligible for the incentive 
provided pursuant to this Agreement.  Such liability may include additional real property tax, 
penalties and interest imposed pursuant to RCW 84.14.110.  The Owner further acknowledges its 
awareness and understanding of the process implemented by the Kitsap County Assessor’s Office 
for the appraisal and assessment of property taxes.  The Owner agrees that the City is not 
responsible for the property value assessment imposed by Kitsap County at any time during the 
exemption period.  

19. City's Right to Audit. The Owner acknowledges and agrees that the City has the right 
to audit or review appropriate records to assure compliance with this Agreement and POMC 
Chapter 3.48 and to perform evaluations of the effectiveness of the Multifamily Tax Exemption 
program. The Owner agrees to make appropriate records available for review or audit upon seven 
days’ written notice by the City. 

20. Notice. All notices to be given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall 
be deemed given when hand-delivered within normal business hours, on the day of delivery when 
sent via overnight delivery with a common carrier, or two business days after having been mailed, 
postage prepaid, to the Parties hereto at the addresses set forth below, or to such other place as a 
Party may from time to time designate in writing. 

CITY:   Department of Community Development 
City of Port Orchard  
216 Prospect Street 
Port Orchard, WA 98366 
Attn: Director 

 
OWNER:  2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
   Attn: Steve Yester 

Page 169 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
Page 8 
81752136.2 - 366922 -0021 

   6622 Wollochet Dr.  
   Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
 

21. Severability. In the event that any term or clause of this Agreement conflicts with 
applicable law, such conflict shall not affect other terms of this Agreement which can be given effect 
without the conflicting term or clause, and to this end, the terms of this Agreement are declared to 
be severable.  

22. Recording. This Agreement shall be recorded at the Owner’s expense and shall be a 
covenant running with the land and shall be binding on the assigns, heirs, and successors of the 
Owner.  

23. Applicable Law, Resolution of Disputes, and Attorneys’ Fees.  Jurisdiction of any 
resulting litigation shall be filed in Kitsap County Superior Court, Kitsap County, Washington. This 
Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Washington. The non-prevailing Party in any action brought to enforce this Agreement shall pay the 
other Parties' expenses and reasonable attorney's fees. 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and 
year first above written.  

CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 
 
 

 PROPERTY OWNERS 

Robert Putaansuu, Mayor   By:  

  Its:  
    
Nick Bond, Director  By:  
Dept. of Community Development  Its:  
    

 

_______________________________ 
Noah Crocker 
Finance Director  
 
Attest:  
 

Page 170 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
Page 9 
91752136.2 - 366922 -0021 

 
_______________________________ 
Brandy Wallace, CMC, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to Form:  
 
 
_______________________________ 
Charlotte A. Archer, City Attorney 
 

 

  

Page 171 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
Page 10 
101752136.2 - 366922 -0021 

 NOTARY BLOCK FOR 2012 SEDGWICK, LLC 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
)  ss. 

COUNTY OF    ) 
 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that      is the person 
who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that (he/she) signed this instrument, 
on oath stated that (he/she) was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as 
the     of 2102 Sedgwick, LLC to be the free and voluntary act of such party for 
the uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 
 

Dated:      20  
 
       
 
       

(print or type name) 
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the  
State of Washington, residing at:  

        
 

My Commission expires:  
  

Page 172 of 208



 

Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemption Agreement 
2102 Sedgwick, LLC 
Page 11 
111752136.2 - 366922 -0021 

 
NOTARY BLOCK FOR CITY OF PORT ORCHARD 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 

)  ss. 
COUNTY OF KITSAP  ) 
 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that  Robert Putaansuu is the person 
who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that (he/she) signed this instrument, 
on oath stated that he was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as the  
Mayor of Port Orchard   to be the free and voluntary act of such party for the uses and purposes 
mentioned in the instrument. 
 

Dated:     20  
  
       
 
       

(print or type name) 
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the  
State of Washington, residing at: 

          

My Commission expires:   
 
 

Page 173 of 208



SE Sedgw
ick R

d.
330.73'

11'
91.67'

76.18'
140.75'

11.14'

154.41'

1 BED+

STUDIO

2 BED

1 BED

STUDIO
1 BED

2 BED1 BED+

STUDIO

3 BED

1 BED

STUDIO

1 BED

3 BED1 BED+

1 BED+

1 BED+

1 BED

1 BED

2 BED

2 BED

STUDIO

STUDIO

5'64'5'
62.38'

30'
62.38'

5'64'
22.13'

11.16'

11'

10.7'

11'

10'

24'

24' TYP. U.N
.O

.

20'

20'

Courtyard A
Common

Open Space
4300 SF

SITE PLAN
1" = 30'

MAXIMUM COMPACT SPACES ALLOWED = 40% OF TOTAL
111/283 = 39.2%

ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING REQUIREMENTS: 10% INSTALLED, 20% FOR EXPANSION
PROPOSED: 30 STALLS INSTALLED (10%)

40 STALLS FOR EXPANSION (20%)

REQUIRED BIKE PARKING:
24 STALLS FOR RESIDENTIAL USE
36 ADDITIONAL STALLS TO SUBSTITUTE FOR UP TO 6 REQUIRED PARKING STALLS NOT
PROVIDED
TOTAL = 60 STALLS
(SEE BUILDING PLANS AND SITE PLAN FOR BIKE STALL LOCATIONS)

SITE INFORMATION:

ADDRESS: 2102 SE SEDGWICK RD.
PORT ORCHARD, WA 98366

PARCEL NUMBER: 1223012094-2007

SITE AREA = 5.70 ACRES (+/-248,292 SF)

ZONING: CMU

SETBACKS:
PRIMARY ST: 0' MIN./10' MAX.
SIDE INTERIOR: 0' MIN.
REAR: 20' MIN.

BUILD-TO ZONE: PRIMARY STREET: 70% MIN.
(SEE CALCULATION THIS SHEET)

BUILDING HEIGHT: 3.5 STORIES/40'

MAX. HARDSCAPE: 80%

'OTHER BLOCK FRONTAGE STANDARDS'
(20.127.210)
10' MIN. SETBACK
10% GLAZING REQUIREMENT
(SEE BUILDING ELEVATION SHEETS FOR
COMPLIANCE)

'SPECIAL RESIDENTIAL FRONTAGE STANDARDS
ALONG SIDEWALKS AND INTERNAL WALKWAYS'
(20.127.230)
OPTION 2 - LANDSCAPED 10' SETBACK FROM
SIDEWALK
(SEE SITE PLAN DIMENSIONS FOR COMPLIANCE)

10' SETBACK

20' REAR BSBL

GATED ACCESS POINT
TO COUNTY STORM

RETENTION POND

BUILD-TO CALCULATION:
70% STRUCTURE FRONTAGE
REQUIREMENT AT PRIMARY ST.

LOT FRONTAGE = 330.7'
70% = 231.5'

STRUCTURE FRONTAGE =
91.67' + 140.75' = 232.42'

10' LANDSCAPE BUFFER AT PARKING

10' LANDSCAPE BUFFER AT PARKING

12'

Bldg. BBldg. CBldg. D

Bldg. A

Clubhouse

25' RADIUS,
TYP.

PARKING SUMMARY

Parking Stalls Required 288

Standard Stalls 74 192 Total Units

Compact Stalls 93

Parallel Stalls 0

Carport Stalls 102

Attached Garage Stalls 0

Detached Garage Stalls 0

Accessible Standard Stalls 9

Accessible Van Stalls 3

Accessible Parallel Stalls 0

Accessible Carport Stalls 2

Accessible Garage Stalls 0

Tandem Stalls 0

Tandem Garage Stalls 0

Subtotal 283 1.47 Stalls / D.U.

Aprons 0

Total Parking Stalls Provided 283 1.47 Stalls / D.U.

C C C CCC C C

12'61.96'
20.07'

C
C C C C C C C C

C

C
C C C C C

C
C C

C

1 BED+

1 BED+

STUDIO

STUDIO

1 BED+

3 BED

1 BED

1 BED

3 BED

9' TYP.

20' TYP.

8' TYP.

16' TYP.

11
'

20'

SITE STATISTICS:

TOTAL UNITS = 192 UNITS

UNIT COUNT:
55 STUDIO (28%)
48 1 BED (25%)
47 1 BED+ (25%)
30 2 BED (12%)
12 3 BED (6%)

PARKING REQUIREMENTS (STALLS PER UNIT):
STUDIO = 1.25 68.75
1 BED = 1.5 142.5
2 BED = 1.75 52.5
3 BED = 2 24
TOTAL 287.75 = 288 STALLS
PARKING PROVIDED - SEE CHART TO RIGHT

OPEN SPACE REQUIREMENTS:
100 SF PER STUDIO/1-BED UNITS
150 SF PER 2+ BED UNITS

STUDIO = 55 5,500SF
1 BED = 95 9,500SF
2 BED = 30 4,500SF
3 BED = 12 1,800SF
TOTAL 21,300SF

PROVIDED:
COURTYARD A = 4300SF
COURTYARD B = 8200SF
COURTYARD C= 1700SF
CLUB/AMENITY = 7300SF
TOTAL = 21,500SF

1 BED

1 BED

STUDIO

STUDIO

STUDIO

C C

C CC C
C C CC C C CC C CC C C C CC C C CC C CC C C C CC C

CC C C CC C C C C CC CC C C CC C

Courtyard B
Common

Open Space
8200 SF

Bldg. J

C

Clubhouse/
Amenity

7300 SF

1 BED+
1 BED+

1 BED+
1 BED+

2 BED
2 BED

2 BED
2 BED

STUDIOSTUDIO

STUDIOSTUDIO

1 BED 1 BED

1 BED 1 BED

2 BED

1 BED+

1 BED

1 BED

STUDIO

STUDIO

Courtyard C
Common

Open Space
1700 SF

10'

10
'

10
'

10
'

11
'

16
.18

'

17.13'

17.13'

10
'

10'

11
.6

3'

11
.6

3'

64' 22.13'

22
.9

4'

10
'

10
'

CC C C CC C C C

C CC CC C C CC C
C C C

8.
35

'

42.38'

5'

11.63'

11.63'
12.5'

CC C

C

C

C

131.41'

HOSE PULL
LENGTH = 149.5'

HOSE PULL
LENGTH = 139'

VA
N

VA
N

VAN

14.13' 15' 12.42'

47
.5

'

61.96' 10.18'

1 BED+

Bldg.
Type IV

Bldg.
Type I-B

Bldg.
Type II

Bldg.
Type II-B

Bldg.
Type III

Bldg.
Type II
Bldg. E

Bldg.
Type II
Bldg. H

Bldg.
Type V

Bldg. G

Bldg. F

Bldg.
Type I

1 BED+

2 BED

16' 16.38'

11"

13.25'
14.13'

14.13'

12.5'
11.63'

13.25'

13.25'

11.63'

13.25'

13
.2

5'

11
.6

3'13
.2

5'

13
.2

5'11
.6

3'

13
.2

5'

11.63'

11.63'

13.63'

12'

13.63'

10'

12'

12'

6.
39

'

6'

7'

34
'

37
.5

2'

1.86'

1.8'

1.71'

1.97'

1.88'

1.76'

1.68'

5'
9'

*18 OF 102
COMPACT STALLS

BIKE
5-STALL

BIKE
5-STALL

BIKE
5-STALL

BIKE
5-STALL

BIKE
3-STALL

BIKE
3-STALL

FUTUREFUTURE
FUTUREFUTUREFUTUREFUTURE

FUTUREFUTURE
FUTUREFUTURE

FU
TU

RE
FU

TU
RE

FUTUREFUTUREFUTUREFUTUREFUTUREFUTURE

FU
TU

RE
FU

TU
RE

FU
TU

RE

FU
TU

RE

FU
TU

RE
FU

TU
RE

FU
TU

RE
FU

TU
RE

FUTURE

INSTALLED EV STALL

FUTURE EXPANSION EV STALL

Bldg.
Type V

Bldg. G

MAIL

M
AIL

*INCLUDING (2) EV
STALLS

21-35

Drawn By:

Date:

Job No.: Sheet No.:

Sedgwick Apartments
City of Port Orchard, WA

The Rush
Companies

25 Central Way, Suite 210  Kirkland, WA 98033  ●  425.454.7130  ●  WWW.MILBRANDTARCH.COM

S1Site Plan AJC

5-6-22

PW22-032, PW22-033, PW22-034

Page 174 of 208

mritzman
Counter Complete



BUILDING A FIRST LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE IV

Unit
B2-B

Unit
B11-A

Unit
A11-A

Unit
A21-B

Unit
A22-B

Unit
B13-B

A
E7

29
'-1

11
2"

32
'-0

"

63
'-1

11
2"

27'-11" 26'-41
2" 114" 37'-31

4"

91'-8"

1'-5" 18'-71
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 12'-8" 6'-21

2"

91'-8"

TYPE 'A'

TYPE 'A'

19
D3

9
D2

6
D1

4
D3

9
D2

19
D3

4
D3

11
D3

8
D3

9
D2

19
D3

PF
E

PF
E

16
D4

FI
RE

 R
IS

ER
 R

O
O

M

20
D3

4
D3 SIM.

7
D3
TYP. 9

D2

19
D3

B
E7

STAIR 1 STAIR 3

6
D1

2
D1

2'-
0"

8
D3

20
D5

SIM.

101

102

103 106

105

104

A
E7

B
E7

Unit B2 Unit B11

Unit A21 Unit A21Unit A22

Unit B13

BUILDING A SECOND LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE IV

29
'-1

11
2"

32
'-0

"

61
'-1

11
2"

27'-11" 26'-41
2" 114" 37'-31

4"

91'-8"

1'-5" 18'-71
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 12'-8" 6'-21

2"

91'-8"

B
E6

19
D3

2
D3

6
D14

D3

19
D3

2
D3

4
D3

11
D3

8
D3

19
D3

2
D3

16
D4

20
D3

4
D3 SIM.

7
D3
TYP. 19

D3

2
D3

STAIR 1 STAIR 3

2
D1

6
D1

PF
E

PF
E

8
D3

SIM.
201

202 203 206

205

204

A
E7

B
E7

Unit B2 Unit B11

Unit A21 Unit A21Unit A22

Unit B13

BUILDING A THIRD LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE IV

A
E6

29
'-1

11
2"

32
'-0

"

61
'-1

11
2"

27'-11" 26'-41
2" 114" 37'-31

4"

91'-8"

1'-5" 18'-71
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 12'-8" 6'-21

2"

91'-8"

B
E6

19
D3

2
D3

6
D14

D3

19
D3

2
D3

4
D3

11
D3

8
D3

19
D3

2
D3

16
D4

20
D3

4
D3 SIM.

7
D3
TYP. 19

D3

2
D3

STAIR 1 STAIR 3
2
D1

6
D1

PF
E

PF
E

8
D3

SIM.

301

302 303 306

305

304

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B12

B
ui

ld
in

g 
A

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 175 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-590



BUILDING B FIRST LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE I-B

Unit
A11-A

Unit
A21-B

Unit
E-B
ALT

Unit
E-A
ALT

Unit
B12-B

Unit
B11-B

TYPE 'A'

Unit
D-A
ALT

Unit
D-B
ALT

TYPE 'A'

TYPE 'A'

140'-9"
61

'-7
1 2"

44'-0"26'-41
2"26'-41

2"44'-0"
30

'-0
"

30
'-0

"
1'-

71
2"

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

A
E2

10
D2

2
D3

19
D3

6
D1

1
D1

1
D2

TYP.

B
E2

9
D2

9
D2

19
D3

4
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

4
D3

4
D3

8
D3

19
D3

19
D3

11
D3

9
D2

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3
TYP.

TYP.

20
D5

16
D4

4
D3 SIM.

PF
E

PF
E

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

4
D3

6
D1

4
D3

20
D3

9
D2

TYP.

101

102

103 106
107

108

105

104

A
E2

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit B12Unit B11Unit D Unit D

BUILDING B SECOND LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE I-B

140'-9"

61
'-7

1 2"

44'-0"

30
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

26'-41
2"26'-41

2"44'-0"

B
E2

3
D3

2
D3

2
D3

6
D1

6
D1

1
D1

1
D3

TYP.

2
D3

19
D3

4
D3

19
D3

2
D3

4
D3

4
D3

8
D3

19
D3

19
D3

4
D3

4
D3

11
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3
TYP.

20
D3
TYP.

4
D3 SIM.

TYP.

16
D4

PF
E

PF
E

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

201

202

203 206
207

208

205

204

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B3

B
ui

ld
in

g 
B

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns
En

ha
nc

ed
 E

le
va

tio
n 

at
 S

ed
gw

ic
k 

R
d.

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 176 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-591



A
E2
A
E2

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit B12Unit B11Unit D Unit D

BUILDING B THIRD LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE I-B

140'-9"

60
'-0

"

44'-0"

30
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

26'-41
2"26'-41

2"44'-0"

B
E2

3
D3

2
D3

2
D3

6
D1

6
D1

1
D1

1
D3

TYP.

2
D3

19
D3

4
D3

19
D3

2
D3

4
D3

4
D3

8
D3

19
D3

19
D3

4
D3

4
D3

11
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3
TYP.

20
D3
TYP.

4
D3 SIM.

TYP.

16
D4

PF
E

PF
E

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

301

302

303 306
307

308

305

304

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B4

B
ui

ld
in

g 
B

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns
En

ha
nc

ed
 E

le
va

tio
n 

at
 S

ed
gw

ic
k 

R
d.

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 177 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-591



A
E3

B
E5

BUILDING C FIRST LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II

Unit
A21-B

Unit
A11-A

Unit
E-B

Unit
E-B

Unit C-B
ALT

Unit
B11-A

Unit
B12-B Unit C-B

ALT

TYPE 'A'
BUILDING C

TYPE 'A'
BUILDING C

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

1'-
71

2"
4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41

2" 26'-41
2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

135'-3"

6
D1

6
D1

1
D1

TYP.

1
D2

PFE

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

9
D2

19
D3

11
D3

8
D3

20
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

7
D3
TYP.

16
D4

4
D3 SIM.

PFE

4
D3 4

D3

4
D3

4
D3

8
D3

8
D3

SIM.

12
D3
TYP.

101

102

103
106

107

108105

104

A
E3

B
E5

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit C Unit B11Unit B12 Unit C

BUILDING C SECOND LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

1'-
71 2"

4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41
2" 26'-41

2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

135'-3"

1
D1

TYP.

1
D2

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

6
D1

2
D3

19
D3

8
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3

TYP.

11
D3

4
D3

6
D1

4
D3

4
D3 SIM.

16
D4

PFEPFE

4
D3 4

D3

8
D3

8
D3

201

202

203 206

207

208205204

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B5

B
ui

ld
in

g 
C

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 178 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-592



A
E3

B
E5

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit C Unit B11Unit B12 Unit C

BUILDING C THIRD LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

60
'-9

"

4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41
2" 26'-41

2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

A
E3

135'-3"

B
E3

1
D1

TYP.

1
D2

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

6
D1

2
D3

19
D3

8
D3

20
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3

TYP.

11
D3

4
D3

6
D1

4
D3

4
D3 SIM.

16
D4

PFEPFE

4
D3 4

D3

8
D3

8
D3

301

302

303 306

307

308305304

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B6

B
ui

ld
in

g 
C

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 179 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-592



A
E5

B
E5

Unit
A21-B

Unit
A21-B

Unit
E-B

Unit
E-A

BUILDING D BASEMENT LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II-B

TYPE 'A'

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

1'-
71

2"

135'-3"

30
'-8

1 2"
30

'-0
1 2"

62
'-4

1 2"

135'-3"

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

PF
E

PF
E

8
D1

19
D2

2
D7

2
D7

20
D5

2
D7

2
D7

20
D5

8
D1

19
D2

16
D4

4
D3 SIM.

PREFAB
WINDOW
WELL AS
NEEDED

PREFAB
WINDOW
WELL AS
NEEDED

8
D1

19
D2

101 108

105104

3
D7

3
D7

1 1

A
E5

B
E5

BUILDING D FIRST LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II-B

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit C-B Unit
B11-B

Unit
B12-B

Unit C-B

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

1'-
71

2"

4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41
2" 26'-41

2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

135'-3"

1
D1

TYP.

1
D2

2
D7

9
D2

19
D3

8
D3

20
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

4
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3

TYP.

SIM.

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

16
D4

2
D3

19
D3

PFEPFE
4

D3
4

D3

SIM.

4
D3 4

D3

12
D7

2
D7

11
D3

201

202

203 206

207

208205204

12
D7

11

81 2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

81 2"

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B9

B
ui

ld
in

g 
D

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 180 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-686



A
E5

B
E5

BUILDING D THIRD LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II-B

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit C Unit B11Unit B12 Unit C

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

1'-
71

2"
4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41

2" 26'-41
2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

135'-3"

1
D1

TYP.

1
D3

2
D7

2
D3

19
D3

8
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3

TYP.

11
D3

4
D3

2
D7

4
D3

20
D3

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

4
D3 SIM.

16
D4

4
D3 4

D3

PFEPFE

401

402

403 406

407

408405404

12
D7

12
D7

11

81 2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

1'-
71 2"

81 2"

A
E5

B
E5

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit C Unit B11Unit B12 Unit C

BUILDING D SECOND LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II-B

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

1'-
71

2"

4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41
2" 26'-41

2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

135'-3"

1
D1

TYP.

1
D3

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

2
D7

2
D3

19
D3

8
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3

TYP.

11
D3

4
D3

2
D7

4
D3

20
D3

4
D3 SIM.

16
D4

4
D3 4

D3

PFEPFE

SIM.

301

302

303 306

307

308305304

12
D7

12
D7

11

81 2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

1'-
71

2"

81 2"

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B10

B
ui

ld
in

g 
D

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 181 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-686



A
E3

B
E5

BUILDING C

Unit
A21-B

Unit
A11-A

Unit
E-B

Unit
E-B

Unit C-B
ALT

Unit
B11-A

Unit
B12-B Unit C-B

ALT

TYPE 'A'
BUILDING C

TYPE 'A'
BUILDING C

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

1'-
71

2"
4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41

2" 26'-41
2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

135'-3"

6
D1

6
D1

1
D1

TYP.

1
D2

PFE

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

9
D2

19
D3

11
D3

8
D3

20
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

7
D3
TYP.

16
D4

4
D3 SIM.

PFE

4
D3 4

D3

4
D3

4
D3

8
D3

8
D3

SIM.

12
D3
TYP.

101

102

103
106

107

108105

104

A
E3

B
E5

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit C Unit B11Unit B12 Unit C

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

1'-
71 2"

4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41
2" 26'-41

2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

135'-3"

1
D1

TYP.

1
D2

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

6
D1

2
D3

19
D3

8
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3

TYP.

11
D3

4
D3

6
D1

4
D3

4
D3 SIM.

16
D4

PFEPFE

4
D3 4

D3

8
D3

8
D3

201

202

203 206

207

208205204

BUILDING E SECOND LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II

BUILDING E FIRST LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B5

B
ui

ld
in

g 
E

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 182 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-593



A
E3

B
E5

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit C Unit B11Unit B12 Unit C

BUILDING C

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

60
'-9

"

4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41
2" 26'-41

2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

A
E3

135'-3"

B
E3

1
D1

TYP.

1
D2

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

6
D1

2
D3

19
D3

8
D3

20
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3

TYP.

11
D3

4
D3

6
D1

4
D3

4
D3 SIM.

16
D4

PFEPFE

4
D3 4

D3

8
D3

8
D3

301

302

303 306

307

308305304

BUILDING E THIRD LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B6

B
ui

ld
in

g 
E

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 183 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-593



BUILDING F FIRST LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE I

Unit
A21-B

Unit
A21-B

Unit
E-B
ALT

Unit
E-B
ALT

Unit
B12-B

Unit
B11-B

Unit
D-B
ALT

140'-9"

61
'-7

1 2"

44'-0"26'-41
2"26'-41

2"44'-0"

30
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

1'-
71

2"

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

A
E1

B
E1

9
D2

9
D2

19
D3

6
D1

1
D1

1
D2

TYP.

4
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

4
D3

4
D3

8
D3

19
D3

19
D3

11
D3

9
D2

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3
TYP.

20
D3
TYP.

20
D5

16
D4

4
D3 SIM.

RI
SE

R 
RO

O
M

PF
E

PF
E

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

4
D3

4
D3

6
D1

Unit
D-B
ALT

4
D3

SIM.

101

102

103 106

107

108

105104

A
E1

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit B12Unit B11Unit D Unit D

BUILDING F SECOND LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE I

140'-9"

61
'-7

1 2"

44'-0"26'-41
2"26'-41

2"44'-0"

30
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

B
E1

3
D3

2
D3

2
D3

6
D1

6
D1

1
D1

1
D3

TYP.

2
D3

19
D3

4
D3

19
D3

2
D3

4
D3

4
D3

8
D3

19
D3

19
D3

4
D3

4
D3

11
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3
TYP.

20
D3
TYP.

4
D3 SIM.

TYP.

16
D4

PF
E

PF
E

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

201

202

203 206

207

208

205204

B1

B
ui

ld
in

g 
F

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

Page 184 of 208

lstone
Text Box
22-594

lstone
Revised

lstone
Received



A
E1
A
E1

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit B12Unit B11Unit D Unit D

BUILDING F THIRD LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE I

140'-9"

60
'-0

"

44'-0"26'-41
2"26'-41

2"44'-0"

30
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

B
E1

3
D3

2
D3

2
D3

6
D1

6
D1

1
D1

1
D3

TYP.

2
D3

19
D3

4
D3

19
D3

2
D3

4
D3

4
D3

8
D3

19
D3

19
D3

4
D3

4
D3

11
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3
TYP.

20
D3
TYP.

4
D3 SIM.

TYP.

16
D4

PF
E

PF
E

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

301

302

303 306

307

308

305304

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B2

B
ui

ld
in

g 
F

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 185 of 208

lstone
Text Box
22-594

lstone
Revised

lstone
Received



A
E7

BUILDING G FIRST LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE V

Unit
C-B ALT

Unit C-A
ALT

Unit
E-B

Unit
E-A

82'-6"

26
'-0

"

TYPE 'A'

TYPE 'A'

4'-1"37'-2"37'-2"4'-1"

30
'-0

"

62
'-4

1 2"

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

82'-6"

1'-
71

2"
4'

-9
"

STAIR 1

PF
E

6
D1

4
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

12
D3

TYP.

16
D4

20
D3

7
D3
TYP.

1
D1

TYP.

1
D2

B
E7

4
D3

8
D3

8
D3

101

102

103

104

A
E7

BUILDING G SECOND LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE V

Unit C Unit C

Unit E Unit E

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

82'-6"

26
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

62
'-4

1 2"

4'
-9

"

82'-6"

37'-2"37'-2"4'-1"

B
E7

STAIR 1

6
D1

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

12
D3

TYP.

20
D3

7
D3
TYP.

4
D3

PF
E

4
D3

201

202

203

204

A
E7

BUILDING G THIRD LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE V

Unit C Unit C

Unit E Unit E

A
E7

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

82'-6"

26
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

60
'-9

"

4'
-9

"

82'-6"

37'-2"37'-2"4'-1"

B
E7

STAIR 1

6
D1

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

12
D3

TYP.

20
D3

7
D3
TYP.

4
D3

8
D3

PF
E

4
D3

301

302

303

304

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B13

B
ui

ld
in

g 
G

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 186 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-687



A
E3

B
E3

BUILDING H FIRST LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II-A

Unit
A21-B

Unit
A21-B

Unit
E-B

Unit
E-B

Unit C-B
ALT

Unit
B11-B

Unit
B12-B

Unit C-B
ALT

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

1'-
71

2"
4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41

2" 26'-41
2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

135'-3"

6
D1

1
D1

TYP.

1
D2

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

9
D2

19
D3

11
D3

8
D3

20
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

9
D2

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3
TYP.

16
D4

4
D3 SIM.

PFEPFE

4
D3 4

D3

4
D3

4
D3

8
D3

8
D3

6
D1

SIM.

101

102

103 106

107

108

105104

A
E3

B
E3

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit C Unit B11Unit B12 Unit C

BUILDING H SECOND LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II-A

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

62
'-4

1 2"

1'-
71 2"

4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41
2" 26'-41

2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

135'-3"

1
D1

TYP.

1
D2

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

6
D1

2
D3

19
D3

8
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3

TYP.

11
D3

4
D3

6
D1

4
D3

4
D3 SIM.

16
D4

PFEPFE

4
D3 4

D3

8
D3

SIM.
20
D3

8
D3

201

202

203 206

207

208205204

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B7

B
ui

ld
in

g 
H

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 187 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-688



A
E3

B
E3

Unit A21 Unit A21 Unit EUnit E

Unit C Unit B11Unit B12 Unit C

BUILDING H THIRD LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE II-A

33'-41
2" 15'-9" 18'-6" 18'-6" 15'-9" 33'-41

2"

30
'-0

"
30

'-9
"

60
'-9

"

4'-1" 37'-2" 26'-41
2" 26'-41

2" 37'-2" 4'-1"

135'-3"

A
E3

135'-3"

1
D1

TYP.

1
D2

STAIR 1 STAIR 1

6
D1

2
D3

19
D3

8
D3

20
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

2
D3

19
D3

12
D3

TYP.

7
D3

TYP.

11
D3

4
D3

6
D1

4
D3

4
D3 SIM.

16
D4

PFEPFE

4
D3 4

D3

8
D3

8
D3

SIM.

301

302

303 306

307

308305304

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B8

B
ui

ld
in

g 
H

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

Page 188 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-688



A
E6

B
E6

Unit
A22-B

BUILDING J BASEMENT LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE III

18'-71
2" 15'-9" 18'-71

2"

53'-0"

32
'-8

1 2"

53'-0"

8
D1

19
D2

2
D7

2
D7

20
D5

PF
E Unit

A22-B

STAIR 2

101 104

BUILDING J FIRST LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE III

Unit B2-B Unit B2-B

Unit A22 Unit A22

A
E6

18'-71
2" 15'-9" 18'-71

2"

55'-10"

1'-5" 1'-5"

32
'-0

"
28

'-1
11

2"

60
'-1

11
2"

27'-11" 27'-11"

55'-10"

B
E6

19
D3

19
D3

20
D3

2
D7

3
D34

D3

8
D3

8
D3

7
D3 TYP.

4
D3

PF
E

STAIR 2

SIM.

201

202 203

204

A
E6

B
E6

Unit B2 Unit B2

Unit A22 Unit A22

BUILDING J THIRD LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE III

A
E5

18'-71
2" 15'-9" 18'-71

2"

55'-10"

1'-5" 1'-5"

32
'-0

"
28

'-1
11

2"

60
'-1

11
2"

27'-11" 27'-11"

55'-10"

B
E5

2
D3

2
D3

2
D3

20
D3

2
D7

3
D34

D3

8
D3

8
D3

19
D3

19
D3

4
D3

19
D3

PF
E

STAIR 2

7
D3

TYP.
TYP.

401

402 403

404

A
E6

B
E6

Unit B2 Unit B2

Unit A22 Unit A22

BUILDING J SECOND LEVEL PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0" BUILDING TYPE III

18'-71
2" 15'-9" 18'-71

2"

55'-10"

1'-5" 1'-5"

32
'-0

"
28

'-1
11

2"

60
'-1

11
2"

27'-11" 27'-11"

55'-10"

2
D3

2
D3

2
D3

20
D3

2
D7

3
D34

D3

8
D3

8
D3

19
D3

19
D3

4
D3

19
D3

PF
E

STAIR 2

TYP.
7

D3

TYP.

301

302 303

304EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/UNIT SEPARATION, SEE DETAIL 19/D3

PFE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHER (CLASS 3A:10B:C
- U.N.O.), MAXIMUM TRAVEL DISTANCE TO
EXTINGUISHER TO BE 75'. SEE DETAIL 20/D1

L E G E N D

EXTENT OF 1-HR FIRE PARTITION
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 6/D1

EXTENT OF 2-HR SHAFT WALL
UNIT/STAIR SEPARATION, SEE
DETAIL 2/D7

9-29-22

Sheet No.:

Drawn By:

6-24-22Initial Publish Date:

Date Plotted:

21-35
Job No.:

DescriptionDate
Revisions

2102
Sedgwick

Apartments
Port Orchard,

WA

The Rush
Companies

No.

25 Central Way,     Suite 210
Kirkland, Washington    98033
P: 425.454.7130     F: 425.658.1208
Web:   www.milbrandtarch.com

©
Milbrandt Architects, INC., P.S.

All rights reserved

Copyright 2022

B11

B
ui

ld
in

g 
J

Fl
oo

r P
la

ns

AJC/RK

Page 189 of 208

lstone
Received

lstone
Revised

lstone
Text Box
22-595



 
City of Port Orchard 
216 Prospect Street, Port Orchard, WA 98366 
(360) 876-4407 • FAX (360) 895-9029 
            

 
Agenda Staff Report 

 
Agenda Item No.: Business Item 7E Meeting Date: January 24, 2023 

Subject: Adoption of a Resolution Authorizing the Prepared by: Tony Lang, PW Director 
 Payment of Additional Relocation Benefits  Charlotte Archer, Atty  
 to Ocean and Arlene Williams (Prior  Atty Routing No.: 366922-0009 - PW 
 Owners of Kitsap County Tax Parcel No. Atty Review Date: N/A 
 4027-023-017-0004) for the Bay Street   
 Pedestrian Pathway Project   

 
Summary: In 2022, the City purchased Kitsap County Tax Parcel No. 4027-023-017-0004 (the “Property”) 
from Ocean and Arlene Williams as a necessary acquisition for the Bay Street Pedestrian Pathway Project.  
Prior to the purchase and in accordance with the City’s Relocation Assistance Program, the Uniform 
Relocation Act, 42 U.S.C. Ch. 61, Chapter 8.26 Revised Code of Washington (RCW), and Chapter 468-100 
Washington Administrative Code (WAC), the City authorized the payment of relocation benefits at the 
recommendation of the City’s Relocation Agent, Tierra Right of Way Services, Ltd., to the Williams in 
accordance with Resolution No. 033-22 (Right-of-Way Acquisition Procedures) and the City’s Relocation 
Assistance Program. By Resolution No. 033-22, the City Council authorized payment of moving benefits in 
the amount of $8,000 and 12-month temporary storage relocation benefits in the amount of $4,440, 
payable in 3-month increments of $1,110. 
 
During the move, the City’s Relocation Agent identified additional personal property that required moving 
that was not disclosed during the initial walk-through of the Property prior to the sale. Tierra recommends, 
and Staff have reviewed and concur, the Council authorize the payment of an additional $3,180 in 
reimbursable moving costs (based on the actual cost of the move, which increased from the original $8,000 
authorized due to the undisclosed additional personal property). Please note: all expenditures associated 
with the Bay Street Pedestrian Pathway Project have been identified within the Project Funding Estimate 
(PFE) and are Grant eligible. 
 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan:  Chapter 8 - Transportation  
 
Recommendation: The City’s Relocation Agent and staff recommend the payment of an additional $3,180 
in moving costs, for a total authorized payment of relocation benefits to Ocean and Arlene Williams of 
$15,620 for the Bay Street Pedestrian Pathway Project, broken down as follows: 
 

1. Previously-approved Initial Relocation Move Payment in the amount of $8,000.00 
2. Previously-approved Moving Storage Benefit in the amount of $4,440.00 
3. Additional Relocation Move Payment of $3,180  

 

Page 190 of 208



Staff Report 7E 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 Motion for Consideration:  I move to adopt a Resolution authorizing the payment of an additional 
 $3,180 in relocation benefits to Ocean and Arlene Williams for the Bay Street Pedestrian Pathway 
 Project, and authorizing the Mayor to execute all necessary documents.  
 
 Fiscal Impact: Grant and Local Match funding for this acquisition expenditure is allocated within the 
 Project Funding Estimate (PFE) for the Project and the 2021-2022 Biennial Budget. 
 
 Alternatives: None 
 
 Attachments: Resolution 

Exhibit A to Resolution - Relocation Assistance Voucher No. 2  
Courtesy copies of eligibility documentation:  
• Attachment 1 – Tierra Memo re Move Estimate-Approved by PW Director 7/13/22 
 

 

Page 191 of 208



RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING 
ADDITIONAL RELOCATION BENEFITS FOR THE PREVIOUS OWNERS OF KITSAP 
COUNTY TAX PARCEL NO. 4027-023-017-0004 FOR THE BAY STREET 
PEDESTRIAN PATHWAY PROJECT, AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE 
ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS TO EFFECTUATE RELOCATION PAYMENTS. 
  
WHEREAS, the City recently acquired Kitsap County Tax Parcel No. 4027-023-017-0004 

(the “Property”) to support the construction of the Bay Street Pedestrian Pathway Project (the 
“Project”); and 

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the City’s Relocation Assistance Program, the Uniform 

Relocation Act, 42 U.S.C. Ch. 61, Chapter 8.26 Revised Code of Washington (RCW), and Chapter 
468-100 Washington Administrative Code (WAC), prior to the purchase the City issued an offer 
and Notice of Relocation Eligibility, Entitlements and 90-Day Assurance-Personal Property Only 
for Relocation Assistance to the then-owners of the Property; and  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the aforementioned authorities and notices issued to the 
owners of the Property, and in conjunction with the Washington State Department of 
Transportation, Local Programs, serving as Contract Administrator for the Project, by Resolution 
in early 2022, and at the recommendation of the City’s consulting Relocation Agent, Tierra Right 
of Way Services, Ltd., the City Council authorized payment of $8,000 for personal property only-
moving expenses and $4,440 in personal property storage costs as eligible relocation expenses 
for the owners of the Property, payable upon the owners’ completed move from the Property; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, in mid 2022, the City Council authorized the purchase of the Property, the 

sale was completed in December 2022; and  
 
WHEREAS, during the moving process, the City’s Relocation Agent was made aware of 

additional personal property that was not previously disclosed and expanded the scope and 
associated cost of the move; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City’s Relocation Agent recommends an additional moving entitlement 

payment of $3,180 for the additional moving expenses, for a total eligible moving expense 
payment of $11,180 (inclusive of monies previously paid); and  

  
WHEREAS, the Port Orchard City Council finds it is in the best interest of the City to 

authorize all relocation payments identified herein, consistent with the City’s Relocation 
Assistance Program and the aforementioned authorities; now, therefore,  
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PORT ORCHARD, WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES 
AS FOLLOWS:   

Page 192 of 208



Resolution No. ___ 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 
THAT: It is the intent of the Port Orchard City Council that the recitals set forth above 

 are hereby adopted and incorporated as findings in support of this Resolution. 
 

THAT: The City Council authorizes a Relocation Payment to Ocean and Arlene Williams 
 in the amount of $3,180.00 for personal property-only moving expenses as identified on 
 Exhibit A hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, pursuant to the Relocation 
 Assistance Program, and authorizes the Mayor to execute all necessary documents to 
 effectuate the payment; and  
 
 PASSED by the City Council of the City of Port Orchard, SIGNED by the Mayor and 
attested by the City Clerk in authentication of such passage on this 24th day of January 2023.   
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Robert Putaansuu, Mayor  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________  
Brandy Wallace, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
   

Page 193 of 208



7/14/2022

Page 194 of 208



Page 195 of 208



Page 196 of 208



Page 197 of 208



Page 198 of 208



1

AWC Public Opinion Survey
Conducted December 2022

Methodology
• 500 interviews

• 2022 “likely” voters 

• December 5-11, 2022

• Margin of error +/- 4.4 percentage points

• Interviews conducted via hybrid telephone, email, and text-to-web

• Anonymous about who was conducting the survey

1

2

Page 199 of 208



2

Demographic profile of respondents 

39%

23%

38%

Large Cities (>50k)

Medium/Small Cities
(<50k)

Unincorporated

49%

51%

Male

Female

City population

Gender Age

18%

18%

16%

24%

24%

18-29

30-39

40-49

50-64

65+

Region

40%

18%

42%

Puget Sound

Eastern WA

Other Western WA

Non-
college

50%

College+
50%

Education

Selected 
priorities for city 
government

• Top five high priorities:

• Public safety

• Homelessness

• Affordable housing

• Jobs & economy

• Broadband 40%

46%

46%

54%

61%

63%

79%

86%

60%

54%

54%

46%

39%

37%

21%

14%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Maintain & add new parks/recreation areas

Improve access to sidewalk, bicycle, & transit

Address climate change & climate resilience

Provide reliable, affordable high-speed internet

More local jobs & economic development

Increase affordable housing supply

Address homelessness

Public safety & crime reduction

Selected priorities ratings

High priority (5-7) Unsure/Not a high priority (1-4)

3

4

Page 200 of 208



3

Public safety comparison - 23 months apart

65%

42%

21%

30%

8%

13%

3%

12%

2%

4%

6.2

5.4

7 - Very high priority 5-6 High 4/(Don't know/refused) 2-3 Low 1 - Very low priority Mean

Improve pubic safety 
& reduce crime

Reduce 
crime

Jan. 
2021

Dec. 
2022

72% 
high 

priority

86% 
high 

priority

Which government should be responsible?

8%

68%

39%

41%

16%

15%

27%

22%

76%

17%

34%

37%

How we decide what
buildings and housing
can be built in what

areas

Our criminal laws and
statutes, that is, what is

legal and illegal

What we can raise taxes
for

How businesses should
be regulated

5-4 - State Legislature 3 - Both 2-1 - Cities

5

6

Page 201 of 208



4

Local government 
decision-making is popular

45%

81%

82%

85%

54%

19%

18%

15%

The state should be able to override laws in my
community.

Local governments are more connected than 
the state government to community needs, and 

can pass laws that reflect the community’s 
values.

Local government is in a better position than
the state to make decisions on pressing

community issues.

When different local governments pass
different laws, it can create a confusing

patchwork of laws.

Agree Disagree

Housing

7

8

Page 202 of 208



5

68% of voters prefer local governments to 
make growth decisions

38%

30%

18%

9%

4%

1%

My local city government

My county government

Washington state government

The Washington State Legislature

The Federal government

Don't know/Refused

Question:
As our population grows, our 
communities will need to have a 
plan to manage that growth to 
try and make housing affordable 
for everyone. Which level of 
government do you think should 
be most responsible for setting 
the rules and guidelines for how 
we manage this growth?

Most residents believe increasing housing 
density will make housing more affordable

41%

57%

Statement A

Statement B

Answered:
It is clear that the housing market won’t create 
more affordable housing on its own. To build 
substantially more housing that is affordable, we 
must increase the money government spends on it.

Answered:
We can make housing more affordable by allowing 
for more housing density throughout our cities with 
townhomes, triplexes, and condos in areas that 
allow for single-family homes. Natural market forces 
will drive down costs.

9

10

Page 203 of 208



6

Residents believe the affordable housing crisis 
is caused by private developers 
rather than overly restrictive zoning

62%

62%

56%

55%

54%

52%

51%

35%

36%

41%

43%

43%

45%

45%

Large cities

Puget Sound

Overall

Medium/small cities

Other Western WA

Unincorporated

Eastern WA

Private developers Restrictive zoning

Higher in Puget Sound 
and large cities

Private developers:
The affordable housing crisis in 
Washington is caused by private 
developers who focus mostly on building 
expensive homes so they can make 
money.

Overly restrictive zoning:
The affordable housing crisis in 
Washington is driven by overly 
restrictive zoning, which has limited the 
supply of housing. 

Response to topics covered by 
AWC Housing Solutions Group proposal

76%

71%

67%

35%

15%

23%

28%

31%

64%

84%

Requiring more housing-like apartments and
condos in our cities next to transit and business

districts

Requiring cities to allow building of mother-in-law
apartments, other ADUs, townhomes, duplexes,

and triplexes in all areas with single-family houses

Changing the law so that the lodging tourist tax
can be used to build workforce housing

Charging a new small tax on the sale of real estate
to fund construction of affordable housing options

Banning single-family zoning in Washington state

Support Oppose

11

12

Page 204 of 208



7

Public safety

Strong voter support for changing the 
vehicular pursuit standard

21%

79%

Statement A

Statement B

Answered:
High speed pursuits are dangerous to the public and 
may have a disparate impact on certain community 
members. Officers should only be able to pursue a 
suspect for serious violent or sexual crimes, and only 
when they have enough evidence to arrest them.

Answered:
While high speed pursuits can be dangerous, the 
new law goes too far and can lead to criminals evading 
the police and creating additional dangers to 
the community. Officers need to be able to pursue a 
fleeing suspect if they have a reasonable suspicion that 
the person they are pursuing has committed a crime 
against a person, if the risks of not apprehending the 
person are greater than the risk of the pursuit.

13

14

Page 205 of 208



8

30%

69%

Answered:
It’s great to offer drug treatment, but 
there should be consequences for those 
who refuse treatment. If people break the 
law and refuse treatment, they should be 
held accountable and be subject to fines 
and jail time.

Answered:
The best way to deal with 
people using drugs is to offer 
them treatment. We can’t 
stop people from using drugs, 
so the best approach is to 
fund drug treatment 
programs so we can prevent 
or end addiction.

Blake decision question
Residents believe there should be legal consequences for 
treatment refusal

Infrastructure

15

16

Page 206 of 208



9

66% of residents are concerned 
about failing city infrastructure

Very 28%

Not at all 8%

Somewhat 38%

Not too 26%

Concerned 
66%

Not concerned
34%

Concerned Not Concerned

How concerned are you about infrastructure failing in your community?

How do you feel your city responds 
to resident needs?

17

18

Page 207 of 208



10

85%

15%

Statement A

Statement B

Answered:
I want my city leaders to treat each other 
with respect and civility, and to work 
together to get positive results for our city 
even if they have political differences.

Answered:
I want my city leaders to fight for what they 
believe in, and to stand up against those 
they disagree with. 

Most residents want their city leaders 
to be civil and work together

Questions?

19

20

Page 208 of 208


	4C 01 Staff Report-Res006-23 Purchases Public Works(Consent Agenda)
	Agenda Staff Report

	4C 02 Res006-23  -Dumptruck_Snow eqp-HD
	4C 03 Exhibit A-ERR_Purchase request w quote replace dump truck #1031
	4C 04 Interlocal-GPO Agreement (piggyback)Checklist- CA approved
	4D 01 SR_C014-23_TIBAward_Overlay_OldClifton-SR16-MW_DR
	City of Port Orchard
	Agenda Staff Report


	4D 02 Res_005-23_TIBAward_Overlay_OldClifton_SR16-MW_DR
	4D 03 PORT ORCHARD 2022 Overlay Award SR 16 to AGENCY OFFICAL LETTER
	4D 04 C014-23_AGMT-FTA - PORT ORCHARD 2022 Overlay Award SR 16 to
	4E 01 2023 - Staff Report - Systems for Public Safety
	Agenda Staff Report

	4E 02 2023 - Resolution - Systems for Public Safety
	4E 03 City of Port Orchard Contract 017-23_000119
	4F 01 Staff Report-Amendment to Hillstrom Lease Agreements-NC
	Agenda Staff Report

	4F 02 Hillstrom Leaases
	4F 03 Contract 131-22 - Hillstrom Holdings
	4F 04 Contract 132-22 - Hillstrom Holdings
	4G 01 20230110 Minutes
	2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA (Time Stamp: 00:50)
	4. CONSENT AGENDA (Time Stamp: 06:06)
	8. DISCUSSION ITEMS (No Action to be Taken)
	15. ADJOURNMENT


	7A 01 Staff Report C005-23-Splash Pad
	Agenda Staff Report

	7A 02 Res001-23-Splashpad
	7A 03 C005-23-CONSOR_Splashpad-ConstSupport
	( TIME AND MATERIALS NOT TO EXCEED.  Compensation for these services shall not exceed $57,475 without written authorization and will be based on the list of billing rates and reimbursable expenses attached hereto as Exhibit “B.”
	( TIME AND MATERIALS.  Compensation for these services shall be on a time and materials basis according to the list of billing rates and reimbursable expenses attached hereto as Exhibit “B.”
	( OTHER_____________________________________________________________
	11. City’s Right of Inspection and Audit.
	12. Work Performed at the Consultant's Risk.
	The Consultant shall take all precautions necessary and shall be responsible for the safety of its employees, agents, and sub-consultants in the performance of the work hereunder and shall utilize all protection necessary for that purpose.  All work s...
	EXHIBIT B


	7B 01 -  Blueberry Apartments MFTE SR
	Agenda Staff Report

	7B 02 - 1752135v2_03 - Resolution and Agreement MFTE -Blueberry Apartments - JSR Markup 12-27-22
	7B 03 Exhibit A
	Plans_22-674 18
	Plans_22-674 6

	7C 01 -  Salmonberry Apartments MFTE SR
	Agenda Staff Report

	7C 02 -1752137v3_03 - Resolution and Agreement MFTE -Salmonberry Apartments - JSR Markup 1-4-23
	7C 03 Exhibit A Salmonberry
	Plans_Architecture_22-980 5

	7D 01 -  Sedgwick Apartments MFTE SR
	Agenda Staff Report

	7D 02 - Resolution and Agreement MFTE -Sedgwick Apartments
	7D 03 Exhibit A - Plans Sedgwick
	7E 01 Staff Report-Williams Additional Move Payment 1.20.2023
	Agenda Staff Report

	7E 02 RES - Williams Relocation for Additional Moving 1.20.2023
	7E 03 Ex. A to Resolution - 01.20.2023 - Voucher 2
	7E 04 01.20.2023 - Tierra Memo
	8A 01 AWC Public Opinion Survey
	Slide 1: AWC Public Opinion Survey
	Slide 2: Methodology
	Slide 3: Demographic profile of respondents 
	Slide 4: Selected priorities for city government
	Slide 5: Public safety comparison - 23 months apart
	Slide 6: Which government should be responsible?
	Slide 7: Local government  decision-making is popular
	Slide 8: Housing
	Slide 9: 68% of voters prefer local governments to make growth decisions
	Slide 10: Most residents believe increasing housing density will make housing more affordable
	Slide 11: Residents believe the affordable housing crisis  is caused by private developers  rather than overly restrictive zoning
	Slide 12
	Slide 13: Public safety
	Slide 14: Strong voter support for changing the vehicular pursuit standard
	Slide 15
	Slide 16: Infrastructure
	Slide 17: 66% of residents are concerned  about failing city infrastructure
	Slide 18
	Slide 19
	Slide 20: Questions?

	agenda.pdf
	...
	Mayor:
	Mark Trenary (Mayor Pro-Tempore)
	E/D & Tourism Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee
	Transportation Committee
	KRCC-alt
	Shawn Cucciardi
	Finance Committee
	E/D & Tourism Committee
	Lodging Tax, Chair
	Fred Chang
	Economic Development & Tourism Committee
	Land Use Committee
	Transportation Committee
	Jay Rosapepe
	Finance Committee,
	KRCC, PSRC-alt, PSRC Transpol-alt, KRCC Transpol-alt, KRCC Planpol-alt,
	John Clauson
	Finance Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee
	Kitsap Public Health District-alt
	Cindy Lucarelli
	Festival of Chimes & Lights Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee, Chair
	Kitsap Economic Development Alliance
	Scott Diener
	Land Use Committee, Chair
	Transportation Committee
	Department Directors:
	Nicholas Bond, AICP
	Development Director
	Tony Lang
	Public Works Director
	Tim Drury
	Municipal Court Judge
	Noah Crocker, M.B.A.
	Finance Director
	Matt Brown
	Police Chief
	Brandy Wallace, MMC, CPRO
	City Clerk
	Meeting Location:
	Contact us:

	ADP45FA.tmp
	Agenda Staff Report

	agenda.pdf
	...
	Mayor:
	Mark Trenary (Mayor Pro-Tempore)
	E/D & Tourism Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee
	Transportation Committee
	KRCC-alt
	Shawn Cucciardi
	Finance Committee
	E/D & Tourism Committee
	Lodging Tax, Chair
	Fred Chang
	Economic Development & Tourism Committee
	Land Use Committee
	Transportation Committee
	Jay Rosapepe
	Finance Committee,
	KRCC, PSRC-alt, PSRC Transpol-alt, KRCC Transpol-alt, KRCC Planpol-alt,
	John Clauson
	Finance Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee
	Kitsap Public Health District-alt
	Cindy Lucarelli
	Festival of Chimes & Lights Committee, Chair
	Utilities/Sewer Advisory Committee, Chair
	Kitsap Economic Development Alliance
	Scott Diener
	Land Use Committee, Chair
	Transportation Committee
	Department Directors:
	Nicholas Bond, AICP
	Development Director
	Tony Lang
	Public Works Director
	Tim Drury
	Municipal Court Judge
	Noah Crocker, M.B.A.
	Finance Director
	Matt Brown
	Police Chief
	Brandy Wallace, MMC, CPRO
	City Clerk
	Meeting Location:
	Contact us:


	Button1: 


